

AD-A219 783

DTIC FILE COPY TECHNICAL REPORT GL-79-19

TUNNEL DESIGN BY ROCK MASS CLASSIFICATIONS

by

Z. T. Bieniawski

Pennsylvania State University Department of Mineral Engineering University Park, Pennsylvania 16802



January 1990 Update of Technical Report GL-79-19

Approved For Public Release, Distribution Unlimited

Prepared for DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY US Army Corps of Engineers Washington, DC 20314-1000

under Contract Nos. DACW39-78-M-3314 and DACW39-84-M-1462

Monitored by Geotechnical Laboratory US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station 3909 Halls Ferry Road, Vicksburg, Mississippi 39180-6199

28 28

Unclassified

SECURITY CLA	SSIFICATION C	F THIS PAGE						
		REPORT (DOCUMENTATIO	N PAGE			Form OMB	Approved No. 0704-0188
1a REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION Unclassified				16 RESTRICTIVE MARKINGS				
2a. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION AUTHORITY				3 DISTRIBUTION	AVAILABILITY	OF REPORT	r	
26. DECLASSIFICATION / DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE				Approved fo unlimited	Approved for public release; distribution unlimited			
4 PERFORMI	NG ORGANIZAT	TION REPORT NUMBE	R(S)	5 MONITORING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER(S)				
				Technical Report GL-79-19				
6a. NAME OF PERFORMING ORGANIZATION 6b. OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)			6b. OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)	7a NAME OF MONITORING ORGANIZATION USAEWES				
See reve	rse			Geotechnical Laboratory				
6c. ADDRESS	(City, State, an	nd ZIP Code)		75. ADDRESS (C	iy, State, and ZI.	P Code)		
				3909 Halls	Ferry Road			
Universi	ty Park, H	PA 16802		Vicksburg,	MS 39180-0	6199		
8a. NAME OF	FUNDING / SPC	ONSORING	86. OFFICE SYMBOL	9 PROCUREMEN	T INSTRUMENT I	DENTIFICA	TION NUM	ABER
US Armv	ation Corps of F	Engineers	(If applicable)	DACW39-78-M	-3314			
84 ADDR555	(C.a. 64444	- 710 Code)	<u> </u>	DACW 39-84-M	-1462	roc		
OL AUURESS	(city, state, and	a zir Code)		PROGRAM	PROJECT	TASK		WORK UNIT
				ELEMENT NO.	NO.	NO.		ACCESSION NO.
Washingt	on, DC 20	0314-1000						
11. TITLE (Inc	lude Security C	lassification)						
Bieniaws 13a. TYPE OF Reprinted 16. SUPPLEME	ki, Z. T. REPORT d January ENTARY NOTA	13b. TIME CO 1990 FROM	DVERED TO	14. DATE OF REPO	DRT (Year, Monti 1990	h, Day) 11	5. PAGE 0	
VA 2216	l in Mat	.ional rechnic	ai information	Service, 528	J Port Roya	al Koad	, Sprin	ngfield,
17.	COSATI	CODES	18. SUBJECT TERMS (Continue on reven	se if necessary a	nd identify	by block	number)
FIELD	GROUP	SUB-GROUP	Classificatio	ns Enginee	ring geolog	gy; ∕Roo	ck mass	ses Tunnels
			Construction	Park Ri	ver project	t; Roo	ck mecł	nanics
	I I (Continue on	reverse if peressary	and identify by block of	KOCK CI	assificatio	on <u>Ro</u>	CKS	
systems. Terraghi Classific guideline tunnel ca with the concluded tions are economica benefit In co 20 DISTRIBUT	A compar rock load cation, an es are giv ase histor design ap d that the e made for al rock to the curren order to a TION/AVAILAB	ison is made i method and t od the Q-Syste yen for step-b y, an evaluat proaches invo current desi improved pro nonels. Final at tunnel desi accomplish the hulty OF ABSTRACT	between the tun he support sele m. These class y-step applicat ion is made of lving the three gn practice may cedures that wo ly, a few areas gn practice. main purpose o	nel support ction based ification sy ion of the t the current rock mass c lead to ove uld ensure t are identif f this repor 21 ABSTRACT SE Unclassif	design base on the RSR stems are of hree method design prad lassification rdesign of ne construct ied where met, namely to curry CLASSIF ied	ed on th Concept describe ds. Us tice by ion syst support tion of more res to evalu	he class t, the ed 4n of ing an y compa- tems. t, and f safe search pate tu	ssical Geomechanics detail and actual aring it It is recommenda- and more would mnnel design (Continued)
220. WAIVE U				220 ILLEPHONE	Unclude Area CO			
DD Form 14	73, JUN 86		Previous editions are	obsolete.	SECURIT	Y CLASSIFIC	CATION O	F THIS PAGE

Pholassified

Unclassified

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE

6a. NAME OF PERFORMING ORGANIZATION.

Pennsylvania State University Department of Mineral Engineering

19. ABSTRACT (Continued)

practices with respect to rock mass classification systems, the following scope of work was defined:

- a. Review existing classification systems in rock engineering.
- b. Provide a user's guide for the most useful classification systems.
- c. Evaluate design practices on the basis of a selected tunnel case history.
- d. Identify practical steps leading to improved design of safe and more economical tunnels.
- e. Recommend research requirements needing immediate attention.

The above scope of work was accomplished during this study, and the procedures, results, and discussions are presented in this report originally published in 1979. The report was reprinted in FY 89 during which time a Bibliography covering the appropriate literature through 1986 as well as a discussion of recent developments, given in Appendix D, were added.

The second and the second

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE

PREFACE

This report contains the results of an investigation by Professor Z. T. Bieniawski of The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA. Funds for this study were provided by the US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES) under Purchase Orders DACW39-78-M-3314 and DACW39-84-M-1462.

This study was performed in FY 78 under the direction of Dr. D. C. Banks, Chief, Engineering Geology and Rock Mechanics Division (EGRMD), Geotechnical Laboratory (GL), and Messrs. J. P. Sale and R. G. Ahlvin, Chief and Assistant Chief, respectively, GL. The contract was monitored by Mr. J. S. Huie, Chief, Rock Mechanics Applications Group (RMAG), EGRMD. Mr. G. A. Nicholson, RMAG, assisted with the geological data collection and interpretation for the case history study of the Park River Tunnel.

This report was updated in FY 84 with the main text revised, where appropriate, and an appendix added relating to the recent developments in the use of rock mass classifications for tunnel design (covering the period 1979 -1984). This report, reprinted in FY 90, adds a Bibliography covering the appropriate literature through 1986.

The Commander and Director of WES during the preparation of this report was COL Larry B. Fulton, EN. Technical Director was Dr. Robert W. Whalin.

Acces	sion Fo	r			
NTIS	GRA&I				
DTIC TAB					
Unann	ounced				
Justi	Justification				
By					
Distribution/					
Availability Codes					
	Avail (and/or			
Dist	Spec	ial			
A-1					

CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
PREFACE	1
CONVERSION FACTORS, NON-SI TO SI (METRIC) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT	4
PART I: INTRODUCTION	5
PART II: CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS IN ROCK ENGINEERING	7
Terzaghi's Rock Load Classification	10
Lauffer's Classification	11
Deere's Rock Quality Designation	13
RSR Concept	16
The Geomechanics Classification (RMR System)	23
Q-System	34
PART III: GUIDF TO CLASSIFICATION PROCEDURES	44
User's Guide for the RSR Concept	44
User's Guide for the Geomechanics Classification	45
User's Guide for the Q-System	46
Comparison of Procedures	47
PART IV: CASE HISTORY OF THE PARK RIVER TUNNEL	49
Description of the Tunnel	49
Tunnel Geology	50
Geological Investigations	55
Input Data for Rock Mass Classifications	55
Assessment of Rock Mass Conditions by Classifications	56
Tunnel Design Features	56
Construction	60
Comparison of Support Recommendations	60
PART V: RESEARCH REQUIREMENTS	62
PART VI: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	64
Conclusions	64
Recommendations	64
REFERENCES	66
BIBLIOGRAPHY	70
TABLES 1-23	

	<u>Page</u>
APPENDIX A: TERZAGHI'S ROCK LOAD TABLES	A1
APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF PROCEDURES FOR ROCK MASS CLASSIFICATIONS	B1
Geomechanics Classification-Rock Mass Rating (RMR) System Rock Structure Rating - RSR Concept Q-System for Tunnel Support	B3 B9 B10
APPENDIX C: CASE HISTORY DATA: PARK RIVER TUNNEL	C1
TABLES C1-C2	
FIGURES C1-C7	

APPENDIX D:	RECENT	DEVELOPMENTS	IN THE	USE OF ROCK MASS	
CLASSI	FICATION	NS FOR TUNNEL	DESIGN	(1979-1984)	D1

CONVERSION FACTORS, NON-SI TO SI (METRIC) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT

Non-SI units of measurement used in this report can be converted to SI (metric) units as follows:

Multiply	<u>By</u>	To Obtain
feet	0.3048	metres
gallons per minute	3.785412	cubic decimetres per minute
inches	2.54	centimetres
kips (force) per square foot	47.88026	kilopascals
miles (US statute)	1.609347	kilometres
pounds (force)	4.448222	newtons
pounds (force) per square foot	47.88026	pascals
pounds (force) per square inch	6.894757	kilopascals
pounds (mass) per cubic foot	16.01846	kilograms per cubic metre
square feet	0.09290304	square metres

TUNNEL DESIGN BY ROCK MASS CLASSIFICATIONS

"The origin of the science of classification goes back to the writings of the ancient Greeks; however, the process of classification -- the recognition of similarities and the grouping of objects based thereon -- dates to primitive man."

> Prof. Robert R. Socal -- Presidential Address to the U. S. Classification Society (Chicago, 1972).

> > PART I: INTRODUCTION

1. The design of tunnels in rock currently utilizes three main approaches: analytical, observational, and empirical. In view of the very complex nature of rock masses and the difficulties encountered with their characterization, the analytical approach is the least used in the present engineering practice. The reason for it does not lie in the analytical techniques themselves, since some have been developed to a high degree of sophistication, but in the inability to furnish the necessary input data as the ground conditions are rarely adequately explored. Consequently, such analytical techniques as the finite element method, the boundary element method, closed form mathematical solutions, photoelasticity or analogue simulation are mainly useful for assessing the influence of the various parameters or processes and for comparing alternative design schemes; they are the methods of the future not as yet acceptable as the practical engineering means for the design of rock tunnels.

2. The observational approach, of which the New Austrian Tunneling method is the best example, is based on observations and monitoring of tunnel behavior during construction and selecting or modifying the support as the project proceeds. This represents essentially a "build as you go" philosophy since the support is adjusted during construction to meet the changes in ground conditions. This approach is nevertheless based on a sound premise that a flexible tunnel lining, utilizing the inherent ability of the rock to support itself, is preferable to a rigid one. In practice, a combination of rockbolts and shotcrete is used to prevent excessive loosening in the rock mass but allowing it to deform sufficiently to develop arching and selfsupport characteristics. The problem with this approach is, however, that it

requires special contractual provisions: these may be suitable for the European practice for which they were evolved over many years of trial and error, but are not easily adaptable to the established U.S. contracting procedures.

3. The empirical approach relates the experience encountered at previous projects to the conditions anticipated at a proposed site. If an empirical design is backed by a systematic approach to ground classification, it can effectively utilize the valuable practical experience gained at many projects, which is so helpful to exercising one's engineering judgment. This is particularly important since, to quote a recent paper:¹ "A good engineering design is a balanced design in which all the factors which interact, even those which cannot be quantified, are taken into account; the responsibility of the design engineers is not to compute accurately but to judge soundly."

4. Rock mass classifications, which thus form the backbone of the empirical design approach, are widely employed in rock tunneling and most of the tunnels constructed at present in the United States make use of some classification system. The most extensively used and the best known of these is the Terzaghi classification which was introduced over 40 years ago.²

5. In fact, rock mass classifications have been successfully applied throughout the world: in the United States,²⁻⁶ Canada,⁷⁻⁸ Western Europe,⁹⁻¹² South Africa,¹³⁻¹⁶ Australia,¹⁷ New Zealand,¹⁸ Japan,¹⁹ USSR,²⁰ and in some East European countries.²¹⁻²² Some classification systems were applied not only to tunneling but also to rock foundations, ²³⁻²⁴ rock slopes, ²⁵ and even mining problems.¹⁶

6. The purpose of this report is to evaluate tunnel design practices with respect to rock mass classification systems and particularly those which have been introduced in the recent years, have been tried out on a large number of tunneling projects, and have offered a practical and acceptable alternative to the classical Terzaghi classification of 1946.

PART II: CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS IN ROCK ENGINEERING

7. A statement made in 1972 during the First Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference⁵ is still appropriate for summarizing the present state of tunneling technology:

"Predicting support requirements for tunnels has, for many years, been based on observation, experience and personal judgment of crose involved in tunnel construction. Barring an unforeseen breakthrough in geophysical techniques for making tunnel sites investigations, the prediction of support requirements for future tunnels will require the same approach."

Rock mass classification can, if fulfilling certain conditions, effectively combine the findings from observation, experience, and engineering judgment for providing a quantitative assessment of rock mass conditions.

8. A rock mass classification has the following purposes in a tunneling application:

- <u>a</u>. Divide a particular rock mass into groups of similar behavior.
- \underline{b} . Provide a basis for understanding the characteristics of each group.
- <u>c</u>. Facilitate the planning and the design of excavations in rock by yielding quantitative data required for the solution of real engineering problems.
- <u>d</u>. Provide a common basis for effective communication among all persons concerned with a tunneling project.

9. These aims can be fulfilled by ensuring that a classification system has the following attributes:

<u>a</u>. Simple, easily remembered, and understandable.

- b. Each term clear and the terminology used widely acceptable.
- c. Only the most significant properties of rock masses included.
- <u>d</u>. Based on measurable parameters that can be determined by relevant tests quickly and cheaply in the field.
- <u>e</u>. Based on a rating system that can weigh the relative importance of the classification parameters.

- \underline{f} . Functional by providing quantitative data for the design of tunnel support.
- g. General enough so that the same rock mass will possess the same basic classification regardless whether it is being used for a tunnel, a slope, or a foundation.

10. To date, many rock mass classification systems have been proposed, the better known of these being the classification by Terzaghi (1946),² Lauffer (1958),⁹ Deere (1964),³ Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner (1972),⁵ Bieniawski (1973),¹³ and Barton, Lien, and Lunde (1974).¹² These classification systems will be discussed in detail while other classifications can be found in the references.

11. The six classificat ons named above were selected for detailed discussion because of their special features and contributions to the subject matter. Thus, the classical rock load classification of Terzaghi,² the first practical classification system introduced, has been dominant in the United States for over 35 years and has proved very successful in tunneling with steel supports. Lauffer's classification⁹ based on work of Stini²⁶ was a considerable step forward in the art of tunneling since it introduced the concept of the stand-up time of the active span in a tunnel that is most relevant for determination of the type and the amount of tunnel support. Deere's classification³ introduced the rock quality designation (RQD) index, which is a simple and practical method of describing the quality of rock core from borings. The concept of rock structure rating (RSR), developed in the United States by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner, 5,6 was the first system assigning classification ratings for weighing the relative importance of classification parameters. The Geomechanics Classification proposed by Bieniawski¹³ and the Q-System proposed by Barton, Lien, and Lunde¹² were developed independently (in 1973 and 1974, respectively), and both these classifications provide quantitative data enabling the selection of modern tunnel reinforcement measures such as rockbolts and shotcrete. The Q-System has been developed specifically for tunnels, while the Geomechanics Classification, although also initially developed for tunnels, has been applied to rock slopes and foundations, ground rippability assessment, as well as to mining problems.²³

12. Some comparisons have been made between the various classification systems.^{17,18,23,27,28,29} One detailed comparison was made by the author²³ during the construction of a railroad tunnel,³⁰ which was 18 ft* wide and 2.4 miles long. This tunnel was characterized by highly variable rock conditions -from very poor to very good. In addition, a one-year tunnel-monitoring program featuring 16 measuring stations enabled correlation between the classification ratings of rock conditions with the amount of rock movement, the rate of face advance, and the support used. This project thus afforded an ideal opportunity for comparison of the various classification systems. The results of this comparison are given in Table 1.

13. It is widely believed that the Jesign of underground excavations is, to a large extent, the design of underground support systems.²⁸ This means that since rock mass classifications are used as tunnel design methods, they must be evaluated with respect to the guidelines that they provide for the selection of tunnel support. In this connection, however, it must be remembered that tunnel support may be regarded as the primary support (otherwise known as the temporary support) or the permanent support (usually concrete lining). Primary support (e.g., rockbolts, shotcrete, or steel ribs) is invariably installed close to the tunnel face shortly after the excavation is completed. Its purpose is to ensure tunnel stability until the concrete lining is installed.

14. It should not be overlooked that the primary support may probably be able to carry all the load ever acting on the tunnel. After all, modern supports do not deteriorate easily and the traditional concept of the temporary and permanent support is losing its meaning. In some European countries, for example: Austria, Germany, Sweden, and Norway, only one kind of support is understood, generally a combination of rockbolts and shotcrete, and concrete linings are considered unnecessary if tunnel monitoring shows stabilization of roc': movements. This is the case for highway and railroad tunnels, while water tunnels may feature concrete linings, not for structural stability reasons but to reduce surface friction and to prevent water leakage into the rock.

^{*} A table of factors for converting non-SI units of measurement to SI (metric) units is presented on page 4.

15. Consequently, the use of the concept of the primary and the permanent supports may well lead to overdesign of tunnels since the so-called primary support may be all that is necessary and the concrete lining only serves as an expensive cosmetic feature acting psychologically to bolster public confidence in the safety of the tunnel. The only justification for placing concrete lining may be that since the current knowledge of rock tunnel engineering is still incomplete, a radical departure from the customary methods of design may not be advisable. However, the possibility of tunnel overdesign should not be overlooked, and methods of minimizing this possibility, without jeopardizing tunnel safety, should be constantly sought.

Terzaghi's Rock Load Classification

16. Since the purpose of this report is to evaluate other than the Terzaghi classification system and since his classification is fully treated both in Proctor and White's book² and in EM 1110-2-2901,³¹ it will not be repeated here. However, for the sake of completeness and because of its historical importance, main features of Terzaghi's rock load classification are given in Appendix A.

17. Terzaghi's contribution lies in formulating, over 40 years ago, the first rational method of evaluating rock loads appropriate to the design of steel sets. This was an important development, because support by steel sets has been the most commonly used system for containing rock tunnel deformations during the past 50 years. It must be emphasized, however, that while this classification is appropriate for the purpose for which it was evolved, i.e., for estimating rock loads for steel-arch supported tunnels, it is not so suitable for modern tunneling methods using shotcrete and rockbolts. After detailed studies, Cecil³² concluded that Terzaghi's classification was too general to permit an objective evaluation of rock quality and that it provided no quantitative information on the properties of rock masses.

Lauffer's Classification

18. The 1958 classification by Lauffer⁹ has its foundation in the earlier work on tunnel geology by Stini,²⁶ who is considered as the father of the "Austrian School" of tunneling and rock mechanics. Stini emphasized the importance of structural defects in rock masses. Lauffer proposed that the stand-up time for any active unsupported rock span is related to the various rock mass classes as shown in the diagram in Figure 1. An active unsupported span is the width of the tunnel or the distance from the face to the support if this is less than the tunnel width. The stand-up time is the period of time that a tunnel will stand unsupported after excavation. It should be noted that a number of factors may affect the stand-up time, as illustrated diagrammatically in Figure 2. Lauffer's original classification is no longer used since it has been modified a number of times by other Austrian engineers, notably von Rabcewicz, Gosler, and Pacher.¹⁰

19. The main significance of Lauffer's classification is that Figure 1 shows how an increase in a tunnel span leads to a drastic reduction in the stand-up time. This means, for example, that while a pilot tunnel having a small span may be successfully constructed full face in fair rock conditions, a large span opening in this same rock may prove impossible to support in terms of the stand-up time. Only a system of smaller headings and benches or multiple drifts can enable a large cross-section tunnel to be constructed in such rock conditions.

20. A disadvantage of a Lauffer-type classification is that these two parameters, the stand-up time and the span, are difficult to establish and rather much is demanded of practical experience. Nevertheless, this concept introduced the stand-up time and the span as the two most relevant parameters for the determination of the type and amount of tunnel support, and this has influenced the development of more recent rock mass classification systems.¹³



Figure 1. Lauffer's relationship between active span and stand-up time for different classes of rock mass: A - very good rock, G - very poor rock



Figure 2. Factors influencing rock mass suitability during tunneling (schematically after Lauffer⁹)

Deere's Rock Quality Designation

21. Deere³ proposed in 1964 a quantitative index based on a modified core recovery procedure which incorporates only those pieces of core that are 4 in. or greater in length. This RQD has been widely used and has been found very useful for selection of tunnel support.⁴

22. For RQD determination, the International Society for Rock Mechanics recommends a core size of at least NX diameter (2.16 in.) drilled with double-barrel diamond drilling equipment. The following relationship between the RQD index and the engineering quality of the rock was proposed by Deere:³

<u>Rock Quality</u>
Very Poor
Poor
Fair
Good
Excellent

23. Cording, Hendron, and Deere³³ attempted to relate the RQD index to Terzaghi's rock load factor. They found a reasonable correlation for steelsupported tunnels but not for openings supported by rockbolts, as is evident from Figure 3. This supports the opinion that Terzaghi's rock load concept should be limited to tunnels supported by steel sets.³⁴

24. Merritt³⁵ found that the RQD could be of much value in estimating support requirements for rock tunnels as demonstrated in Figure 4. He pointed out a limitation of the RQD index in areas where the joints contain thin clay fillings or weathered material. The influence of clay seams and fault gouge on tunnel stability was discussed by Brekke and Howard.³⁶

25. Although the RQD is a quick and inexpensive index, it has limitations by disregarding joint orientation, tightness, and gouge material. Consequently, while it is a practical parameter for core quality estimation, it is not sufficient on its own to provide an adequate description of a rock mass.



Figure 3. Comparison of roof support designs for steel rib-supported tunnels and for rock-bolted caverns (after Cording and Deere³⁴)



Figure 4. Comparison of rock quality support criteria from various sources (after Merritt³⁵)

RSR Concept

26. The Rock Structure Rating (RSR) Concept, a ground-supportprediction model, was developed in the United States in 1972 by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner.^{5,6} The concept presents a quantitative method for describing the quality of a rock mass and for selecting the appropriate ground support. It was the first complete rock mass classification system proposed since that introduced by Terzaghi in 1946.

27. The RSR Concept was a step forward in a number of respects: firstly, it was a quantitative classification unlike Terzaghi's qualitative one; secondly, it was a rock mass classification incorporating many parameters unlike the RQD index that is limited to core quality; thirdly, it was a complete classification having an input and an output unlike a Lauffer-type classification that relies on practical experience to decide on a rock mass class, which will then give an output in terms of the stand-up time and span.

28. The main contribution of the RSR Concept was that it introduced a rating system for rock masses. This was the sum of weighted values of the individual parameters considered in this classification system. In other words, the relative importance of the various classification parameters could be assessed. This rating system was determined on the basis of case histories as well as reviews of various books and technical papers dealing with different aspects of ground support in tunneling.

29. The RSR Concept considered two general categories of factors influencing rock mass behavior in tunneling: geologic parameters and construction parameters. The geologic parameters were: (a) rock type, (b) joint pattern (average spacing of joints), (c) joint orientations (dip and strike), (d) type of discontinuities, (e) major faults, shears, and folds, (f) rock material properties, and (g) weathering or alteration. Some of these factors were treated separately; others were considered collectively. The authors pointed out that, in some instances, it would be possible to accurately define the above factors, but in others, only general approximations could be made. The construction parameters were: (a) size of tunnel, (b) direction of drive, and (c) method of excavation.

30. All the above factors were grouped by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner⁵ into three basic parameters, A, B, and C (Tables 2, 3, and 4, respectively), which in themselves were evaluations as to the relative effect on the support requirements of various geological factors. These three parameters were as follows:

a. Parameter A. General appraisal of rock structure is on the basis of:

- (1) Rock type origin (igneous, metamorphic, sedimentary).
- (2) Rock hardness (hard, medium, soft, decomposed).
- (3) Geologic structure (massive, slightly faulted/folded, moderately faulted/folded, intensely faulted/folded).
- <u>b</u>. <u>Parameter B</u>. Effect of discontinuity pattern with respect to the direction of tunnel drive is on the basis of:
 - (1) Joint spacing.
 - (2) Joint orientation (strike and dip).
 - (3) Direction of tunnel drive.
- c. <u>Parameter C</u>. Effect of groundwater inflow is based on:
 - (1) Overall rock mass quality due to parameters A and B combined.
 - (2) Joint condition (good, fair, poor).
 - (3) Amount of water inflow (in gallons per minute per foot of the tunnel).

31. The RSR value of any tunnel section is obtained by summarizing the weighted numerical values determined for each parameter. This reflects the quality of the rock mass with respect to its need for support regardless of the size of the tunnel. The relation between RSR values and tunnel size is taken into consideration in the determination of respective rib ratios (RR), as discussed below. Since a lesser amount of support was expected for machine-bored tunnels than when excavated by drill and blast methods, it was suggested that RSR values be adjusted for machine-bored tunnels in the manner given in Figure 5.



32. It should be noted that Tables 2,3 and 4 are reproduced not from the original reference⁵ but from a paper⁶ published two years later, because the RSR ratings were changed in 1974 and the latter paper represents the latest information available.

In order to correlate RSR values with actual support installations, 33. a concept of the RR was introduced. The purpose was to have a common basis for correlating RSR determinations with actual or required installations. Since 90 percent of the case history tunnels were supported with steel ribs, the RR measure was chosen as the theoretical support (rib size and spacing). It was developed from Terzaghi's formula for determining roof loads in loose sand below the water table (datum condition). Using the tables provided in Rock Tunneling with Steel Supports,² the theoretical spacing required for the same size rib as used in a given case study tunnel section was determined for the datum condition. The RR value is obtained by dividing this theoretical spacing by the actual spacing and multiplying the answer by 100. Thus, RR = 46 would mean that the section required only 46 percent of the support used for the datum condition. However, different size tunnels, although having the same RR would require different weight or size of ribs for equivalent support. The RR for an unsupported tunnel would be zero and would be 100 for a tunnel requiring the same support as the datum condition.

34. A total of 53 projects were evaluated, but since each tunnel was divided into typical geological sections, a total of 190 tunnel sections were analyzed. The RSR and RR values were determined for each section, and actual support installations were obtained from as-built drawings. The support was distributed as follows:

Sections with steel ribs	147	(89.6%)
Sections with rockbolts	14	(8.6%)
Sections with shotcrete	3	(1.6%)
Total supported	164	(100.0%)
Total unsupported	_26	
Total	190 sec	tions

35. An empirical relationship was developed between RSR and RR values, namely:

or

(RR + 80)(RSR + 30) = 8800 (Reference 6) (RR + 70)(RSR + 8) = 6000 (Reference 5)

It was concluded⁶ that rock structures with RSR values less than 19 would require heavy support while those with ratings of 80 and over would be unsupported.

36. Since the RR basically defined an anticipated rock load by considering the load-carrying capacity of different sizes of steel ribs, the RSR values were also expressed in terms of unit rock loads for various sized tunnels as given in Table 5.

37. The RSR prediction model was developed primarily with respect to stee! rib support.⁶ Insufficient data were available to correlate rock structures and rockbolt or shotcrete support. However, an appraisal of rockbolt requirements was made by considering rock loads with respect to the tensile strength of the bolt. The authors pointed out⁵ that this was a very general approach: it assumed that anchorage was adequate and that all bolts acted in tension only; it did not allow either for interaction between adjacent blocks or for an assumption of a compression arch formed by the

bolts. In addition, the rock loads were developed for steel supported tunnels. Nevertheless, the following relation was given for 1-in.-diam rockbolts with a working load of 24,000 lb:

Spacing (ft) =
$$24/W$$

where W is the rock load in 1,000 psf.

38. No correlation could be found between geologic prediction and shotcrete requirements, so that the following empirical relationship was suggested:

$$t = 1 + \frac{W}{1.25}$$
 or $t = \frac{D}{150}$ (65 - RSR)

where

t = shotcrete thickness, in.

W = rock load

D = tunnel diameter, ft

39. Support requirement charts have been prepared that provide a means of determining typical ground support systems based on a RSR prediction as to the quality of rock structure through which the tunnel is to be driven. Charts for 10-, 20-, and 24-ft-diam tunnels are shown in Figures 6, 7, and 8, respectively. Similar charts could be used for other tunnel sizes. The three steel rib curves reflect typical sizes used for the particular tunnel size. The curves for rockbolts and shotcrete are dashed to emphasize that they are based on assumptions and were not derived from case histories. The charts are applicable to either circular or horseshoe-shaped tunnels of comparable widths.

40. The author believes that the RSR Concept is a very useful method for selecting steel rib support for rock tunnels. As with any empirical approaches, one should not apply a concept beyond the range of sufficient and reliable data used for developing the concept. For this reason, the RSR Concept is not recommended for selection of rockbolt and shotcrete support. However, because of its usefulness for steel rib support determination, the author prepared an input data sheet for this classification system (see

Appendix B). It should be noted that although the definitions of the classification parameters were not explicitly stated by the proposers,⁵ most of the input data needed will be normally included in a standard joint survey; however, the lack of definitions (e.g., slightly faulted or folded rock) may lead to some confusion.

41. A practical example using the RSR Concept is as follows:

Consider a 20-ft diam tunnel to be driven in a slightly faulted strata featuring medium hard granite. The joint spacing is 2 ft and the joints are open. The estimated water inflow is 250 gal/min per 1000 ft of the tunnel length. The tunnel will be driven against a dip of 45 deg and perpendicular to the jointing.

Solution: From Table 2: For igneous rock of medium hardness (basic rock type 2) in slightly faulted rock, parameter A = 20. From Table 3: For moderate to blocky jointing with strike perpendicular to the tunnel axis and with a drive against the dip of 45 deg, parameter B = 25. From Table 4: For A + B = 45, poor joint condition and moderate water flow, parameter C = 12.

Thus: RSR = A + B + C = 57. From Figure 7, the support requirements for a 20-ft-diam tunnel with RSR = 57 (estimated rock load 1.5 kips/sq ft) will be 6H20 steel ribs at 6-ft spacing.



Figure 6. RSR concept - support chart for 10-ft-diam tunnel



Figure 7. RSR concept - support chart for 20-ft-diam tunnel



Figure 8. RSR concept - support charts for 24-ft-diam tunnel

The Geomechanics Classification (RMR System)

42. The Geomechanics Classification or the Rock Mass Rating (RMR) System was developed by Bieniawski¹³ in 1973. This engineering classification of rock masses, especially evolved for rock engineering applications, utilizes the following six parameters, all of which not only are measurable in the field but can also be obtained from borings:

- <u>a</u>. Uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock material.
- b. Rock quality designation (RQD).
- c. Spacing of discontinuities.
- d. Orientation of discontinuities.
- e. Condition of discontinuities.
- <u>f</u>. Groundwater conditions.

43. The Geomechanics Classification is presented in Table 6. In Section A of Table 6, five parameters are grouped into five ranges of values. Since the various parameters are not equally important for the overall classification of a rock mass, importance ratings are allocated to the different value ranges of the parameters, a higher rating indicating better rock mass conditions. These ratings were determined from 49 case histories investigated by the author²³ while the initial ratings were based on the studies by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner.⁵

44. To apply the Geomechanics Classification, the rock mass along the tunnel route is divided into a number of structural regions, i.e., zones in which certain geological features are more or less uniform within each region. The above six classification parameters are determined for each structural region from measurements in the field and entered onto the standard input data sheet, as shown in Appendix B.

45. Next, the importance ratings are assigned to each parameter according to Table 6, Section A. In this respect, the typical rather than the worst conditions are evaluated since this classification, being based on case histories, has a built-in safety factor. Furthermore, it should be noted that the importance ratings given for discontinuity spacings apply to rock masses

having three sets of discontinuities. Thus, when only two sets of discontinuities are present, a conservative assessment is obtained. Once the importance ratings of the classification parameters are established, the ratings for the five parameters listed in Section A of Table 6 are summed to yield the basic overall rock mass rating for the structural region under consideration.

46. At this stage, the influence of the strike and dip of discontinuities is included by adjusting the basic rock mass rating according to Section B of Table 6. This step is treated separately because the influence of discontinuity orientation depends upon engineering application e.g., tunnel, slope, or foundation. It will be noted that the "value" of the parameter "discontinuity orientation" is not given in quantitative terms but by qualitative descriptions such as "favorable." To facilitate a decision whether strike and dip orientations are favorable or not, reference should be made to Table 7, which is based on studies by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner.⁵ In the case of civil engineering projects, an adjustment for discontinuity orientations will suffice. For mining applications, other adjustments may be called for such as the stress at depth or a change in stress.²³

47. After the adjustment for discontinuity orientations, the rock mass is classified according to Section C of Table 6, which groups the final (adjusted) rock mass ratings (RMR) into five rock mass classes. Note that the rock mass classes are in groups of twenty ratings each.

48. Next, Section D of Table 6 gives the practical meaning of each rock mass class by relating it to specific engineering problems. In the case of tunnels and chambers, the output from the Geomechanics Classification is the stand-up time of an unsupported rock span for a given rock mass rating (Figure 9).

49. Longer stand-up times can be achieved by selecting rock reinforcement measures in accordance with Table 8. They depend on such factors as the depth below surface (in situ stress), tunnel size and shape, and the method of excavation. Support load can be determined as follows:



 $P = \frac{100 - RMR}{100} \gamma B$

where

P is the support load, γ is the density of the rock, B is the tunnel width and RMR is the rock mass rating.

50. It should be noted that the support measures given in Table 8 represent the <u>permanent</u> and not the primary support. Hence, additional concrete lining is not required for structural purposes. However, to ensure full structural stability it is recommended that tunnel monitoring during construction should provide a check on stabilization of rock movements.

51. The Geomechanics Classification recognizes that no single parameter or index can fully and quantitatively describe a jointed rock mass for tunneling purposes. Various factors have different significance, and only if taken together can they describe satisfactorily a rock mass. Each of the six parameters employed in this classification is discussed below. <u>Strength of intact rock material</u>

52. There is a general agreement that knowledge of the uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock is necessary for classifying a rock mass. After all, if the discontinuities are widely spaced and the rock material is weak, the rock material properties will influence the behavior of the rock mass. Under the same confining pressure, the strength of the rock material constitutes the highest strength limit of the rock mass. The rock material strength is also important if the use of tunneling machines is contemplated. Finally, a sample of the rock material represents sometimes a small-scale model of the rock mass since they have both been subjected to the same geological processes. It is believed that the engineering classification of intact rock, proposed by Deere and Miller,³⁷ is particularly realistic and convenient for use in the field of rock mechanics. This classification is given in Table 9.

53. The uniaxial compressive strength of rock material is determined in accordance with the standard laboratory procedures, but for the purpose of rock classification, the use of the well-known, point-load strength index is recommended. The reason is that the index can be determined in the field on rock core retrieved from borings and the core does not require any special

preparation. Using simple portable equipment, a piece of drill core is compressed between two points. The core fails as a result of fracture across its diameter. The point-load strength index is calculated as the ratio of the applied load to the square of the core diameter. A close correlation exists (to within ~20 percent)³⁸ between the uniaxial compressive strength (σ_c) and the point-load strength index I_s such that for standard NX core (2.16-in. diameter), $\sigma_c = 24$ I_s.

54. In rock engineering, the information on the rock material strength is preferable to that on rock hardness. The reason is that rock hardness, which is defined as the resistance to indentation or scratching, is not a quantitative parameter and is subjective to a geologist's personal opinion. It has been employed in the past before the advent of the point-load strength index which car now assess the rock strength in the field. For the sake of completeness, the following hardness classification was used in the past:

- <u>a</u>. <u>Very soft rock</u>. Material crumbles under firm blow with a sharp end of a geological pick and can be peeled off with a knife.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Soft rock</u>. Material can be scraped and peeled with a knife; indentations 1/16 to 1/8 in. show in the specimen with firm blows.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Medium hard rock</u>. Material cannot be scraped or peeled with a knife; hand-held specimen can be broken with the hammer end of a geological pick with a single firm blow.
- <u>d</u>. <u>Hard rock</u>. Hand-held specimen breaks with hammer end of pick under more than one blow.
- <u>e</u>. <u>Very hard rock</u>. Specimen requires many blows with geological pick to break through intact material.

It can be seen from the above that for the lower ranges up to medium hard rock, hardness can be assessed from visual inspection and by scratching with a knife and striking with a hammer. However, for rock having the uniaxial compressive strength of more than 3,500 psi, hardness classification ceases to be meaningful due to the difficulty of distinguishing by the "scratchability test" the various degrees of hardness. In any case, hardness is only indirectly related to rock strength, the relationship between the uniaxial compressive strength and the product of hardness and density being expressed in the following formula:³⁹

$$\log \sigma_{c} = 0.00014 \ \gamma R + 3.16$$

where

 γ = dry unit weight, pcf R = Schmidt hardness (L-hammer)

Rock quality designation (RQD)

55. This index has already been discussed in paragraphs 21 through 25. It is used as a classification parameter, because although it is not sufficient on its own for a full description of a rock mass, the RQD index has been found most useful in tunneling applications as a guide for selection of tunnel support, has been employed extensively in the United States and in Europe, and is a simple, inexpensive, and reproducible way to assess the quality of rock core.³⁴

Spacing of discontinuities

56. The term discontinuity means all geological discontinuities present in the rock mass that may be technically joints, bedding planes, minor faults, or other surfaces of weakness. The behavior of discontinuities governs the behavior of a rock mass as a whole. The presence of discontinuities reduces the strength of a rock mass, and their spacing governs the degree of such reduction. For example, a rock material with a high strength, but intensely jointed, will yield a weak rock mass. Spacing of discontinuities is a separate parameter, because the RQD index does not lend itself for assessing the spacing of discontinuities from a single set of cores. A classification of discontinuity spacings proposed by the International Society of Rock Mechanics (ISRM) has been incorporated into the Geomechanics Classification (Table 10).

Orientation of discontinuities

57. Studies by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner⁵ have emphasized the effect of discontinuity orientations on tunnel stability. In accordance with Table 7, a qualitative assessment of favorability is preferred to more elaborate systems for joint orientation and inclination effects.

Condition of discontinuities

58. This parameter includes roughness of the discontinuity surfaces, their continuity, their opening or separation (distance between the surfaces), the infilling (gouge) material, and weathering of the wall rock.

59. Roughness or the nature of the asperities in the discontinuity surfaces is an important parameter characterizing the condition of discontinuities. Asperities that occur on joint surfaces interlock, if the surfaces are clean and closed, and inhibit shear movement along the discontinuity surface. Roughness asperities usually have a base length and amplitude measured in terms of tenths of an inch and are readily apparent on a coresized exposure of a discontinuity. The applicable descriptive terms are defined below (it should be stated if surfaces are stepped, undulating, or planar):

- <u>a</u>. <u>Very rough</u>. Near vertical steps and ridges occur on the discontinuity surface.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Rough</u>. Some ridge and side-angle steps are evident; asperities are clearly visible; and discontinuity surface feels very abrasive.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Slightly rough</u>. Asperities on the discontinuity surfaces are distinguishable and can be felt.
- d. <u>Smooth</u>. Surface appears smooth and feels so to the touch.
- e. <u>Slickensided</u>. Visual evidence of polishing exists.

60. Continuity of discontinuities influences the extent to which the rock material and the discontinuities separately affect the behavior of the rock mass. In the case of tunnels, a discontinuity is considered fully continuous if its length is greater than the width of the tunnel. Consequently, for continuity assessment, the length of the discontinuity should be determined.

61. Separation or the distance between the discontinuity surfaces controls the extent to which the opposing surfaces can interlock as well as the amount of water that can flow through the discontinuity. In the absence of interlocking, the joint filling (gouge) controls entirely the shear strength of the discontinuity. As the separation decreases, the asperities of

the rock wall tend to become more interlocked, and both the filling and the rock material contribute to the shear strength of joints. The shear strength along a discontinuity is, therefore, dependent on the degree of separation, presence or absence of filling materials, roughness of the surface walls, and the nature of the filling material. The description of the separation of the discontinuity surfaces is given in millimeter as follows:

- <u>a</u>. Very tight: <0.1 mm.
- <u>b</u>. Tight: 0.1-0.5 mm.
- c. Moderately open: 0.5-2.5 mm.
- <u>d</u>. Open: 2,5-10 mm.
- e. Very wide: 10-25 mm.

Note that where the separation is more than 25 mm., the discontinuity should be described as a <u>major</u> discontinuity.

- 62. The infilling (gouge) has a two-fold influence:
 - <u>a</u>. Depending on the thickness, the filling prevents the interlocking of the fracture asperities.
 - <u>b</u>. It possesses its own characteristic properties, i.e., shear strength, permeability, and deformational characteristics.

The following aspects should be described: type, thickness, continuity, and consistency.

63. Weathering of the wall rock, i.e., the rock constituting the discontinuity surfaces, is classified as recommended by the Task Committee of the American Society of Civil Engineers:⁴⁰

- <u>a</u>. <u>Unweathered</u>. No visible signs are noted of weathering; rock fresh; crystals bright.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Slightly weathered rock</u>. Discontinuities are stained or discolored and may contain a thin filling of altered material. Discoloration may extend into the rock from the discontinuity surfaces to a distance of up to 20 percent of the discontinuity spacing.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Moderately weathered rock</u>. Slight discoloration extends from discontinuity spacing. Discontinuities may contain filling of altered material. Partial opening of grain boundaries may be observed.

- <u>d</u>. <u>Highly weathered rock</u>. Discoloration extends throughout the rock, and the rock material is partly friable. The original texture of the rock has mainly been preserved, but separation of the grains has occurred.
- e. <u>Completely weathered rock</u>. The rock is totally discolored and decomposed and in a friable condition. The external appearance is that of soil. Internally, the rock texture is partly preserved, but grains have completely separated.

It should be noted that the boundary between rock and soil is defined in terms of the uniaxial compressive strength and not in terms of weathering. A material with the strength equal to or above 150 psi is considered as rock. Groundwater conditions

64. In the case of tunnels, the rate of inflow of groundwater in gallons per minute per 1,000 ft of the tunnel should be determined,⁵ or a general condition can be described as completely dry, damp, wet, dripping, and flowing. If actual water pressure data are available, these should be stated and expressed in terms of the ratio of the water pressure to the major principal stress. The latter can be either measured or determined from the depth below surface, i.e., the vertical stress increases with depth at 1.1 psi per foot of the depth below surface.

Applications

65. The rock mass along the tunnel route is divided into a number of structural regions, and the above classification parameters are determined for each structural region and entered onto the standard input data sheet, as enclosed in Appendix B.

66. The advantage of the Geomechanics Classification is that it is not only applicable to rock tunnels but also to rock foundations²⁴ and slopes.²⁵ This is a very useful feature that can assist with the design of slopes near the tunnel portals as well as allow estimates of the deformability of foundations for such structures as bridges. For example, for a highway or railroad route involving tunnels and bridges, the output from the Geomechanics Classification for slopes and foundations will be very useful.

67. In the case of rock foundations, the rock mass rating RMR from the Geomechanics Classification has been related²⁴ to the in situ modulus of deformation in the manner shown in Figure 10.





68. In the case of rock slopes, the output is given in Section D of Table 6 as the cohesion and friction of the rock mass. These output values were based on the data compiled by Hoek and Bray.⁴¹ The validity of the output from the Geomechanics Classification to the rock slopes was tested by Steffen²⁵ who analyzed 35 slopes of which 20 had failed. He used the Geomechanics Classification to obtain the average values of cohesion and friction and then calculated the safety factor based on slope design charts by Hoek and Bray.⁴¹ The results given in Figure 11 show definite statistical trends.

69. In spite of its versatility, the Geomechanics Classification is not considered sufficient to deal with all tunnel stability problems.¹³ Like with other empirical methods, it should be backed by a monitoring program during the tunnel construction. The purpose of such a program would be to check on the rock conditions predicted by the classification and to evaluate the behavior of the adopted support measures.

70. A practical example using the Geomechanics Classification is as follows:

Consider a slightly weathered quartzite in which a 20-ft-span tunnel is to be driven. The following classification parameters were determined:

	Item	Value	<u>Rating</u>
1. 2. 3. 4.	Strength of rock material RQD Spacing of discontinuities Condition of discontinuities continuous joints slightly rough surfaces separation <1 mm highly weathered wall rock no gouge	22,000 psi 80-90% 1-3 ft	12 17 20 12
5.	Ground water	Moderate inflow Basic rock mass value	<u>7</u> 68
6.	Orientation of joints	Fair	5

Rock Mass Class: II - good rock

63

Final RMR

Output: From Figure 9, for RMR = 63 and unsupported span = 20 ft, the stand-up time will be about 1 month. From Table 8, recommended tunnel support is rockbolts in crown 10 ft long, spaced at 8 ft with shotcrete 2 in. thick and wire mesh. From Figure 10, the rock mass modulus is estimated as 3.7×10^6 psi.


Figure 11. Frequency distribution of slope stability as predicted by Hoek's design charts for the geomechanics system strength parameters (after Steffen²⁵)

71. It is important that the chart in Figure 9 is correctly applied for the selection of the output data. For this purpose, the actual RMR's are used that are represented by the series of near parallel lines in Figure 9.

72. The intercept of an RMR line with the desired tunnel span determines the stand-up time. Alternatively, the intercept of an RMR line with the top boundary line determines the maximum span possible in a given rock mass; any larger span would result in the immediate roof collapse. An intercept of the RMR line with the lower boundary line determines the maximum span that can stand unsupported indefinitely.

Q-System

73. The Q-System of rock mass classification was developed in Norway in 1974 by Barton, Lien, and Lunde, all of the Norwegian Geotechnical

Institute.¹² Its development represented a major contribution to the subject of rock mass classifications for a number of reasons: the system was proposed on the basis of an analysis by some 200 tunnel case histories from Scandinavia,⁴² it is a quantitative classification system, and it is an engineering system enabling the design of tunnel supports.

74. The Q-System is based on a numerical assessment of the rock mass quality using six different parameters: (a) RQD, (b) number of joint sets, (c) roughness of the most unfavorable joint or discontinuity, (d) degree of alteration or filling along the weakest joint, (e) water inflow, and (f) stress condition.

75. The above six parameters are grouped into three quotients to give the overall rock mass quality Q as follows:

$$Q = \frac{RQD}{J_n} \times \frac{J_r}{J_a} \times \frac{J_w}{SRF}$$

where

RQD = rock quality designation

 J_n = joint set number

 J_r = joint roughness number

 J_a = joint alteration number

 J_w = joint water reduction number

SRF = stress reduction number

76. In Tables 11-13, the numerical values of each of the above parameters are interpreted as follows. The first two parameters represent the overall structure of the rock mass, and their quotient is said to be a measure of the relative block size. The quotient of the third and the fourth parameters is said to be related to the interblock shear strength (of the joints). The fifth parameter is a measure of water pressure, while the sixth parameter is a measure of: (a) loosening load in the case of shear zones and clay bearing rock, (b) rock stress in competent rock, and (c) squeezing and swelling loads in plastic incompetent rock. This sixth parameter is regarded as the "total stress" parameter. The quotient of the fifth and the sixth parameters is regarded as describing the "active stress." 77. The proposers¹² of the Q-System believed that the parameters, J_n . J_r , and J_a , played a more important role than joint orientation, and if joint orientation had been included, the classification would have been less general. However, the orientation is implicit in the parameters J_r and J_a , because they apply to the most unfavorable joints.

78. The Q is related to the tunnel support requirements by defining the equivalent dimensions of the excavation. This equivalent dimension, which is a function of both the size and the purpose of the excavation, is obtained by dividing the span, diameter, or the wall height of the excavation by a quantity called the excavation support ratio (ESR). Thus,

Equivalent dimension = <u>Excavation span, diameter, or height, meter</u> ESR

79. The ESR is related to the use for which the excavation is intended and the degree of safety demanded, as follows:

	Excavation category	ESR	No. of cases
Α.	Temporary mine openings	3-5	2
В.	Vertical shafts:		
	Circular section	2.5	
	Rectangular/square section	2.0	
C.	Permanent mine openings, water tunnels for hydropower (ex- cluding high-pressure penstocks), pilot tunnels, drifts, and head- ings for large excavations	1.6	83
D.	Storage rooms, water treatment plants, minor highway and rail- road tunnels, surge chambers, access tunnels	1.3	25
E.	Power stations, major highway or railroad tunnels, civil defense chambers, portals, intersections	1.0	73
F.	Underground nuclear power sta- tions, railroad stations, factories.	0.8	2

80. The relationship between the index Q and the equivalent dimension is illustrated in Figure 12 in which 38 support categories are shown by box numbering. Support measures that are appropriate to each category are listed in Tables 14-18. Since it was decided that bolting and shotcrete support deserves most attention, case histories featuring steel rib support, concrete arch roofs, and plecast linings have been ignored.

81. The length of bolts L is determined from the equation:

L = 2 + 0.15 B/ESR

where B is the excavation width.

82. The 38 support categories listed in Tables 14-17 have been specified to give estimates of <u>permanent</u> roof support since they were based on roof support methods quoted in the case histories. For temporary support determination, either Q is increased to 5Q or ESR is increased to 1.5 ESR.

83. The maximum limit for permanent unsupported spans can be obtained as follows (see also Figure 13):

Maximum span (unsupported) = $2(ESR) Q^{0.4}$

84. Figure 14 shows the relationship between the rock mass quality Q and the stand-up time. In Figure 15, the relationship between Q and permanent support pressure P_{roof} is plotted from the following equation:

$$P_{roof} = \frac{2.0}{J_{r}} Q^{-1/3}$$

If the number of joint sets is less than three, the equation is expressed as

$$P_{roof} = \frac{2}{3} J_n 1/2 J_r^{-1_Q-1/3}$$

85. The proposers of the Q-System emphasized¹² that while the support recommendations for the large-scale excavations would generally incorporate thicker shotcrete and longer bolts, the bolt <u>spacing</u> and the theoretical <u>support pressure</u> would remain roughly the same. This is supported by Figure 16 in which roof support pressures range from 5 to 20 psi independent of the span.

86. When core is unavailable, the RQD is estimated¹² from the number of joints per unit volume, in which the number of joints per meter for each joint



Figure 12. Q-System - eqivalent dimension versus rock mass quality (after Barton¹²)



Figure 13. Q-System - unsupported span versus rock mass quality (after Barton¹²)













set are added. The conversion for clay-free rock masses is

$$RQD = 115 - 3.3 J_v$$

where J_v represents the total number of joints per cubic meter (RQD = 100 percent for $J_v < 4.5$).

87. The following steps are involved in applying the Q-System:

a. Classify the relevant rock mass quality.

b. Choose the optimum dimensions of excavation.

c. Estimate the appropriate permanent support.

88. A practical example using the Q-System is as follows:

Consider a water tunnel of 9-m (29.5 ft) span in a phyllite rock mass. The following is known:

Joint set 1: smooth, planar $J_r = 1.0$ chlorite coatings $J_a = 4.0$ 15 joints per metre Joint set 2: smooth, undulating $J_r = 2$

slightly altered walls $J_a = 2$

5 joints per metre

Thus: $J_v = 15 + 5 = 20$ and RQD = 115 - 3.3 $J_v = 50$ percent

 $J_n = 4$

Most unfavorable $J_r/J_a = 1/4$

Minor water inflows: $J_w = 1.0$

Uniaxial compressive strength of phyllite: $\sigma_c = 40$ MPa

Major principal stress: $\sigma_1 = 3 \text{ MPa}$ Minor principal stress: $\sigma_3 = 1 \text{ MPa}$

Virgin stresses

Thus: $\sigma_1 / \sigma_3 = 3$ and $\sigma_c / \sigma_1 = 13.3$ (medium stress), SRF = 1.0

 $Q = \frac{50}{4} \times \frac{1}{4} \times \frac{1}{1} = 3.1$ (poor)

Support estimate: B = 9 m, ESR = 1.6Thus: B/ESR = 4.6For Q = 3.1: support category = 21 Permanent support: untensioned rockbolts spaced 1 m, bolt length 2.9 m, and shotcrete 2-3 cm thick (see Table 18, note 1) Temporary support: none

PART III. GUIDE TO CLASSIFICATION PROCEDURES

89. The main rock mass classification systems currently in use in the design of rock tunnels were fully described in Part II. Apart from Terzaghi's classification, three other rock mass classification systems were shown to be most promising: the RSR Concept, the Geomechanics Classification, and the Q-System. Accordingly, the step-by-step design procedures will be summarized in this section for these three classification systems. For Terzaghi's classification, full guidelines are given in EM 1110-2-2901³¹ and in Appendix A.

User's Guide for the RSR Concept

90. The RSR Concept, a ground support prediction model developed in the United States in 1973 by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner,^{5,6} is particularly suitable for selection of steel support for rock tunnels. It requires determination of the three parameters A, B and C listed in Tables 2, 3 and 4.

- <u>Step 1</u>. Divide the proposed tunnel route into geological regions, such that each region would be geologically similar and would require one type of support, i.e., it will not be economical to change tunnel support until rock mass conditions change distinctly; that is, a new structural region can be distinguished.
- <u>Step 2</u>. Complete classification input data worksheet, as given in Appendix B, for each structural region.
- <u>Step 3</u>. From Tables 2 to 4, determine the individual classification parameters A, B and C and their sum, which gives the RSR = A + B + C.
- <u>Step 4</u>. Adjust the RSR value in accordance with Figure 5 if the tunnel is to be excavated by a tunnel boring machine.
- <u>Step 5</u>. Select a support requirement chart appropriate for the tunnel size, e.g., the chart for 10-, 20-, and 24-ft-diam tunnels in Figures 6, 7 and 8, respectively. These charts are applicable to both circular and horseshoe-shaped tunnels. From the selected chart, determine the rib type and spacing corresponding to the RSR value. Ignore curves for rockbolt and shotcrete support since they are not based on sufficient case history data.

<u>Step 6</u>. Estimate the rock load from Table 5 and the theoretical RR from the formula:

(RR + 80)(RSR + 30) = 8800

The values obtained are for comparison purposes between the structural regions.

User's Guide for the Geomechanics Classification

91. The Geomechanics Classification, which was developed in 1973 by Bieniawski,¹³ enables determination of the RMR, the tunnel maximum unsupported span, the stand-up time, the support requirements, the in situ rock mass modulus, and the cohesion and friction of the rock masses.

- <u>Step 1</u>. Divide the proposed tunnel route into structural regions, such that each region would be geologically similar and would require one type of support.
- <u>Step 2</u>. Complete classification input data worksheet, as given in Appendix B, for each structural region (see paragraph 44).
- <u>Step 3</u>. From Table 6, determine the ratings of the six individual classification parameters and the overall RMR value, following the procedure outline in paragraphs 42 through 46 and 52 through 65.
- <u>Step 4</u>. From Figure 9, determine the maximum unsupported rock span possible for a given RMR. If this span is smaller than the span of the proposed tunnel, the heading and bench or multidrift construction should be adopted (see paragraphs 71 and 72).
- <u>Step 5</u>. From Figure 9, determine the stand-up time for the proposed tunnel span. If the tunnel falls below the lower limit line, no support will be required. If the stand-up time is not sufficient for the life of the tunnel, the appropriate support measures must be selected.
- <u>Step 6</u>. From Table 8, select the appropriate tunnel support measures and note that these represent the permanent support.
- <u>Step 7</u>. If foundation design is contemplated for nearby structures, select from Figure 10 the in situ modulus of deformation of the rock mass (see paragraphs 66 and 67).

- <u>Step 8</u>. If the rock slopes near the tunnel portals are to be designed, select from Section D of Table 6 the cohesion and friction data (see paragraph 68).
- <u>Step 9</u>. Consider a monitoring program during the tunnel construction for sections requiring special attention (see paragraph 69).

User's Guide for the Q-System

92. The rock mass quality Q-System, which was developed in Norway in 1974 by Barton, Lien, and Lunde,¹² enables the design of rock support in tunnels and large underground chambers.

- <u>Step 1</u>. Divide the proposed tunnel route into structural regions, such that each region would be geologically similar and would require one type of support category.
- <u>Step 2</u>. Complete classification input data worksheet, as given in Appendix B, for each structural region.
- <u>Step 3</u>. Determine the ratings of the six classification parameters from Tables 11, 12, and 13 and calculate the Q value (see paragraph 75).
- <u>Step 4</u>. Select the excavation category from paragraph 79 and allocate the ESR.
- <u>Step 5</u>. From Figure 12, determine the support category for the Q value and the tunnel span/ESR ratio.
- <u>Step 6</u>. From Tables 14 through 18, select the support measures appropriate to the support category. Calculate the length of rockbolts from paragraph 81.
- <u>Step 7</u>. The selected support measures are for the permanent support. Should it be required to determine the primary support measures, consult paragraph 82.
- <u>Step 8</u>. For comparison purposes, determine the support pressure from paragraph 85.
- <u>Step 9</u>. For record purposes, from Figures 13 and 14, estimate the possible maximum unsupported span and the stand-up time.

Comparison of Procedures

93. For convenience of application, practical examples for using each of the three classification systems are given in paragraphs 41, 70, and 88. A detailed discussion of a selected case history, giving comparisons between Terzaghi's approach and the three classifications, follows in Part IV. It is appropriate, however, to consider here if any relationships or comparisons exist between the three classification systems.

94. A correlation has been attempted between the Geomechanics RMR and the Q-value.²³ A total of 111 case histories were analyzed involving 68 Scandinavian cases, 28 South African cases, and 21 other documented case histories from the United States, Canada, Australia, and Europe. The results are plotted in Figure 17 from which it will be seen that the following relationship is applicable:

$$RMR = 9 \ln Q + 44$$

Rutledge¹⁸ recently determined in New Zealand the following correlations between the three classification systems:

 $RMR = 13.5 \log Q + 43$ (standard deviation = 9.4)RSR = 0.77 RMR + 12.4(standard deviation = 8.9) $RSR = 13.3 \log Q + 46.5$ (standard deviation = 7.0)

95. A comparison of the stand-up time and the maximum unsupported span, as shown in Figures 9, 13, and 14, reveals that the Geomechanics Classification is more conservative than the Q-System, which is a reflection of the different tunneling practice in Scandinavia based on the generally excellent rock and the long experience in tunneling.

96. A comparison of the support recommendations by six different classification systems is given in Table 1. Other comparisons are made in References 17, 18, 23, 27, 28, and 29.

97. Although the above comparisons are interesting and useful, it is believed that one should not necessarily rely on any one classification system but should conduct a sensitivity analysis and cross-check the findings of one classification with another. This could enable a better "feel" for the rock mass.





PART IV: CASE HISTORY OF THE PARK RIVER TUNNEL

98. In order to demonstrate the potential of the tunnel design by rock mass classifications a case history was selected. This involved the Park River Tunnel in Hartford, Connecticut, a water tunnel constructed by the US Army Corps of Engineers. This project was selected because the details of the geological exploration and the current design practice were well documented,⁴³ and even in situ stress measurements were conducted.⁴⁴ In addition, borehole logs were available for examination. The author visited the tunnel during construction and acquainted himself with rock mass conditions before holingthrough took place.

Description of the Tunnel

99. The function of the Park River (auxiliary conduit) Tunnel⁴⁵ is to conduct approximately one-quarter of the maximum flow in the Park River to the Connecticut River. The completed tunnel has a 22-ft inside diameter and extends some 9,100 ft between the intake and outlet shafts. It was excavated through shale and basalt rock at the maximum depth of 200 ft below the surface. The tunnel invert at the outlet shaft is 52 ft below the intake invert with the tunnel sloping at a rate approximately 7 in. per 100 ft. A minimum rock thickness of approximately 50 ft will remain above the crown excavation at the outlet.

100. The 22-ft-diam tunnel was machine bored and lined throughout with precast reinforced concrete segments 9 in. thick. For the drill and blast alternative, the initial design specified the minimum thickness of a cast-in-place reinforced concrete liner as 14 in. (Plate 9a-21 of Reference 44) with additional 8 in. being allowed to the excavation pay line. Thus, the minimum expected concrete thickness would be 22 in. giving the nominal excavation size of 25.7 ft. This nominal excavation size would increase to 27.7 ft where heavy structural support was expected with the concrete liner stipulated as 22 in. thick.

101. Temporary rock support was prescribed for the entire length of the tunnel in the case of the construction by drilling and blasting. Typical

support patterns (for 88 percent of the tunnel) specified 1-1/8-in.-diam rock anchors (rockbolts fully resin bonded but not tensioned), 11 ft long, spaced 4-1/2 ft with shotcrete 1 in. thick without wire mesh. In poor ground condition, the bolt spacing would be between 2 and 4 ft with shotcrete 2 in. thick. In two fault zones, expected to be approximately 300 ft long, structural W8 steel ring beams at 3 ft were considered.

102. The anticipated bid prices (1978 dollars) for the tunnel were \$23.25 million for machine boring with precast liners (or \$1,880 per foot) and up to \$33.37 million for conventional drill and blast construction.

Tunnel Geology

103. In Figure 18, a longitudinal geological section of tunnel is shown. The rocks along the alignment are primarily easterly dipping Triassic sandy red shales/siltstones interrupted by a zone of basalt flows and some limited rock types near the basalt. Bedding is distinct and often regular to the extent that many marker beds correlated between boreholes. Descriptions of the various rock types are given in Table C1, Appendix C.

104. Three main geological zones were distinguished along the tunnel route: 43,45

- a. Shale and basalt zones, constituting 88 percent of the tunnel.
- <u>b</u>. Fractured rock zone (very blocky and seamy), between sta 23 + 10 and 31 + 10 (800 ft).
- <u>c</u>. Two fault zones, one near sta 57 + 50 and the other between sta 89 + 50 and 95 + 50.

105. Bedding and jointing are generally north to south which is perpendicular to the tunnel axis (tunnel will run west to east). The bedding is generally dipping between 10 and 20 deg while the joints are steeply dipping between 70 and 90 deg. Joints in the shale have rough surfaces, and many are very thin and healed with calcite.

106. Groundwater levels measured prior to studies indicated that the piezometric level in the bedrock was normally 142 to 175 ft above the invert of the tunnel.















Figure 18. (Sheet 4 of 4)



Geological Investigations

107. Explorations consisted of core borings, various tests within the boreholes, and a seismic survey. Tests in boreholes included borehole photography, pressure testing, piezometer installation, observation wells, and pump tests.

108. Rock cores from 29 borings were used to determine tunnel geology (18 were NX diam (2.16 in.) and 11 were 4-in. diam). Ten boreholes did not reach tunnel level. All cores were photographed in the field immediately upon removal from the core barrel, and the core was logged, classified, and tested. A typical drill log is given in Figure C1, Appendix C.

109. Borehole photography was employed in 15 boreholes to determine joint orientations and the rock structure.

110. Core samples were selected from 21 localities within the tunnel, near the crown, and within one-half diameter above the crown to determine the density, uniaxial compressive strength, triaxial strength, modulus of elasticity, Poisson's ratio, water content, swelling and slaking, sonic velocity, and joint strength. The results are tabulated in Table C2, Appendix C.

111. In situ stress measurements were conducted in vertical boreholes⁴⁴ involving 15 tests, but only three yielded successful results. Eight tests could not be completed because of gage slipping, and two more because of equipment malfunction. The measured horizontal stress was found to be 452<u>+</u> 133 psi. For the depth of 120 ft, the vertical stress is calculated as 132 psi. This gives the horizontal to vertical stress ratio as 3.4.

Input Data for Rock Mass Classification

112. Input data to enable rock mass classification by the RSR Concept, the Geomechanics Classification, and the Q-System are listed in Figures C2 through C7, Appendix C. The data are presented for each structural region anticipated along the tunnel route. Station limits for each region are shown in Figure 18.

113. It should be noted that all the data entered on the classification input sheets have been derived from the borings, including information on

discontinuity crientation and spacing. This was possible because borehole photography was employed for borehole logging in addition to the usual core logging procedures. However, considerable effort was required in extracting the data from the geological report for the classification purposes since engineering geological information was not systematically summarized in the form of classification input work sheets.⁴⁶

Assessment of Rock Mass Conditions by Classifications

114. Rock mass classifications in accordance with the Terzaghi Method, the RSR Concept, the Geomechanics Classification, and the Q-System are performed in Tables 19, 20, 21, and 22, respectively, and are summarized in Table 23.

115. Three different tunnel sections were designed and offered as bid options 45 :

- 1. Drill and blast with a reinforced variably thick cast-in-place liner designed to meet three ranges of rock loading.
- 2. Machine excavation with a reinforced cast-in-place lining.
- 3. Machine excavation with a reinforced precast lining.

Tunnel Design Features

116. Based on the geological information, the design of the tunnel recognizes the following features, with reference to the geological profile in Figure 18:

- <u>a</u>. Nominal support (8,000 ft): good rock, best average conditions, RQD > 80 percent, water inflow 1 gpm per foot of tunnel.
- b. Heavy support (800 ft): sta 23 + 10 to 31 + 10. The tunnel intersects an area of thin rock cover and thick overburden, and rock conditions at tunnel grade are described as very blocky and seamy. The rock is not tight, dipping 7 to 14 deg, and water inflows of 4 gpm per foot of tunnel are anticipated.

<u>c</u>. Steel support in fault zones (300 ft): sta 93 + 50 to 95 + 50 and 56 + 00 to 57 + 00. Broken rock is assumed due to faulting, dipping between 20 and 60 deg, and a low RQD of 30 percent. Pressure tests showed water inflows of 15-20 gpm per foot of tunnel.

117. The above rock conditions are summarized in Table 19. The designers believed (Reference 43, p. 21) that the actual conditions would exceed the best average conditions in most of the tunnel. For machine excavation, the rock load factors were expected to be reduced by as much as 50 percent in the major portion of the tunnel.

118. Geologic conditions at tunnel grade were considered suitable for machine boring accompanied by precast tunnel lining. Because of the immediate installation of the lining, the tunnel would drain less water under the city than a drill and blast tunnel would. A drill and blast tunnel would stand up to one year before a permanent lining was installed. Machine excavation would also cause less vibrations.

119. The envisaged tunnel designs for each of the three ground conditions are shown in Figure 19. The details of the recommended primary (temporary) support and the final lining for drill and blast construction are presented in Figure 19a. The basic design was based on the Terzaghi Method. For machine tunneling, liner details are given in Figure 19b.

120. As the tunnel will be completely full with water when in operation, the design of the tunnel liner assumed a pressure of 15 psi for contact grouting, which would ensure that the liner remains in compression under net internal load conditions. Grouting was required for the full ring. For purposes of analyzing stresses in the concrete liners, a coefficient of subgrade reaction of 1,000 kci (580 pcf) for the rock was assumed.

121. Tunnel instrumentation was planned to provide for design verification, future design applications, and monitoring of construction effects. Ten test sections at locations based on differing geologic or design conditions were installed throughout the length of the tunnel. These test sections consisted of 10 extensometers (MPBX's) installed from the surface, pore pressure transducers, rockbolt load cells, convergence points, and surface and embedded strain gages installed within the tunnel. The test sections have been arranged to provide the greatest amount of data based on













NOTES: 1. Design of precast segments based on a compressive strength of 5000 pounds per square inch at 28 days. 2. The grouting procedure will have to be carefully monitored during the construction phase to insure uniform pressures throughout the cross section.

b. PRECAST LINER

Figure 19. (Sheet 2 of 2)

the planned construction schedule of a TBM with precast lining. Since the precast segments were designed for the worst ground conditions but were used throughout the tunnel, they were in effect overdesigned for the major portion of the tunnel. If the instrumentation program indicated that higher strength units were needed for a particular section of the tunnel, the design could have been modified by increasing the steel reinforcement, and keeping the same external shape. The purpose of the instrumentation program was to validate design assumptions, and to refine the procedures for future designs.

Construction

122. The tunnel was advanced upgrade from the outlet shaft. Upon completion of the outlet shaft, approximately the first 235 ft of the tunnel was advanced using drill-and-blast excavation to form a U-shaped chamber about 25 ft by 25 ft in cross section. After completion of the drill-and-blast section, a tunnel boring machine (TBM) was assembled in the excavated chamber and the tunnel advance using the TBM began. The machine was a Dobbins fullyshielded rotary hard-rock TBM which cut a 24-ft diam bore. The lining consisted of four-segment precast concrete liner rings which were erected in the tail shield of the TBM. The segments were 9 in. thick.

Comparison of Support Recommendations

123. The support recommendations based on four classification systems are compared in Table 23. The following main conclusions may be drawn:

a. The Terzaghi Method recommended the most extensive support measures, which seem clearly excessive by comparison with the recommendations by the other three classification systems. The reason for this is three-fold: (1) the current permanent lining design does not account fully for the action of the temporary support, which in itself may be sufficient for the structural stability of the tunnel; (2) the original recommendations by Deere et al.⁴ were based on the 1969 technology, which is now much outdated; and (3) not enough use is made of the ability of the rock to support itself and the recent progress in the field of

rock mechanics, i.e., the use of monitoring to assess rock mass stability. Since the Terzaghi Method uses such qualitative rock mass descriptions as "blocky and seamy," this does not utilize fully all the quantitative information that is often available from a site exploration program.

- <u>b</u>. The RSR Concept was not sensitive enough for the rock conditions encountered; its application is limited to temporary steel support design.
- <u>c</u>. Both the Geomechanics Classification and the Q-System gave fairly similar recommendations, and any differences in support prediction by these two methods enabled the designer to exercise a better engineering judgment.

PART V: RESEARCH REQUIREMENTS

124. The present study has revealed a number of aspects in the present tunnel design practice which could benefit from further research. It is believed that improved tunnel design procedures, for the construction of safe and more economical rock tunnels, would result in the following areas:

- a. If a better and more systematic engineering geological description of the rock mass conditions is provided, e.g., in accordance with the input data sheets listed in Appendix B.
- \underline{b} . If there is a better communication and understanding among all the persons concerned with a tunneling project.
- <u>c</u>. If the current tunnel design practice, which is based on the revised Terzaghi Method³⁴, is supplemented by the more modern rock mass classification systems, such as the Geomechanics Classification, the Q-System, and the RSR Concept. These classification systems make full use of the quantitative data from site investigations. No one classification system should necessarily be singled out to the exclusion of the others; instead, a cross-check of the results should be aimed for.
- d. If the action of the temporary support (otherwise known as the primary support) is fully incorporated into the design of the permanent lining, the thickness and the reinforcement of the latter could be greatly reduced without endangering the safety of the tunnel.
- <u>e</u>. If during the tunnel construction a more comprehensive tunnelmonitoring program could be incorporated, similar to the procedures generally envisaged for the so-called New Austrian Tunneling Method (NATM), not only the adopted design could be verified but a safer and more economical tunnel construction would be ensured.
- <u>f</u>. If the reinforced concrete linings for drill-and-blast construction are replaced by shotcrete and mesh linings in the case of rock tunnels, other than possibly water conduits. However, even water tunnels are sometimes left unsupported.⁴⁶
- g. If more research is conducted into the stand-up time of unsupported as well as variously supported rock spans, more confidence could be placed in the predictions from the rock mass classification systems.

 \underline{h} . If more carefully documented tunnel case histories are compiled featuring comparisons between support designs based on different methods, better understanding of design concepts will be achieved.

125. Some of the above requirements deserve further elaboration. Thus, item <u>a</u>. above means that sometimes even when a well-planned geological investigation has been conducted, the data presentation is not well compiled so that much additional time is needed by the rock engineer to extract the parameters needed for design. The use of the worksheets given in Appendix B would greatly simplify the input data collection.

126. For a better communication on a tunneling project, a training program is called for to ensure that the geologists understand the engineers' requirements and that the engineers make it clear as to what is needed and why for design purposes.

127. The NATM technique has a number of possible interpretations and constitutes a study on its own. It should be reviewed in detail and compared with the current tunnel design procedures.

128. The concept of the temporary and permanent support appears quite outdated in view of the current rock engineering technology and its use leads to the overdesign of tunnels. The concept could be reexamined without endangering tunnel safety, because any reduction in tunnel support can be backed by a suitable rock monitoring program.⁴⁷

129. The relationship between the stand-up time and the rock span requires verification from actual case histories in the United States, and a research program directed to this aspect would make a great itribution in the field of rock tunneling.

PART VI: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

<u>Conclusions</u>

130. For the design of rock tunnels, the latest rock mass classification system, such as the RSR Concept, the Geomechanics Classification, and the Q-System, offer a realistic and economical alternative to the tunnel-design procedures based on the Terzaghi (steel support) Method.

131. There is a need for more research in a number of areas of rock tunnel design, and some recommendations are given below.

132. Case histories are not easy to compile due to the lack of sufficient information, both concerning the geology and the design, and yet they constitute a most valuable source of practical knowledge.

Recommendations

- 132. Based on this study, the following recommendations are made:
 - <u>a</u>. The current tunnel design practices should be supplemented by the approaches advocated by such rock mass classification systems as the Geomechanics Classification, the Q-System, and the RSR Concept. Tunnel support recommendations by all these systems should be systematically compared on all tunneling projects.
 - Engineering geological description of rock masses for tunneling purposes should be compiled in accordance with the data worksheets given in Appendix B. This would greatly facilitate a more effective documentation of tunnel case histories.
 - <u>c</u>. A training program for engineering geologists and tunnel engineers should be initiated to ensure a better communication on tunneling projects.
 - <u>d</u>. The principles and potential of the NATM, as the prime example of an observational tunnel design approach, should be investigated as a systematic study and compared with the other design approaches.

- <u>e</u>. Research should be initiated into three areas:
 - (1) The interaction of the temporary and permanent support measures.
 - (2) The relationship bet seen the stand-up time and unsupported, as well as supported, rock spans.
 - (3) Systematic documentation of tunnel case histories for comparison of rock conditions, support design, and construction experience.

REFERENCES

- Hoek, E., and Londe, P., "The Design of Rock Slopes and Foundations," <u>Proceedings, Third International Congress Rock Mechanics, International</u> <u>Society for Rock Mechanics, Denver, Colo., 1974, Vol 1A, pp 613-752.</u>
- Terzaghi, K., "Rock Defects and Loads on Tunnel Support," <u>Rock Tunneling</u> <u>with Steel Supports</u>, eds. R. V. Proctor and T. White, Commercial Shearing Co., Youngstown, Ohio, 1946, pp 15-99.
- 3. Deere, D. U., "Technical Description of Rock Cores for Engineering Purposes," <u>Rock Mechanics and Engineering Geology</u>, Vol 1, No. 1, 1964, pp 17-22.
- 4. Deere, D. U., et al., "Design of Tunnel Support Systems," <u>Highway</u> <u>Research Record</u>, No. 339, 1970, pp 26-33.
- 5. Wickham, G. E., Tiedemann, H. R., and Skinner, E. H., "Support Determination Based on Geologic Predictions," <u>Proceedings, Rapid</u> <u>Excavation Tunneling Conference</u>, <u>American Institution of Mining</u> <u>Engineers</u>, pp 43-64.
- 6. _____, "Ground Support Prediction Model -- RSR Concept," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation Tunneling Conference</u>, <u>American Institution</u> <u>of Mining Engineers</u>, New York, 1974, pp 691-707.
- 7. Coates, D. F., "Classification of Rock for Rock Mechanics," <u>International</u> Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Science, Vol 1, 1964, pp 421-429.
- 8. Franklin, J. A., "Safety and Economy of Tunneling," <u>Proceedings, Tenth</u> <u>Canadian Rock Mechanics Symposium</u>, Kingstone, 1975, pp 27-53.
- 9. Lauffer, H., "Gebirgsklassifizierung fur den Stollenbau," Geologie und Bauwesen, Vol 24, No. 1, 1958, pp 46-51.
- Pacher, F., Rabcewicz, L., and Gosler, J., "Zum Derseitigen Stand der Gebirgsklassifizierung in Stollen-und Tunnelbau," <u>Proceedings, XXII</u> <u>Geomechanics Colloquium</u>, Salzburg, 1974, pp 51-58.
- Louis, C., "Reconnaissance des Massifs Rocheux par Sondages et Classifications Geotechniques des Roches," <u>Annales Sols et Foundations</u>, No. 108, 1974, pp 97-122.
- Barton, N., Lien, R., and Lunde, J., "Engineering Classification of Rock Masses for the Design of Tunnel Support," <u>Rock Mechanics</u>, Vol 6, No. 4, 1974, pp 183-256.
- Bieniawski, Z. T., "Engineering Classification of Jointee Pock Masses," <u>Transactions of the South African Institution of Civil Engineers</u>, Vol 15, No. 12, 1973, pp 335-344.

- 14. Bieniawski, Z. T., "Geomechanics Classification of Rock Masses and its Application in Tunneling," <u>Proceedings, Third International Congress Rock</u> <u>Mechanics, International Society for Rock Mechanics</u>, Denver, Colo., 1974, Vol IIA, pp 27-32.
- 15. Oliver, H. J., "Importance of Rock Durability in the Engineering Classification of Karoo Lock Masses for Tunneling," <u>Exploration for Rock</u> <u>Engineering</u>, ed. Z. T. Bleniawski, A. A. Balkema Press, Rotterdam, 1976, Vol 1, pp 137-144.
- 16. Laubscher, D. H., and Taylor, H. W., "The Importance of Geomechanics Classification of Jointed Rock Masses in Mining Operations," <u>Exploration</u> <u>for Rock Engineering</u>, ed. Z. T. Bieniawski, A. A. Balkema Press, Rotterdam, 1976, Vol 1, pp 119-128.
- 17. Barton, C. M., "A Geotechnical Analysis of Rock Structure and Fabric in the C.S.A. Mine," Geomechanics Paper No. 24, CSIRO, Australia, 1977, pp 1-30.
- Rutledge, T. C., "Engineering Classifications of Rock for the Determination of Tunnel Support," <u>Proceedings, International Tunneling</u> <u>Symposium</u>, Tokyo, 1978, pp A3:1-6.
- 19. Ikeda, K. A., "Classification of Rock Conditions for Tunneling," <u>Proceedings, First International Congress Engineering Geology</u>, <u>International Association of Engineering Geologists</u>, Paris, 1970, pp 1258-1265.
- Protodyakonov, N. M. "Klassifikaci, a Gorotwora" (originally in Russian), translated into French, Tunnels at Ouvrages Souterrains, Vol 1, No. 1, 1974, pp 31-34.
- 21. Kidibinski, A., Gwiazda, J., and Hladysz, Z., "Mechanical Properties of Rocks and Rock Masses Stability Determining by Means of a Hydraulic Borehole Penetrometer," Central Mining Institute Poland, Prace: Seria Dodtkowa, 1978, pp 1-41.
- 22. Strasimirov, A., and Christov, S., "A Uniform Classification of Rock in Road Tunnel Construction," (in Bulgarian), <u>Patista</u>, Vol 13, No. 10, 1974, pp 13-15.
- Bieniawski, Z. T., "Rock Mass Classifications in Rock Engineering," <u>Proceedings, Symposium on Exploration for Rock Engineering</u>, ed. Z. T. Bieniawski, A. A. Balkema Press, Rotterdam, 1976, pp 7-106.
- 24. Bieniawski, Z. T., "Determining Rock Mass Deformability: Experience from Case Histories," <u>International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining</u> <u>Science</u>, Vol 15, 1978, in press, pp 237-247.
- Steffen, O. K. H., "Research and Development Needs in Data Collection for Rock Engineering," <u>Exploration for Rock Engineering</u>, ed. Z. T. Bieniawski, A. A. Balkema Press, Rotterdam, 1976, Vol 2, pp 93-104.

- 26. Stini, I., "Tunnelbaugeologie," Springer-Verlag, Vienna, 1950, p 336.
- 27. Pells, P. J. N., "Discussion on Reference 10," <u>Rock Mechanics</u>, Vol 7, No. 4, 1975, pp 246-248.
- 28. Hoek, E., and Brown, E. T., "Underground Excavation Engineering," Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, 1978, pp 527.
- 29. Houghton, D. A., "The Assessment of Rock Masses and the Role of Rock Quality Indices in Engineering Geology with Reference to Tunneling in Hard Rock," M. S. Thesis, Imperial College, London, 1975, p 122.
- Bieniawski, Z. T., and Maschek, R. K. A., "Monitoring the Behavior of Rock Tunnels during Construction," <u>Transactions of the South African</u> <u>Institution of Civil Engineers</u>, Vol 17, No. 10, 1975, pp 255-264.
- 31. Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers, "Engineering and Design, Tunnels, and Shafts in Rock," Engineer Manual EM 1110-2-2901, Washington, D.C., 15 Jan 1978.
- 32. Cecil, O. S., "Correlation of Rockbolts Shotcrete Support and Rock Quality Parameters in Scandinavian Tunnels," Ph.D. Thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana, 1970, p 414.
- 33. Corling, E. J., Hendron, A. J., and Deere, D. U., "Rock Engineering for Underground Caverns," <u>Proceedings. Symposium on Underground Rock</u> <u>Chambers, American Society of Civil Engineers</u>, Phoenix, Ariz., 1972, pp 567-600.
- 34. Cording, E. J., and Deere, D. U., "Rock Tunnel Supports and Field Measurements," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference</u>, <u>American Institution of Mining Engineers</u>, New York, 1972, pp 601-622.
- 35. Merritt, A. H., "Geologic Prediction for Underground Excavations," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference, American</u> <u>Institution of Mining Engineers</u>, New York, 1972, pp 115-132.
- 36. Brekke, T. L., and Howard, T., "Stability Problems Caused by Seams and Faults," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference, American</u> <u>Institution of Mining Engineers</u>, New York, 1972, pp 25-41.
- 37. Deere, D. U., and Miller, R. P., "Engineering Classification and Index Properties of Intact Rock," Technical Report No. AFNL-TR-65-116, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, New Mexico, 1966.
- 38. Bieniawski, Z. T., "The Point-Load Test in Geotechnical Practice," Engineering Geology, Vol 9, 1975, pp 1-11.
- 39. Deere, D. U., "Geological Considerations," <u>Rock Mechanics in Engineering</u> <u>Practice</u>, eds. R. G. Stagg and O. C. Zienkiewicz, John Wiley and Sons, London, 1968, pp 1-20.

- 40. ASCE Task Committee for Foundation Design Manual, "Subsurface Investigation for Design and Construction: Part II," <u>Journal Soil</u> <u>Mechanics Foundation Division</u>, <u>American Society of Civil Engineers</u>, Vol 98, SM6, Jun 1972, pp 557-578.
- 41. Hoek, E., and Bray, J. W., "Rock Slope Engineering," revised second edition, <u>Institution of Mining and Metallurgy</u>, London, 1977, pp 113-115 and 150-192.
- 42. Selmer-Olsen, R., and Broch, E., "General Design Procedure for Underground Openings in Norway," <u>Proceedings, First International</u> <u>Conference on Storage in Excavated Rock Caverns</u>, Stockholm, 1977, pp 219-226.
- 43. Department of the Army, New England Division, CE, "Park River Local Protection, Connecticut River Basin, Hartford, Connecticut Auxiliary Conduit Tunnel - Site Geology, Foundations, Concrete Materials and Detailed Design of Structures," Design Memorandum No. 9, Dec 1976, Waltham, Mass.
- 44. Nataraja, M., "In Situ Stress Measurements, Park River Project, Hartford, Connecticut," Miscellaneous Paper S-77-22, Nov 1977, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- Blackey, E. A., "Park River Auxiliary Tunnel," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Construction Division</u>, American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol 105, No. C04, 1979, pp 341-349.
- 46. Bieniawski, Z. T., Banks, D. C., and Nicholson, G. A., "Discussion of the Park River Tunnel," <u>Journal of the Construction Division</u>, American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol 106, 1980, pp 616-618.
- 47. Lane, K. S., "Field Test Sections Save Cost in Tunnel Support," <u>Underground Construction Research Council</u>, <u>American Society of Civil</u> <u>Engineers</u>, New York, 1975, pp 53.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abad, J., Celada, B., Chacon, E., Gutierrez, V., and Hildago, E., 1983, Application of Geomechanics Classification to Predict the Convergence of Coal Mine Galleries and to Design their Supports, <u>Proceedings. 5th International</u> <u>Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Melbourne, Australia, Vol. 2, pp. E15-E19.

Baczynski, N. R. P., 1980, "Rock Mass Characterization and Its Application to Assessment of Unsupported Underground Openings," Ph.D. Thesis, University of Melbourne, 233 p.

Barton, N., Lien, R., and Lunde, J., 1974, "Engineering Classification of Rock Masses for the Design of Tunnel Support," <u>Rock Mechanics</u>, Vol. 6, No. 4, pp. 189-236.

Bieniawski, Z. T., 1979, The Geomechanics Classification in Rock Engineering Applications, <u>Proceedings, 4th International Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Montreux, Balkema, Rotterdam, Vol. 2, pp. 41-48.

Bieniawski, Z. T., 1983, "The Geomechanics Classification (RMR System) in Design Applications to Underground Excavations," <u>Proceedings, International</u> <u>Symposium on Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 2, pp. II.33-II.47.

Bieniawski, Z. T., 1984, "The Design Process in Rock Engineering," <u>Rock</u> <u>Mechanics and Rock Engineering</u>, Vol. 17, pp. 183-190.

Bieniawski, Z. T., 1984, <u>Rock Mechanics Design in Mining and Tunneling</u>, A. A. Balkema, Rotterdam pp. 97-133.

Brook, N., and Dharmaratne, P. G. R., 1985, "Simplified Rock Mass Rating System for Mine Tunnel Support," <u>Transactions of the Institution of Mining and</u> <u>Metallurgy</u>, Section A, Vol. 94, July, pp. A148-A154.

Cameron-Clarke, I. S., and Budavari, S., "Correlation of Rock Mass Classification Parameters Obtained from Borecore and In Situ Observations," <u>Engineering Geology</u>, Vol. 17, 1981, pp. 19-53.

Dearman, W. R., 1983, "Classification Systems and Design of Underground Structures Based on Classification Systems," <u>Proceedings, International</u> <u>Symposium on Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, Vol. 2, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, pp. II.5-II.30.

Einstein, H. H., Steiner, W., and Baecher, G. B., "Assessment of Empirical Design Methods for Tunnels in Rock," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and</u> <u>Tunneling Conference</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 683-706.

Einstein, H. H., Thomson, D. E., Azzouz, A. D., O'Reilly, K. P., Schultz, M. S., and Ordun, S., 1983, "Comparison of Five Empirical Tunnel Classification Methods - Accuracy, Effect of Subjectivity and Available Information," <u>Proceedings, 5th International Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Melbourne, Vol. 1, pp. C303-C313.

Fairhurst, C., and Lin, D., 1985, "Fuzzy Methodology in Tunnel Support Design," <u>Proceedings, 26th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics</u>, Balkema, Rotterdam, Vol. 1, pp. 269-278.

Fowell, R. J., and Johnson, S. T., 1982, "Rock Classifications for Rapid Excavation Systems," <u>Proceedings, Symposium on Strata Mechanics</u>, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 241-244.

Gonzalez DeVallejo, L. I., 1983, "A New Rock Classification System for Underground Assessment Using Surface Data," <u>Proceedings, International</u> <u>Symposium on Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, pp. II.85-II.94.

Grainger, G. S., 1986, "Rock Mass Characteristics of the Rocky Mountain Pumped Storage Project Hydroelectric Tunnel and Shaft," <u>Proceedings, 27th U.S.</u> <u>Symposium on Rock Mechanics</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 961-967.

Hoek, E., and Brown, E. T., <u>Underground Excavations in Rock</u>, Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, 527 p.

International Society for Rock Mechanics, <u>ISRM Suggested Methods: Rock</u> <u>Characterization, Testing and Monitoring</u>, ed. E. T. Brown, Pergamon Press, London, 1982.

Jethwa, J. L., Dube, A. K., Singh, B., and Mithal, R. S., 1982, "Evaluation of Methods for Tunnel Support Design in Squeezing Rock Conditions," <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>4th International Congress</u>, International Association of Engineering Geology, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 5, pp. 125-134.

Kaiser, P. K., and Gale, A., 1985, "Evaluation of Two Rock Mass Classification Systems," <u>Rock Mechanics in Excavations for Mining and Civil Works</u>, ISRM, Mexico City, pp. 339-345.

Kaiser, P. K., MacKay, C., and Gale, A. D., 1986, "Evaluation of Rock Classifications at B. C. Rail Tumbler Ridge Tunnels," <u>Rock Mechanics and Rock</u> <u>Engineering</u>, Vol. 19, pp. 205-234.

Kane, W. F., and Karmis, M., 1986, "Geologic and Geotechnical Controls on the Stability of Coal Mine Entries," <u>Proceedings, International Symposium on</u> <u>Application of Rock Characterization Techniques in Mine Design</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 124-132.

Kendorski, F., Cummings, R., Bieniawski, Z. T., and Skinner, E., 1983, "Rock Mass Classification for Block Caving Mine Drift Support," <u>Proceedings, 5th</u> <u>International Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Melbourne, pp. B51-B63. King, R. L., 1986, "Expert Reasoning Models Applied to Mine Geologic Data," <u>Proceedings, 3rd Conference on the Use of Computers in the Coal Industry</u>," Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 65-70.

Lama, R. D., 1986, "Effect of Geological Environments and Direction on Behavior of Roof," <u>Proceedings, International Symposium on Application of Rock</u> <u>Characterization Techniques in Mine Design</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 114-123.

Laubscher, D. H., 1977, "Geomechanics Classification of Jointed Rock Masses -Mining Applications," <u>Transactions of the Institution of Mining and</u> <u>Metallurgy</u>, London, Vol. 93, Sect. A., Vol. 86, pp. Al-A7.

Laubscher, D. H., 1984, "Design Aspects and Effectiveness of Support Systems in Different Mining Situations," <u>Transactions of the Institution of Mining and</u> <u>Metallurgy</u>, London, Vol. 93, Sect. A, pp. 70-81.

Lokin, P., Nijajilovic, R., and Vasic, M., 1983, "An Approach to Rock Mass Classification for Underground Works," <u>Proceedings, 5th International Congress</u> <u>on Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Melbourne, Vol. 1, pp. B87-B92.

Moreno-Tallon, E., 1982, "Comparison and Application of the Geomechanics Classification Schemes in Tunnel Construction," <u>Proceedings, Tunneling '82</u>, Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, London, pp. 241-246.

Nakao, N., and Iihoshi, S., and Koyma, S., 1983, "Statistical Reconsideration on the Parameters for Geomechanics Classification," <u>Proceedings, 5th</u> <u>International Congress of Rock Mechanics</u>, ISRM, Melbourne, Vol. 1, pp. B13-B16.

Newman, D. A., 1985, "<u>The Design of Coal Mine Roof Support and Yielding</u> <u>Pillars for Longwall Mining in the Appalachian Coalfield</u>", Ph.D. Thesis, The Pennsylvania State University, 392 p.

Newman, D. A., and Bieniawski, Z. T., 1985, "A Modified Version of the Geomechanics Classification for Entry Design in Underground Coal Mines," AIME Preprint No. 85-313, 10 p.

Nguyen, V. U., 1985, "Some Fuzzy Set Applications in Mining Geomechanics," <u>International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences</u>, Vol. 22, No. 6, pp. 369-379.

Nguyen, V. U., and Ashworth, E., 1985, "Rock Mass Classification by Fuzzy Sets," <u>Proceedings. 26th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics</u>, Balkema, Rotterdam, Vol. 2, pp. 937-946.

Nicholas, D. E., 1981, "Method Selection - A Numerical Approach," <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>Design and Operation of Caving and Sublevel Stoping Mines</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 34-54. Nicholson, G. A., and Bieniawski, Z. T., 1986, "An Empirical Constitutive Relationship for Rock Mass," <u>Proceedings, 27th U.S. Symposium on Rock</u> <u>Mechanics</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 760-766.

Oliveira, R., Costa, C., and Davis, J., 1983, "Engineering Geological Studies and Design of Castelo Do Bode Tunnel," <u>Proceedings, International Symposium on</u> <u>Geology and Underground Construction</u>, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. I, pp. 11.69-11.84.

Poole, D., 1980, "Ground Classification: Continental and British Practice," <u>Tunnels and Tunnelling</u>, July, pp. 59-62.

Priest, S. D., and Brown, E. T., 1983, "Probabilistic Stability Analysis of Variable Rock Slopes," <u>Transactions of the Institution of Mining Metallurgy</u>, Section A, Vol. 92, pp. A1-A12.

Romano, M., 1985, "New Adjustment Ratings for Application of Bieniawski Classification to Slopes," <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>International Symposium on Rock</u> <u>Mechanics in Excavations for Mining and Civil Works</u>, ISRM, Mexico City, pp. 59-68.

Sandback, 1985, "Road Header Drift Excavation and Geomechanics Rock Classification," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference</u>, AIME, New York, Vol. 2, pp. 902-916.

Serafim, J. L., and Pereira, J. P., 1983, "Considerations of the Geomechanics Classification of Bieniawski," <u>Proceedings, International Symposium on</u> <u>Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, pp. II.33-II.42.

Singh, R. N., Elmherig, A. M., and Sunu, M. Z., 1986, "Application of Rock Mass Characterization to the Stability Assessment and Blast Design in Hard Rock Surface Mining Excavations," <u>Proceedings, 27th U.S. Symposium on Rock</u> <u>Mechanics</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 471-478.

Smith, H. J., 1986, "Estimating Rippability by Rock Mass Classification," <u>Proceedings, 27th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 443-448.

Stewart, D. R., 1986, "A Review of Techniques for Predicting the Natural Fragmentation Characteristics of Block Caving Orebodies," <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>International Symposium on Application of Rock Characterization in Mine</u> <u>Design</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 181-189.

Udd, J. E., and Wang, H., 1985, "A Comparison of Some Approaches to the Classification of Rock Masses for Geotechnical Purposes," <u>Proceedings, 26th</u> <u>U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics</u>, Balkema, Rotterdam, Vol. 1, pp. 69-78.

Unal, E., 1983, <u>Design Guidelines and Roof Control Standards for Coal Mine</u> <u>Roofs</u>, Ph.D. Thesis, The Pennsylvania State University, 355 p. Unrug, K., and Szwilski, T. B., 1982, "Methods of Roof Cavability Prediction," <u>Proceedings, State-of-the-Art of Ground Control in Longwall Mining and Mining</u> <u>Subsidence</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 13-30.

Venkateswarlu, V., 1983, "Prediction of Roof Conditions Through Geotechnical Studies - An Approach," <u>Journal of Mines, Metals, and Fuels</u>, March, pp. 94-100.

Wickham, G. E., Tiedemann, H. R., and Skinner, E., 1974, "Ground Control Prediction Model - RSR Concept," <u>Proceedings, Rapid Excavation and Tunneling</u> <u>Conference</u>, AIME, New York, pp. 691-707.

Zadeh, L. A., 1965, "Fuzzy Sets," <u>Information and Control</u>, Vol. 8, No. 3, June, pp. 338-353.

Zhen-Yu, T., and Zu-Zeng, P., 1983, "Classification System of Fuzzy Sets for Rock Engineering," <u>Proceedings, International Symposium on Engineering Geology</u> <u>and Underground Construction</u>, LNEC, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, pp. II.-1 -II.-9.

1 cel i t v	Geomechanics Class	Classification (Bieniavski, 19733)	NGI Classifi	cation: <u>Q-System (Barton, 197412)</u>	RSR Clas	sification (Wickham, 19725) Sunnort
н б	I Very good rock RMR = 83	Occasional spot bolting.	Gond rock Q = 33,0	Spot bolting only	RSR = 68	Bolts 25 mm dia. at 2 m (length not given)
17 H	II Good rock RMR = 67	<pre>Locally, grouted bolts (20 mm dia.) spaced 2-2,5 m, length 2,5 m plus mesh; shotcrete 50 mm thick if req.</pre>	Good rock Q = 12,5	Systematic grouted bolts (20 mm dia.) spaced 1 m - 2 m; length 2,8 m.	rsr = 60	Bolts spaced 1,4 m, shot- crete 35-45 mm or medium ribs at 2 m
Н 5	III Fair rock RMER = 52	Systematic grouted bolts spaced 1,5- 2 m, length 3 m plus mesh and 100 mm thick shotcrete.	Fair rock Q = 8,5	Systematic grouted bolts spaced 1,5 m, length 2,8 m; and mesh	RSR = 57	Bolts spaced 1,2 m and 50 mm shotcrete or ribs 6H20 at 1,7 mm
н 3	IV Poor rock RMR = 29	Systematic grouted bolts spaced 1- 1,5 m, length 3 m, mesh plus 100- 150 mm shotcrete (ribs at 1,5 m).	Poor rock Q = 1,5	Shotcrete only: 25-75 mm thick or bolts at 1 m, 20-30 mm shotcrete and mesh.	RSR = 52	Bolts spaced 1 m and 75 mm shotcrete or ribs 6H20 at 1,2 m.
S H	V Very poor rock RMR = 15	Systematic grouted bolts spaced 0,7-1 m, length 3,5 m, 150-200 mm shotcrete and mesh plus medium steel ribs at 0,7 m. Closed invert.	Extremely poor rock Q = 0,09	Shotcrete only: 75-100 mm thick or tensioned bolts at 1 m plus 50-75 mm shotcrete and mesh.	RSR = 25	N/A*
	RQD CL	assification (Deere, 1969 ²)		Austrian Classification (Rabcewicz/Pacher, 1974 ¹⁰)	French Cl	assification (Louis, 1974 ¹¹)
н б	Excellent RQD > 90	Occasional bolts only.	I Stable	Bolts 26 mm dia., 1,5 m long spaced 1,5 m in roof plus wire mesh.	A	50-mm shotcrete or 3 m long bolts at 3,1 m.
7 H	Good RQD: 75-90	Bolts 25-mm dia., 2 m-3 m long spaced 1,5-1,8 m and some mesh or 50-75 shotcrete or light ribs.	II Over- breaking	Bolts 2-3 m long spaced 2-2,5 m, shotcrete 50-100 mm with mesh.	æ	100 mm shotcrete with mesh and 3 m bolts at 2,8 m.
H N	Fair to good RQD: 50-90	Bolts 2 m-3 m long at 0,9-1 m plus mesh or 50-100 mm shotcrete or light/medium ribs at 1,5 m.	III Fractured to very fractured	Perfo-bolts 26 mm dia., 3-4 m long spaced 2 m plus 150 mm shotcrete plus vire mesh and steel arches TH16 spaced 1,5 m.	υ	150 mm shotcrete vith mesh and 3 m bolts at 2,5 m.
Н 3	Poor RQD: 25-50	Bolts 2 m-3 long at 0,6-1,2 m with mesh or 150 mm shotcrete with bolts at 1,5 m or medium to heavy ribs.	IV Stressed rock	Perfo-bolts 4 m long, spaced 1 m by 2 m plus 200 mm shotcrete plus mesh plus steel arches TH21 spaced 1 m. Concrete lining 300 mm.	۵	210 mm shotcrete with mesh and 3 m bolts at 2 m and steel ribs.
Н 5	Very poor RQD < 25	150 mm shotcrete all around plus medium to heavy circular ribs at 0,6 m centres with lagging.	V Very stressed rock	Perfo-bolts 4 m long spaced 1 m plus 250 mm shotcrete plus mesh and steel arches TH29 spaced 0,75 m. Closed invert. Concrete lining 500 mm.	ea س	240 mm shotcrete vith mesh and 3 m bolts at 1,7 m; steel ribs at 1,2 m. Closed invert.

Comparison of Rock Mass Classifications Applied at the Overall Tunnel (Width 5,5 m)

Table 1

Not applicable.

Tal	ole	2
-----	-----	---

Rock Structure Rating - Parameter A

Parameter "A" General Area Geology Max, Value 30 Basic Rock Type Geological Structure Hard Med. Soft Decomp. 4 Intensely Igneous 1 2 3 Slightly Moderately Faulted Faulted Massive Faulted 4 3 Metamorphic 2 1 or or or 3 4 4 Folded Folded Folded 2 Sedimentary Type 1 30 22 15 9 8 Туре 2 27 20 13 24 18 12 7 Type 3 6 Type 4 19 15 10

Rock Structure Rating

IN INCHES	56 - 6 48 - 6 40 - 32 - 5 5		<u>Ro</u>	ck Structu <u>Parameter</u> Joint Pat irection o	re Rating "B" tern f Drive				
ž	24 -						_	Max.	Value 45
A C	16-		Str	ike 🔟 to	Axis		Str	ike 📙 to	Axis
ŝ	8 - 3		Dire	<u>ction of D</u>	rive		Dir	ection of	Drive
		<u>Both</u>	With	Dip	Again	st Dip		Both	
	0 8 16 24 32 40 48 56		Dip_of	Prominent	Joints*		<u>Dip o</u>	f Prominer	t Joints*
	THICKNESS IN INCHES	Flat	Dipping	Vertical	Dipping	Vertical	Flat	Dipping	Vertical
1	Very closely jointed	9	11	13	10	12	9	9	7
2	Closely jointed	13	16	19	15	17	14	1 ¹	11
3	Moderately jointed	23	24	28	19	22	23	23	19
4	Moderate to blocky	30	32	36	25	28	30	28	24
5	Blocky to massive	36	38	40	33	35	36	34	28
£	Mansive	40	43	45	37	40	40	38	34

 Table 3

 Rock Structure Rating - Parameter B

* (1): flat - 0 to 20 deg; dipping - 20 to 50 deg; and vertical - 50 to 90 deg.

Ta	b	1	e	-4
_	_	_	-	

Rock Structure Rating - Parameter C

Rock Structure Rating
Parameter "C"
Ground Water
Joint Condition

					Max. Va	alue 25
Anticipated		S	um of Param	neters A + 1	3	
Water		13 - 44			45 - 75	
Inflow			Joint Cor	dition*		
(gpm/1000')	Good	Fair	Poor	Good	Fair	Poor
None	22	18	12	25	22	18
Slight (<200 gpm)	19	15	9	23	19	14
Moderate (200-1000 gpm)	15	11	7	21	16	12
Heavy (>1000 gpm)	10	8	6	18	14	10

* Joint condition: Good = tight or cemented; Fair = slightly weathered or altered; Poor = severely weathered, altered, or open.

Diameter
Tunnel
and
Load
Rock
ę
Rating
k Structure
Rocl
of
Correlation

Tunnel				(Wr) F	sock Loa	id on Tu	unnel Ar	rch (k/s	q ft)			
Diameter	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	3.0	ں 7	5.0	6.0	7.0	8•0	0.6	10.0
(D)			Corres	sponding	yalues	s of Roc	ik Struc	sture Ra	tings (RSR)		
10,	62.5	49.9	40.2	32.7	21.6	13.8						
12'	65.0	53.7	44.7	37.5	26.6	18.7						
14,	60.9	56.6	48.3	4.14	30.8	22.9	16.8					
16'	68.3	59.0	51.2	44.7	34.4	26.6	20.4	15.5				
18'	69.5	61.0	53.7	47.6	37.6	29.9	23.8	18.8				
20,	70.4	62.5	55.7	49.9	40.2	32.7	26.6	21.6	17.4			
22'	71.3	63.9	57.5	51.9	42.7	35.3	29.3	24.3	20.1	16.4		
24,	72.0	65.0	59.0	53.7	44.7	37.5	31.5	26.6	22.3	18.7		
26'	72.6	66.1	60.3	55.3	46.7	39.6	33.8	28.8	24.6	20.9	17.7	
28,	73.0	60.9	61.5	56.6	48.3	41.4	35.7	30.8	26.6	22.9	19.7	16.8
30'	73.4	67.7	62.4	57.8	49.8	43.l	37.4	32.6	28.4	24.7	21.5	18.6

Table 5

GEOMECHANICS CLASSIFICATION OF JOINTED ROCK MASSES

A. CLASSIFICATION PARAMETERS AND THEIR RATINGS

	PAR	AMETER		RAI	IGES OF VALUES				
	Strength of	Paint-load strength index	> 10 MPa	4 - 10 MPa	2 - 4 MPa	1 - 2 MPa	For t - uni sive te	his low r. axial con ist is pre	ange npres- terred
1	intact roack material	Uniaxiai compressive strength	>250 MPa	100 - 250 MPa	50 - 100 MPa	25 - 50 MPa	5-25 MPa	1-5 MP8	, 1 MP∎
		Rating	15	12	7	4	5	1	0
	Drill co	ore quality RQD	90% - 100%	75% - 90%	50% - 75%	25% - 50%		< 25%	
2		Rating	20	17	13	8		3	
	Spacing o	of discontinuities	~2 m	0.6 - 2 m	200 - 600 mm	60 -200 mm		60 mm	
3		Rating	20	15	10	8		5	
4	Condition of discontinuities		Very rough surfaces. Not continuous No seperation Unweathered wall rock.	Slightly rough surfaces. Separation < 1 mm Slightly weathered walls	Slightly rough surfaces. Separation < 1 mm Highly weathered walls	Slickensided surfaces OR Gouge < 5 mm thick OR Separation 1-5 mm Continuous	Soft go Sepa	uge > 5 n OR ration > Continou	nm thick 5 mm IS
		Reting	30	25	20	10		0	
		inflow per 10 m tunnel length	None	<10 lit res/min	10-25 litres/min	25 - 125 litres/min	08	> 125	
5	Ground water	Ratio major principal stress	0	0.0-0.1	0.1-0.2	0,2-0.5	08	> 0.5	
-		General conditions	Completely dry	Damp	Wet	Oripping		Flowing	
	R	lating	15	10	7	4		0	

8. RATING ADJUSTMENT FOR JOINT ORIENTATIONS

Strike a orientation	nd dip a of joints	Very favourable	Favourable	Fair	Unfavourable	Very unfavourable
	Tunneis	0	-2	-5	-10	-12
Ratings	Foundations	0	-2	-7	-15	-25
	Slopes	0	-5	-25	-50	-60

C. ROCK MASS CLASSES DETERMINED FROM TOTAL RATINGS

Rating	100 81	80	60-41	40-21	< 20
Class No	ŀ	11	111	IV	v
Description	Very good rock	Good rock	Fair rock	Poor rock	Very poor rock

D MEANING OF BOCK MASS CLASSES

Class No	J	н		iV	v
Average stand-up time	10 years for 15 m span	5 months for 8 m span	1 week for 5 m span	10 hours for 2.5 m span	30 minutes for 1 m span
Cohesion of the rock mass	400 kPa	300 - 400 kPB	200 - 300 kPa	100 - 200 kPa	100 kPa
Friction angle of the rock masa	- 45*	35* - 45*	25* - 35*	15 * - 25*	15*

Ē
-
-
ື
~
-
-
-
-
5
0
50
ω Ψ
- 23
_
• • • •
یے ۔
ຸ
~
0
- 0
ഗ
- T
\Box
سب
~
0
– C
-
• •
_
- C
ື
- 11
0
_
- a
-
- 10
ř
-
ଷ
-
ð
e
ke
ike
rike
rike
trike
Strike
Strike
Strike
t Strike
nt Strike
nt Strike
int Strike
int Strike
oint Strike
Joint Strike
Joint Strike
Joint Strike
f Joint Strike
of Joint Strike
of Joint Strike
of Joint Strike
: of Joint Strike
t of Joint Strike
ct of Joint Strike
ect of Joint Strike
ect of Joint Strike
fect of Joint Strike
ffect of Joint Strike
iffect of Joint Strike

Dip 0 ⁰ -20 ⁰	Irrespective	of Strike	Fair
arallel	Axis	Dip 20°-45°	Fair
Strike F	to Tunnel	Dip 45°-90°	Very unfavorable
	nst Dip	Dip 20 ⁰ -45 ⁰	Unfavorable
to Tunnel Axis	Drive agai	Dip 45°-90°	Fair
ke Perpendicular	vith Dip	Dip 20 ⁰ -45 ⁰	Favorable
Strik	Drive	Dip 45°-90°	Very favorable

Rosk Mass		Bockholts* (Length: 1/3 to	Support	
(1ass	Excavation	1/2 Tunnel Width)	Shotcrete	Steel Sets
Very good rock I FMR: 81-100	Full face. 10 ft - advance	Generally n for oc	10 support required exce casional spot bolting	pt
Good rock II EMR: 61-80	Full face. 3-5 ft advance Complete support 60 ft from face.	Locally bolts in roof 10 ft long, spaced 8 ft with occasional wire mesh.	2 in. in roof where required.	None
Fair rock III RMR: 41-60	Top heading and bench 5-10 ft advance in top heading. Commence support after each blast. Complete support 20 ft from face.	Systematic bolts 12 ft long, spaced 5-6 ft in roof and walls with wire mesh in crown.	2 to 4 in. in roof and 1 in. on walls.	None
Foor rock IV RMR: 21-40	Top heading and bench 3-5 ft advance in top heading. Install support concurrently with excavation.	Systematic bolts 12-15 ft long, spaced 3-5 ft in roof and walls with wire mesh.	<pre>4 to 6 in. in roof and 4 in. on walls.</pre>	Light to medium ribs spaced 5 ft where required.
Very poor rock V RMR: <20	Multiple drifts. 1.5-3 ft advance in top heading. Install support concurrently with excavation. Shotcrete as soon as possible afte. blasting.	Systematic bolts 15-20 ft long, spaced 3-5 ft in roof and walls with wire mesh. Bolt invert.	6 to 8 in. in roof, 6 in. on walls and 2 in. on face.	Medium to heavy ribs spaced 2 ft 6 in. with steel lagging and forepoling if required. Close invert.

* Length of bolts specified here is applicable to tunnels 30 ft wide.

Table 8

Geomechanics Classification Guide for Excavation and Support of Rock Tunnels

Table 9

	Uniaxial	Compressive ngth	
Description	lbf/in ²	MPa	Examples of Rock Types
Very low strength	150-3500	1-25	Chalk, rocksalt.
Low strength	3500-7500	25-50	Coal, siltstone, schist.
Medium strength	7500-15000	50-100	Sandstone, slate, shale.
High strength	15000-30000	100-200	Marble, granite, gneiss.
Very high strength	>30000	>200	Quartzite, dolerite, gabbro, basalt.

Classification of Intact Rock Strength³⁷

Table 10Classification for Discontinuity Spacing

Description	Spacin Disconti	g of nuities	Rock Mass Grading
Very wide	>2 m	>6 ft	Solid
Wide	0.6 to 2 m	2 ft to 6 ft	Massive
Moderately close	200 to 600 mm	8 in. to 2 ft	Blocky/seamy
Close	60 to 200 mm	2 in. to 8 in.	Fractured
Very close	<60 mm	<2 in.	Crushed and shattered

Q-System:	Description a	and Ratings	- RQD, J _n ,	an	1 J _r ¹²
	Rock Qualit	ty Designat	ion (RQD)		
Very poor	••	0-25	Not	: <u>e</u> :	
Poor	••	25-50	(i)	Where RQD is reported or
Fair	••	50 - 75			measured as < 10 (including 0) a nominal value of 10 is
Good	••	75-90			used to evaluate Q in
Excellent		90-100	(i	i)	RQD intervals of 5, i.e. 100, 95, 90 etc. are sufficiently accurate.
	Joint	Set Number	(J _n)		
Massive, no or few join	ts (0.5-1.0	Not	: <u>e</u> :	
One joint set	••	2	(i)	For intersections use
One joint set plus rand	om	3			$(3.0 \times J_n)$
Two joint sets	••	4	(1	.i)	for portals use $(2.0 \times J_{\perp})$
Two joint sets plus random	••	6			n
Three joint sets	••	9			
Three joint sets plus random		12			
Four or more joint sets random, heavily jointed "sugar cube", etc	, ,	15			
Crushed rock, earthlike		20			
	Joint Rou	ighness Num	ber (J _r)		
(a) Rock wall contact a(b) Rock wall contact before 10 cms shear			<u>Not</u> (<u>e</u> : i)	Add 1.0 if the mean spacing
Discontinuous joints	••	4			is greater than 3 m.
Rough or irregular, undulating		3			
Smooth, undulating	• •	2	Not	<u>e</u> :	
Slickensided, undulating	5	1.5	(i	i)	$J_r = 0.5$ can be used for
Rough or irregular, planar	•	1.5			planar slickensided joints having lineation, provided
Smooth, planar	•	1.0			favorably orientated.
Slickensided, planar	•	0.5	(ii	i)	Descriptions B to G refer
(c) No rock wall contact when sheared	:				to small scale features and intermediate scale features, in that order.
Zone containing clay minerals thick enough to prevent rock wall contact	, t 1.0 (nominal)			
Sandy, gravelly or crushed zone thick enoug to prevent rock wall	;h				
contact	. 1.0 (nominal)			

Table 11

	Joint Alters	tion Number	
		(J _a)	ϕ_r (approx.)
	(a) Rock wall contact	~	·
Α.	Tightly healed, hard, nonsoftening, impermeable filling i.e. quartz or epidote	0.75	(-)
в.	Unaltered joint walls, surface staining only	1.0	(25°-35°)
c.	Slightly altered joint walls. Non- softening mineral coatings, sandy particles, clay-free disintegrated rock etc	2.0	(25°-30°)
D.	Silty-, or sandy-clay coatings, small clay-fraction (non-softening)	3.0	(20°-25°)
E.	Softening or low friction clay mineral coatings, i.e. kaclinite, mica. Also chlorite, talc, gypsum and graphite etc., and small quantities of swelling clays. (Discontinuous coatings, 1-2 mm or less in thickness)	4.0	(8°-16°)
	(b) Rock wall contact before 10 cms shear		
F.	Sandy particles, clay-free disintegrated rock etc	4.0	(25°-30°)
G.	Strongly over-consolidated, non- softening clay mineral fillings (Continuous, <5 mm in thicknes)	6.0	(16°-24°)
н.	Medium or low over-consolidation, softening, clay mineral fillings. (continuous, <5 mm in thickness)	8.0	(12°-16°)
J.	Swelling clay fillings, i.e. montmorillonite (Continuous, <5 mm in thicknes). Value of J depends on percent of swelling clay-size particles, and access to water etc	8.0-12.0	(6°-12°)
	(c) No rock wall contact when sheared		
К., L., М.	Zones or bands of disintegrated or crushed rock and clay (see G., H., J. for description of clay condition)	6.c, 8.0 or 8.0-12.0	(6°-24°)
N.	Zones or bands of silty- or sandy clay, small clay fraction (nonsoftening)	5.0	
0., P.,	Thick, continuous zones or bands of clay (see G., H., J. for description of clay condition)	10.0, 13.0 or 13.0-20.0	(6°-24°)

Table 12 Q-System: Description and Ratings - J ¹² a

(i) Values of $(\phi)_r$ are intended as an approximate guide to the mineralogical properties of the alteration products, if present.

	Stress	Reduction Factor	
		(SRF)	
	 (a) Weakness zones intersecting excavation, which may cause loosening of rock mass when tunnel is excavated. 		<u>Note</u> : (i) Reduce these values
۸.	Multiple occurrences of veakness zones contain- ing clay or chemically disintegrated rock, very loose surrounding rock (any depth)	10.0	the relevant shear zones only influence but do not intersect
в.	Single weakness zones containing clay, or chemically disintegrated rock (depth of excava- tion <50 m)	5.0	the excavation.
c.	Single, weakness zones containing clay, or chemically disintegrated rock (depth of excava- tion >50 m).	2.5	
D.	Multiple shear zones in competent rock (clay free), loose surrounding rock (any depth)	7.5	
E.	Single shear zones in competent rock (clay free) (depth of excavation <50 m)	5.0	
F.	Single shear zones in competent rock (clay free) (depth of excavation >50 m)	2.5	
G.	Loose open joints, heavily jointed or "sugar cube" etc. (any depth)	5.0	
	(b) Competent rock, rock stress problems.		
	$\sigma_{c}^{\sigma_{1}} \sigma_{t}^{\sigma_{1}}$		
Ħ.	Low stress, near surface >200 >13	2.5	(ii) For strongly aniso- tropic stress field
J. K.	Medium stress 200-10 13-0.66 High stress, very tight structure (Usually favor- able to stability, may be unfavorable to vall stability) 10-5 0.66-0.33	1.0 0.5-2.0	(if measured): when $5 \le \sigma_1/\sigma_3 \le 10$, re- duce σ_c and σ_t to $0.8 \sigma_c$ and $0.8 \sigma_t$; when $\sigma_1/\sigma_3 \ge 10$, re- duce σ_c and σ_t to
L.	Mild rock burst (massive rock)	5-10	0.6 σ_c and 0.6 σ_t where: $\sigma_c = uncon-$
м.	Heavy rock burst (massive rock)	10-20	strength, $\sigma_t =$ tensile strength
	(c) Squeezing rock; plastic flow of incompetent rock under the influence of high rock pressures.		(point load), σ_1 and $\sigma_3 = major and minor principal stresses.$
N.	Mild squeezing rock pressure	5-10	
٥.	Heavy squeezing rock pressure	10-20	(iii) Few case records
	(d) Swelling rock; chemical swelling activity depending on presence of water		available where depth of crown below surfac is less than span
Ρ.	Mild swelling rock pressure	5-10	width. Suggest SRF
R.	Heavy swelling rock pressure	10-15	increase from 2.5 to

Table 13 Q.System: Description and Ratings - SRF and J_{y}^{12}

		(J.)	Approx. water pressure (kg/cm ²)		
A.	Dry excavations or minor inflow, i.e. 5 l/min. locally	1.0	<1	<u>Note</u> : (i)	Factors C to F are
в.	Medium inflow or pressure occasional outwash of joint fillings	0.66	1.0-2.5		crude estimates. In- crease J_{y} if drainage
c.	Large inflow or high pressure in competent rock with unfilled joints	0.5	2.5-10.0	(ii)	special problems caused
D.	Large inflow or high pressure, considerable outwash of joint fillings	0.33	2.5-10.0		by ice formation are not considered.
E.	Exceptionally high inflow or water pressure at blasting, decaying with time	0.2-0.1	>10.0		
F.	Exceptionally high inflow or water pressure continuing without noticeable decay	0.1-0.05	>10.6		

		Condition	l Factors		P			
Category		RQD/J _n	J _F /J _n	ESR (m)	(approx.)	ESR (m)	Support	(Table 18)
7.e 3.e 7.e	1000-400 1000-400 1000-400 1000-400				< 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01 < 0.01	20-40 30-60 46-80 65-100	sb (utg) sb (utg) sb (utg) sb (utg)	
5• 6• 7• 8*	400-100 400-100 400-100 400-100				0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05	12-30 19-45 30-65 48-88	sb (utg) sb (utg) sb (utg) sb (utg)	
9	100-40	<u>_</u> 20 <20			0.25	8.5-19	sb (utg) B (utg) 2.5-3 m	
10	100-40	<u>></u> 30 ≤30			0.25	14-30	B (utg) 2-3 m B (utg) 1.5-2 m +clm	
11•	100-40	<u>></u> 30 ≺30			0.25	23-48	B (tg) 2-3 m B (tg) 1.5-2 m +clm	
12•	100-40	<u>></u> 30 ≤30			0.25	40-72	B (tg) 2-3 m B (tg) 1.5-2 m +clm	
13	40-10	≥10 ≤10 <10	≥1.5 <1.5 ≥1.5 <1.5		0.5	5-14	<pre>sb (utg) B (utg) 1.5-2 m B (utg) 1.5-2 m B (utg) 1.5-2 m B (utg) 1.5-2 m +S 2-3 cm</pre>	I I I
4 L	b 0-10	<u>></u> 10 <10		≥15 ≥15	0.5	9-23	B (tg) 1.5-2 m +clm B (tg) 1.5-2 m	1, 11 1, 11
				<15			+S (mr) 5~10 cm B (utg) 1.5-2 m +clm	1, 111
15	40-10	>10			0.5	15-40	B (tg) 1.5-2 m +clm	1, 11, IV
		<u>s</u> to					ы (tg) 1.5-2 m +S (mr) 5~10 cm	1, 11, 10
16* See	40-10	>15			0.5	30-65	B (tg) 1.5-2 m +clm	I, V, VI
note XII		<u><</u> 15					B (tg) 1.5-2 m +S (mmr) 10-15 cm	I, V, VI

Table 14								
Q-System:	Support Measures for Rock Masses of "Exceptional," "Extremely Good,"							
	"Very Good," and "Good" Quality (Q Pange: 1000-10) ¹²							

⁴ Authors' estimates of support. Insufficient case records available for reliable estimation of support requirements. The type of support to be used in categories 1 to 8 will depend on the blasting technique. Smooth wall blasting and thorough barring-down may remove the need for support. Rough-wall blasting may result in the need for single applications of rhotcrete, especially where the excavation height is ²⁵⁷ m. Future case records should differentiate categories 1 to 8. Key to Support Tables 14-17. M = most point bolting; B = systematic bolting. In systematic bolting. Support Groupe for completent rock masses, grouted point very por quality rock masses, see note XII, S = shotcrete, (mr) = mesh reinforced, clm = chain link mesh, CCA = cast concrete arch, (sr) steel reinforced. Bolt spacings are given in metres (mr).

Support Category		Conditional RQD/J n	Factors	SPAN/ ESR	P Kg/cm ² (approx.)	SPAN/ ESR (m)	Type of Support	Note (Table 18)
17	10-4	>30 ≥10, <u><</u> 30 <10		<u>26</u> m	1.0	3.5-9	sb (utg) B (utg) 1~1.5 m B (utg) 1~1.5 m +S 2-3 cm	I I I
		<10		<0 m			S 2-3 cm	1
18	10-4	>5		<u>></u> 10 m	1.0	7-15	B (tg) 1-1.5 m +clm	1, 111
		>5		<10 m			B (utg) 1~1.5 m +clm	I
		5		<u>></u> 10 m			B (tg) 1-1.5 m +S 2-3 cm	I, III
		5		<10 m			B (utg) 1-1.5 m +S 2-3 cm	I
19	10-4			<u>≥</u> 20 m.	1.0	12-29	B (tg) 1-2 m +S (mr), 10-15 cm	I, II, IV
				<20 m.			B (tg) 1-1.5 m +S (mr) 5-10 cm	I, II
20 *	10-4			<u>≥</u> 35 m	1.0	24-52	B (tg) 1-2 m +S (mr) 20-25 cm	I, V, VI
note XII				<35 m.			B (tg) 1-2 m +S (mr) 10-20 cm	I, II, IV
21	4-1	<u>≥</u> 12.5	<u>≤</u> 0.75		1.5	2.1-6.5	B (utg) 1 m +S 2-3 cm	I
		<12.5	<u><</u> 0.75 >0.75				S 2.5-5 cm B (utg) 1 m	I
22	4-1	>10, <30 <u><</u> 10 <30	>1.0 >1.0 <1.0	 	1.5	4.5-11.5	B (utg) 1 m + clm S 2.5-7.5 cm B (utg) 1 m	I I I
		<u></u> ≩30					+S (mr) 2.5+5 cm B (utg) 1 m	I
23	4-1			<u>></u> 15 m	1.5	8-24	B (tg) 1-1.5 m +S (mr) 10-15 cm	I, II, IV,
				<15 m			B (utg) 1-1.5 m +S (mr) 5-10 m	I
24# See	L-1			<u>></u> 30 m	1.5	18-46	B (tg) 1-1.5 m +S (mr) 15-30 cm	I, V, VI
note XII				<30 m			B (tg) 1-1.5 m +S (mr) 10-15 cm	I, II, IV

				Tabl	e 15					
Q-System:	Support	Measures	for	Rock	Masses	of	"Fair"	and	"Poor"	Quality
		<u> </u>		ange :	10-1)	12				

• Survey' Hotomates of supports distificient case records available for relative estimation of support requirements.

Support		Conditi	onal	SPAN/	P kg/cm ²	SPAN/	Type of	Note
Category	9	RQD/Jr	J_r/J_B	ESR (m)	(approx.)	ESR (m)	Support	(Table 18)
25	1.0-0.4	>10 ≤10	>0.5 >0.5 <u><</u> 0.5	 	2.25	1.5-4.2	B (utg) l m + mr or clm B (utg) l m + S (mr) 5 cm B (tg) l m + S (mr) 5 cm	I I I
26	1.0-0.4				2.25	3.2-7.5	B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 5-7.5 cm	VIII, X, XI
							B (utg) 1 m + S 2.5-5 cm	I, IX
27	1.0-0.4			<u>≥</u> 12 m	2.25	6-18	B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 7.5-10 cm	I, IX
				<12 m			B (utg) 1 m +S (mr) 5-7.5 cm	I, IX
				>12 m			CCA 20-40 cm +B (tg) 1 m	VIII, X, XI
				<12 m			S (mr) 10-20 cm +B (tg) 1 m	VIII, X, XI
28 [#] See	1.0-0.4			<u>≥</u> 30 m	2.25	15-38	B(tg) m +S(mr) 30-40 cm	I, IV, V, IX
note XII				<u>≥</u> 20, <30			B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 20-30 cm	I, II, IV, IX
				<20 m			B(tg) 1 m +S(mr) 15-20 cm	I, II, IX
							CCA (sr) 30-100 cm +B (tg) 1 m	IV, VIII, X, XI
29*	0.4-0.1	>5	>0.25		3.0	1.0-3.1	B (utg) 1 m + S 2-3 cm	
		<u>≤</u> 5 	≥0.25 <u>≤</u> 0.25				B (utg) 1 m + S (mr) 5 cm B (tg) 1 m + S (mr) 5 cm	
30	0.4-0.1	≥5			3.0	2.2-6	B (tg) 1 m + S 2.5-5 cm	IX
		< 5					S(mr) 5-7.5 cm	IX
							B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 5-7.5 cm	VIII, X, XI
31	0.4-0.1	>lı			3.0	4-14.5	B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 5-12.5 cm	-1X
		<u>≤4. ≥</u> 1.5					S (mr) 7.5-25 cm	IX
		<1.5					CCA 20-40 cm +B (tg) 1 m	IX, XI
							CCA (sr) 30-50 cm +B (tg) 1 m	VIII, X, XI
32 See	0.4-0.1			<u>≥</u> 20 m	3.0	11-34	B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 40-60 cm	II, IV, IX, XI
note XII				<20 m			B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 20-40 cm	III, IV, IX, XI
							CCA (sr) 40-120 cm +B (tg) 1m	IV, VIII, X, XI

 Table 16

 Q-System: Support Measures for Rock Masses of "Very Poor" Quality (Q Range: 1.0-0.1)¹²

• Authors' estimates of support. Insufficient case records available for reliable estimation of support requirements.

Q-System: Support Measures for Rock Masses of "Extremely Poor" and

"Exceptionally Foor" Quality (Q Range: 0.1-0.001)¹²

		Condit	tional					
Support Category	G	Fac RQD/Jn	tors Jr/Ja	SPAN/ ESR (m)	Kg/cm ² (approx.)	SPAN/ ESR (m)	Type of Support	Note (Table 18)
33*	0.1-0.01	2	1	ł	9	1.0-3.9	B (tg) 1 m	IX
		Ŷ	!	ł			+S (mr) 2.5-5 cm S (mr) 5-10 cm	IX
		· [ł	ł			S (mr) 7.5-15 cm	VIII, X
34	0.1-0.01	۲ 1	20.25	ł	9	2.0-11	B (tg) 1 m +S (mr) 5-7 5 cm	IX
		ç	20.25	ł			S (mr) 7.5-15 cm	IX
		ł	₹0.25	;			S (mr) 15-25 cm	IX
		1	;	1			CCA (sr) 20-60 cm +B (tg) l m	VIII, X, XI
35	0.1-0.01	ł	-	u ₹15	9	6.5-28	B (tg) l m +s (m*) 30-100 cm	11, 1X, XI
See sote YTT		ł	ł	ת 15 m			CCA (sr) $60-200$ cm LB (+ α)] m	VIII, X, XI, II
TTV 2001		ł	ł	<15 m			B (tg)] m LS (mr) 20-75 cm	IX, XI, III
		ł	1	<l>15 m</l>			CCA (sr) 40-150 cm +B (tg) 1 m	VIII, X, XI, III
36*	0.01-0.001	ł	ł	ł	12	1.0-2.0	S (mr) 10-20 cm	IX
		ł	ł	1			S (mr) 10-20 cm +B (tg) 0.5-1.0 m	VIII, X, XI
37	0.01-0.001	ł	ł	!	12	1.0-6.5	S (mr) 20-60 cm	IX
		ł	ł	;			S (mr) 20-60 cm +B (tg) 0.5-1.0 m	VIII, X, XI
38	0.01-0.001	ł	1	×10 m	12	4.0-20	CCA (sr) 100-300 cm	IX
See note XIII		ł	I	₩ 01<			CCA (sr) 100-300 cm +B (tg) 1 m	VIII, X, II, XI
		ł	1	<10 m			S (mr) 70-200 cm	IX
		ł	ł	<10 m			S (mr) 70-200 cm +B (tg)] m	VIII, X, III, XI
							j j	

* Authors' estimates of support. Insufficient case records available for confident prediction of support requirements.

ł

Table 17

Ta	bl	е	1	8

Q-System: Supplementary Notes for Support Tables¹²

- For cases of heavy rock bursting or "popping," tensioned bolts with enlarged bearing plates often used, with spacing cf about 1 m (occa-I. sionally down to 0.8 m). Final support when "popping" activity ceases. II. Several bolt lengths often used in same excavation, i.e. 3, 5 and 7 m. III. Several bolt lengths often used in same excavation, i.e. 2, 3 and $\frac{1}{4}$ m. IV. Tensioned cable anchors often used to supplement bolt support pressures. Typical spacing 2-4 m. V. Several bolt lengths often used in some excavations, i.e. 6, 8 and 10 m. VI. Tensioned cable anchors often used to supplement bolt support pressures. Typical spacing 4-6 m. Several of the older generation power stations in this category employ VII. systematic or spot bolting with areas of chain link mesh, and a free span concrete arch roof (25-40 cm) as permanent support. VIII. Cases involving swelling, for instance montmorillonite clay (with access of water). Room for expansion behind the support is used in cases of heavy swelling. Drainage measures are used where possible. IX. Cases not involving swelling clay or squeezing rock. X. Cases involving squeezing rock. Heavy rigid support is generally used as permanent support. XI. According to the authors' experience, in cases of swelling or squeezing, the temporary support required before concrete (or shotcrete) arches are formed may consist of bolting (tensioned shell-expansion type) if the value of RQD/J_n is sufficiently high (i.e. >1.5), possibly combined with shotcrete. If the rock mass is very heavily jointed or crushed (i.e. $RQD/J_n < 1.5$, for example a "sugar cube" shear zone in quartzite), then the temporary support may consist of up to several applications of shotcrete. Systematic bolting (tensioned) may be added after casting the concrete (or shotcrete) arch to reduce the uneven loading on the concrete, but it may not be effective when $RQD/J_n < 1.5$, or when a lot of clay is present, unless the bolts are grouted before tensioning. A sufficient length of anchored bolt might also be obtained using quick setting resin anchors in these extremely poor quality rock-masses. Serious occurrences of swelling and/or squeezing rock may require that the concrete arches are taken right up to the face, possibly using a shield as temporary shuttering. Temporary support of the working face may also be required in these cases. XII. For reasons of safety the multiple drift method will often be needed during excavation and supporting of roof arch. Categories 16, 20, 24, 28, 32, 35 (SPAN/ESR > 15 m only).
- XIII. Multiple drift method usually needed during excavation and support of arch, walls and floor in cases of heavy squeezing. Category 38 (SPAN/ESR > 10 m only).

Park River Tunnel: Design Rock Loads and Suppor: Based on Terzaghi's Method

Table 19

	lenoth		Drill and Blast	Construction		Machine Boring		Water
Busk Confirion	of zone	Rock Load taf	Temporary Support	Permanent Lining	Rock Load tof	Temporary Support	Permanent Lining	Inflow RPm
lest average quality massive, moderately jointed RQD > 80	8,000	11	<pre>11-ft bolts at 4-1/2-ft, shotcrete 1 in. thick</pre>	Reinforced con- crete 14 in. thick plus 8-in. overbreak	0.5	<pre>10-ft bolts occasionally at 6-ft, shot- crete 2 in. if ne .ded</pre>	Reinforced precast line 9 in. thick grouted	T
Morst average quality: very blocky, seamy RQD = 40	800	2.2	<pre>ll-ft bolts at 2-ft, shot- crete 2 in. thick</pre>	ReinforceJ con- crete 15 in. thick plus 8-in. overbreak	1.4	10-ft bolts at 3- to 5-ft, shotcrete 2 in. if needed	As above	4
Fault zones: cum- pletely crushed RQD = 30	300	4.8	WB steel beams at 2- to 4-ft, shot- crete 3-in. thick	Reinforced con- crete 22 in. thick plus 8-in. overbreak	3.5	10-ft bolts at 3 ft, shot- crete 3 in. thick	As above	50

Table 20

Rock Mass Classifications for the Park River Tunnel

in Accordance with the RSR Concept

Parameters and Regions	Be B	est A gion	verage 1	Condit. Ref	ions gion 2	Worst Average Conditions Sta 23+00 to 31+00	Fault Zones Region 3
Parameter A: (Table 2)	Rock (s) s1	18 type hale) ightl	× 3	Rock (bs mas	30 type 2 asalt) ssive	7 Type 3 (shale) intensely faulted (very seamy)	7 (6)
Parameter B (Table 3)	y he fa	ulted Set 2	Set 3	Set 2	Set 2 2	13	JO
Parameter C (Table 4)	0 0	34 22	9 9	0 2	43 22	9	9
RSR = $A + B + C$	76	74	78	90	95	26	23
Rock load for 26-ft tunnel, ksf	Ŷ	0.5		Off	scale	~7.0	~7.0
Rib type and spacing	N	one		N	one	8W40 at 2 ft 10W49 at 3 ft	8W40 at 2 ft

Note: For input data see Appendix C.

Parameter and Region	Best Average Region 1	Conditions Region 2	Worst Average Condition	ons Fault Zones Region 3
Intact rock strength	7	7	7	7
RQD	20	20	13	4
Discontinuity spacing	20	20	10	5
Discontinuity condition	20	22	10	6
Groundwater	8	10	7	4
In situ rating	75	79	47	26
Discontinuity orientation	- 5	- 5	-10	-10
RMR	Good rock 70	Good rock 74	Poor rock 37	Very poor rock 16
Maximum span and stand- up time	55 ft at 2-1/ months or 26 ft at 4 months	2 26 ft at 6 months	18 ft at 12 hr	5 ft at 1/2 hr
Support 1	Locally bolts long at 8 ft sional mesh, 2 in. thick	in roof 10 ft plus occas- shotcrete	Systematic bolts 12 ft long at 5 ft, shotcrete 5 in. thick with wire mesh	Ribs at 2-1/2 ft bolts 15 ft long at 3 ft, shotcrete 8 in. thick with wire mesh

Table 21

Rock Mass Classifications for the Park River Tunnel in

Accordance with the Geomechanics Classification

Note: For input data sheets, see Appendix C.

3	
a)	
Ä	
ar	
EH	

Rock Mass Classifications for the Park River Tunnel

in Accordance with the Q-System

Parameter	Best Average Region 1	Conditions Region 2	Worst Average Conditions Sta 23+00 to 31+00	Fault Zones: Region 3
RQD	80	90	01	(17) 28 (35)
u L	9	12	6	15 (3)
ц Ч	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
J A	1.0	1.0	2.0	4.0
A L	1.0	1.0	0.66	0.5
SRF	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.5
ଫ	Good rock 19.99	Good rock 11.25	Poor rock 2.19	Very poor 0.139
Rock load in roof	0.5 tsf	0.59 tsf	1.02 tsf	(1.85) 2.70 tsf
	Categor	<u>y 13</u>	Category 22	Category 31
Permanent support	Untensioned s 9 ft long, 6 ft. No s	ipot bolts spaced 5 to ihotcrete	Untensioned 9-ft bolts, spaced 3 ft plus shot- crete 1-2 in. thick	Reinforced concrete 8-16 in. thick plus tensioned 9-ft bolts at 3 ft
Temporary support	None		<u>Category 13</u> 9-ft bolts at 6 ft	Shotcrete 6-10 in. thick with steel mesh
Note: For input d	ata see ûnnend	ر به ز		

ror input data see Appendix C. NOCCE.

Comparison of Support Recommendations for the Park River Tunnel

		Support S	ystem	
			Geomechanics	
Rock Conditions	Terzaghi's Method	RSR Concept	Classification	Q-System
	Rock load: 1.1 tsf	RSR = 76	RMR = 72	Rock load: 0.5 tsf
Best average conditions	Reintorced concrete	Permanent: N/A	Locally, rockbolts in	Untensioned spot bolts
Regions 1 and 2	14 in. thick plus	Temporary: None	roof 10 ft long at	9 ft long spaced 5-
	8-in. overbreak		8-ft spacing plus	6 ft. No shotcrete
	Temporary: 11-ft		occasional mesh	or mesh
	bolts at 4-1/2 ft,		and shotcrete	Q = 20
	shotcrete l in.		2 in. thick	
	thick			
	Rock load: 2.2 tsf	RSR = 26	RMK = 37	Rock Load: I.1 tsf
Worst average conditions:	Reinforced concrete	Permanent: N/A	Systematic bolts	Untensioned systematic
Sta 23+00 to 3.+00	15 in. thick plus	Temporary: 8W40	12 ft long at 5 ft	9-ft long bolts at
	8-in. overbreak	steel ribs at	spacing with wire	3-ft spacing plus
	Temporary: 11-ft	2 ft	mesh plus shot-	shotcrete 1-2 in.
	bolts at 2 ft,		crete 5 in. thick	thick.
	shotcrete 2 in.			Primary: spot bolts
	thick			q = 2.2
	Rock Load: 4.8 tsf	RSR = 23	RMR = 16	Rock Load: 2.7 tsf
Fault zones: Region 3	Reinforced concrete	Permanent: N/A	Steel ribs at 2-	Reinforced concrete
)	22 in. thick plus	Temporary: 8W40	1/2 ft, 15 ft	8-16 in. thick plus
	8-in. overbreak	steel ribs at	bolts at 3 ft with	tensioned 9 ft bolts
	Temporary: steel	2 ft	wire mesh p'us	at 3 ft.
	ribs: W8 ring		shotcrete K in.	Primary: shotcrete
	beams at 2-4 ft,		thick	6-10 in. with mesh
	shotcrete 3 in.			Q = 0.14

APPENDIX A: TERZAGHI'S ROCK LOAD TABLES

	Terzaghi's Rock	Load Classification for Stee	el Arch-Supported Tunnels ²
	(Rock Load H	in Feet of Rock on Roof of	f Support in Tunnel With
	Width B	(feet) and Height H _t (feet)) at a Depth of More
		Than $1.5(B + H_{t}))*$	•
	Rock Condition	Rock Load H in Feet	Remarks
1.	Hard and intact.	Zero	Light lining required only if spalling or popping occurs.
2.	Hard stratified or schistose. **	0 to 0.5B	Light support, mainly for protection
3.	Massive, moderately jointed.	0 to 0.25B	against spails. Load may enange erratically from point to point.
4.	Moderately blocky and seamy.	0.25B to 0.35(B + H_t)	No side pressure.
5.	Very blocky and seamy.	(0.35 to 1.10) (B + H _t)	Little or no side pressure.
6.	Completely crushed but chemically intact.	1.10(B + H _t)	Considerable side pressure. Softening cffects of seepage towards bottom of tunnel requires either continuous support for lower ends of ribs or circular ribs.
7.	Squeezing rock, moderate depth.	$(1.10 to 2.10) (B + H_t)$	Heavy side pressure, invert struts required. Circular ribs are
8.	Squeezing rock, great depth.	$(2.10 to 4.50) (B + H_t) \int$	recommended.
9.	Swelling rock.	Up to 250 feet, irres- pective of the value of $(B + H_+)$	Circular ribs are required. In extreme cases use yielding support.

Table Al

* The roof of the tunnel is assumed to be located below the water table. If it is located permanently above the water table, the values given for types 4 to 6 can be reduced by fifty percent.

** Some of the most common rock formations contain layers of shale. In an unweathered state, real shales are no worse than other stratified rocks. However, the term shale is often applied to firmly compacted clay sediments which have not yet acquired the properties of rock. Such so-called shale may behave in a tunnel like squeezing or even swelling rock.

If a rock formation consists of a sequence of horizontal layers of sandstone or limestone and of immature shale, the excavation of the tunnel is commonly associated with a gradual compression of the rock on both sides of the tunnel, involving a downward movement of the roof. Furthermore, the relatively low resistance against slippage at the boundaries between the socalled shale and the rock is likely to reduce very considerably the capacity of the rock located above the roof to bridge. Hence, in such formations, the roof pressure may be as heavy as in very blocky and seamy rock.

(E	(u	R		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Rock Los	ad, H_	
ູິ	t,	e B			Initial	 Final	Remarks
Fractu Spacin ₍	5))	й оя	1.	Hard and Intact	o	0	ل E Lining only is spalling د د م م م م م م م م م م م م م م م م م م
50		<u>95</u>	2.	Hard Strati- fied or Schistose	0	0.25B	ຊີ່ສູ່ Spalling common ອີສີ່ ທີ່ວ່າ
	1'	90	3.	Massive, moderately	0	0.5B	Side Pressure if strata
20	6"	75	4.	Moderately blocky and seamy	0	0.25B to 0.35C	Geners Errati point
10_	<u>4</u> "	50	5.	Very blocky, seamy and shattered	0 to 0.6C	0.35C to 1.1C	Little or no side pressure
5 -	2"	2 <u>5</u> 10	6.	Completely crushed		1.10	Considerable side pressure. If seepage, continuous support.
2 —	<u>1"</u>	2	7.	Gravel and sand	0.54C to 1.2C 0.94C to	0.62C to 1.38C 1.08C to	Dense Side pressure $P_h = 0.3\gamma (0.5H_t + H_p)$ Loose
	ak and	oherent	8.	Squeezing, moderate depth Squeezing, great depth		1.1C to 2.1C 2.1C to	Heavy side pressure. Continuous support required.
	We	Ŭ	10.	Swelling		4.5C up to 250'	Use circular support. In extreme cases: yielding support.

Table A2 Rock Loads and Classification

Notes: 1) For rock classes 4, 5, 6, 7, when above ground water level, reduce

For rock classes 4, 5, 6, 7, when above ground water level, reduce loads by 50%.
 For sands (7), H_{pmin} is for small movements (-0.01C to 0.02C) H_{pmax} for large width movements (-0.15C).
 B is tunnel width, C = B + H_t = width + height of tunnel (in feet). For circular tunnel, C = 2E = 2H_t.
 Y = density of medium, lbs/ft³.

			Alternative Support Systems							
Rock Quality	Tunneling Method	Steel Sets ²	Rockbolts ³⁾	Shotcrete						
RQD > 90	A. Boring Machine	None to occ. light set. Rock load (0.0-0.2)B.	None to occasional	None to occ. local application						
	B. Conventional	None to occ. light set. Rock load (0.0-0.3)B.	None to occasional	None to occ. local applica- tion 2 in. to 3 in.						
600u ¹⁾										
75 < RQD < 90	A. Boring Machine	Occ. light sets to pattern on 5-ft to 6-ft ctr. Rock load (0.0 to 0.4)B.	Occasional to pattern on 5-ft to 6-ft centers	None to occ. local applica- tion 2 in. to 3 in.						
	B. Conventional	Light sets, 5-ft to 6-ft ctr. Rock load (0.3 to 0.6)B.	Pattern, 5-ft to 6-ft centers	Occ. local appli- cation 2 in. to 3 in.						
FAIR										
50 < RQD < 75	A. Boring Machine	Light to medium sets, 5-ft to 6-ft ctr. Rock load (0.4~1.0)B.	Pattern, 4-ft to 6-ft ctr.	∠ _u. to 4 in. on crown						
	B. Conventional	Light to medium sets, 4-ft to 5-ft ctr. Rock load (0.6-1.3)B.	Pattern 3-ft to 5-ft ctr.	in. or more crown and sides						
POOR ²⁾										
25 < RQD < 50	A. Boring Machine	Medium circular sets on 3-ft to 4-ft ctr. Rock load (1.0-1.6)B.	Pattern, 3-ft to 5-ft ctr.	4 in. to 6 in. on crown and sides Combine with bolts.						
3)	B. Conventional	Mediumo to heavy sets on 2-ft to 4-ft ctr. Rock load (1.3-2.0)B.	Pattern, 2-ft to 4-ft ctr.	6 in. or more on crown and sides. Combine with bolts.						
VERY POOR										
Rup < 25 (Excluding Squeezing or Swelling ground.)	A. Boring Machine	Medium to heavy circular sets on 2-ft ctr. Rock load (1.6 to 2.2)B.	Pattern, 2-ft to 4-ft ctr.	6 in, or more on whole section. Combine with medium sets.						
	B. Conventional	Heavy circular sets on 2-ft ctr. Rock load (2.0 to 2.8)B.	Pattern, 3-ft center.	<pre>6 in. or more on whole section. Combine wit: medium to heavy sets</pre>						
VERY POOR										
(Squeezing or swelling.)	A. Boring Machine	Very heavy circular sets on 2-ft ctr. Rock load up to 250-ft.	Pattern, 2-ft to 3-ft ctr.	<pre>6 in. or more on whole section. Combine with heavy sets.</pre>						
	B. Conventional	Very heavy circular sets on 2-ft ctr. Rock load up to 250-ft.	Pattern, 2-ft to 3-ft ctr.	<pre>6 in. or more on whole section. Combine with heavy sets.</pre>						

Table A3 Support Recommendations for Tunnels in Rock (20- to 40-ft Diameter) Based on RGD

Notes. 1) In good and excellent quality rock, the support requirement will be, in general, minimal but will be dependent upor joint geometry, tunnel diameter, and relative orientations of joints and tunnel.
2) Lagging requirements will usually be zero in excellent rock and will range from up to 20% at good rock to 100% in very poor rock.
3) Mesh requirements usually will be zero in excellent rock and will range from occasional mesh (or straps) in good rock to 100% mesh in very poor rock.
4) B = tunnel width.

APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF PROCEDURES FOR ROCK MASS CLASSIFICATIONS

1. The procedures for rcck mass classifications are summarized here for the convenience of the engineering geologists responsible for the collection of geological data.

Geomechanics Classification-Rock Mass Rating (RMR) System

2. This engineering classification of rock masses, especially evolved for rock tunneling applications, utilizes the following six parameters, all of which are determined in the field:

a. Uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock material.

- b. Rock quality designation (RQD).
- c. Spacing of discontinuities.
- <u>d</u>. Condition of discontinuities.
- e. Orientation of discontinuities.
- <u>f</u>. Groundwater conditions.

The rock mass along the tunnel route is divided into a number of <u>structural</u> <u>regions</u>, and the above six classification parameters are determined for each structural region and entered onto the standard input data sheet (Figure Bl). The following explanations and terminology are relevant.

Structural regions

3. These regions are geological zones of rock masses in which certain features are more or less uniform. Although rock masses are discontinuous in nature, they may nevertheless be uniform in regions when, for example, the type of rock or the spacings of discontinuities are the same throughout the region. In most cases, the boundaries of structural regions will coincide with such major geological features as faults and shear zones. Discontinuities

4. This term means all discontinuities in the rock mass, which may be technically joints, bedding planes, minor faults, or other surfaces of weakness. It excludes major faults that will be considered as structural regions of their own.

Intact rock strength

5. The uniaxial compressive strength of rock material is determined in accordance with the standard laboratory procedures, but for the purpose of

B3

CLASSIFICATION LIPUT DATA WONGHEET: OLDWICHANICS CLABSIFICATION OF NOCE MASSES

						_	_			_				_		_	_		_	-	_	_	·····		_		_
	(1 9									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • •										c 1						2
WITTER	Bet 2																				ality. nature, a		2				vhich be cossider
ITNOSIQ TO RO	Bet 1															UR FOLDS					ving their loc		INT THEOLITAN				r laformation
DITICHOD		2014	10-30 2 2 2 2 2		4 0.01	0.01-0.1 in.	0.1-0.5 in.									NAJOR FAULTS					i folds specif		C REVARKS AND				in evy furthe
	20411MILT	Very lou: Lou:	Ned tum:	SZPARATION SZPARATION	Ticht totate:	Moderately open jointe:	Open joints: Nance in.:	NORACH UNSIS	Yery rough aurfaces:	Rough surfaces: Slightly rough surfaces:	Sanoth aurfaces: Slickensidel aurfaces:	FILLING (GOUGE)	Type: Thickness:	Consistency:							Describe Fajor faults and	ortentations.	CENENAL				The geologist should supp relevant.
MOCK TYPE AND ONICIA				SCORTINUTTIES		•••••••••••••••				CT ROCK NATIBILAL	ial compressive rength, psi	Over 22,000	000 - 32,000 000 - 16,000	000 - 8,000	150 - 4,000		Set 3						DIRECTION				
ETRICTURY, RECTOR	3ta	Sta.	ßta.	WALL ROCK OF D	Unvesthered	Slightly weathered	Moderately weathered	Highly weathered	Completely weathered .	ETHERCTH OF INT	urtau Ie	Ver - high:	Nigh: 26. Nedium: 8.	Low:	Yery lou:	SETTI UTIES	l Bet 2						· ON LENTATIONS	Le		ue Dilp:	
}				PALITY R.9.D.	0 - 1005	2 - 905	0 - 755	5 - 505		DIATER	gal/ain		tely dry, damp, wet,			SPACING OF DIS		Over 10 C		2 In1 fb	< 2 In.		IN DEV TATUES	··· ((Lear ····· 1	(Lron 1	(from 1	
Base of preject: Site of survey: Continited by:			D 2400 TILES	lest 9	2	x	N	500r: 5:	1917D43	- Fer 1600 ft Del length	or	u constitute (complet	r):			:	Yery wide:	Moderate:	Close:	Very clober	i vace		Strike:	Strike:	Strike:		
	Dete:			11007	N. S	Fatr:	foer:	Tery I		ALL CALL			1.035										T 9000.	Set 2	Set)		

Figure B1. Standard input data sheet

B4

rock classification, the use of the well-known, point-load strength index is recommended. The reason is that the index can be determined in the field on rock core retrieved from borings and the core does not require any specimen preparation. Using simple portable equipment, a piece of drill core is compressed between two points. The core fails as a result of fracture across its diameter. The point-load strength index is calculated as the ratio of the applied load to the square of core diameter. A close correlation exists (to within ~20 percent) between the uniaxial compressive strength and the point-load strength index I_s such that for standard NX core (2.16-in. diam), $\sigma_c = 24$ I_s.

Rock quality designation (RQD)

6. This quantitative index is based on a modified core recovery procedure, which incorporates only those pieces of core that are 4 in. or greater in length. Shorter lengths of core are ignored as they are considered to be due to close shearing, jointing, or weathering in the rock mass. It should be noted that the RQD disregards the influence of discontinuity tightness, orientation, continuity, and gouge material. Consequently, while it is an essential parameter for core description, it is not the sufficient parameter for the full description of a rock mass.

7. For RQD determination, the International Society for Rock Mechanics recommends double-tube, N-size core barrels (core diameter of 2.16 in.). The accepted division of RQD values are as follows:

<u>RQD, percent</u>	<u>Core Quality</u>
90-100	Excellent
75-90	Good
50-75	Fair
25-50	Poor
< 25	Very poor

Spacing and orientation of discontinuities

8. The spacing of discontinuities is the mean distance between the planes of weakness in the rock mass in the direction perpendicular to the discontinuity planes. The strike of discontinuities is generally recorded with reference to magnetic north. The dip angle is the angle between the horizontal and the joint plane taken in a direction in which the plane dips.

B5

Condition of discontinuities

9. This parameter includes roughness of the discontinuity surfaces, their separation (distance between the surfaces), their length or continuity (persistence), weathering of the wall rock of the planes of weakness, and the infilling (gouge) material. The Task Committee of the American Society of Civil Engineers set up the following weathering classification which should be used:

- <u>a</u>. <u>Unweathered</u>. No visible signs are noted of weathering; rock fresh; crystals bright.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Slightly weathered rock</u>. Discontinuities are stained or discolored and may contain a thin filling of altered material. Discoloration may extend into the rock from the discontinuity surfaces to a distance of up to 20 percent of the discontinuity spacing.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Moderately weathered rock</u>. Slight discoloration extends from discontinuity planes for a distance greater than 20 percent of the discontinuity spacing. Discontinuities may contain filling of altered material. Partial opening of grain boundaries may be observed.
- <u>d</u>. <u>Highly weathered rock</u>. Discoloration extends throughout the rock, and the rock material is partly friable. The original texture of the rock has mainly been preserved, but separation of the grains has occurred.
- <u>e</u>. <u>Completely weathered rock</u>. The rock is totally discolored and decomposed and in a friable condition. The external appearance is that of soil. Internally, the rock texture is partly preserved, but the grains have completely separated.

It should be noted that the boundary between rock and soil is defined in terms of the uniaxial compressive strength and not in terms of weathering. A material with the strength equal to or above 150 psi is considered as rock.

10. Furthermore, in rock engineering, the information on the rock material strength is preferable to that on rock hardness. The reason is that rock hardness, which is defined as the resistance to indentation or scratching, is not a quantitive parameter and is subjective to a geologist's personal opinion. It has been employed in the past before the advent of the point-load strength index that can now assess the rock strength in the field. For the sake of completeness, the following hardness classification was used in the past:
- <u>a. Very soft rock</u>. Material crumbles under firm blow w. h a sharp end of a geological pick and can be peeled off with a knife.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Soft rock</u>. Material can be scraped and peeled with a knife; indentations 1/16 to 1/8 in. show in the specimen with firm blows.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Medium hard rock</u>. Material cannot be scraped or peeled with a knife; hand-held specimen can be broken with the hammer end of a geologica' pick with a single firm blow.
- <u>d</u>. <u>Hard rock</u>. Hand-held specimen breaks with hammer end of pick under more than one blow.
- e. <u>Very hard rock</u>. Specimen requires many blows with geological pick to break through intact material.

It can be seen from the above that for the lower ranges up to medium hard rock, hardness can be assessed from visual inspection and by scratching with a knife and striking with a hammer. However, for rock having the uniaxial compressive strength of more than 3,500 psi, hardness classification ceases to be meaningful due to the difficulty of distinguishing by the "scratchability test" the various degrees of hardness. In any case, hardness is only indirectly related to rock strength, the relationship being between the uniaxial compressive strength and the product of hardness and density expressed in the following formula:

 $\log \sigma_{\rm e} = 0.00014 \gamma R + 316$

where

 γ = dry unit weight, pcf

R = Schmidt hardness (L-hammer)

11. Roughness or the nature of the asperities in the discontinuity surfaces is an important parameter characterizing the condition of discontinuities. Asperities that occur on discontinuity surfaces interlock, if the surfaces are clean and closed, and inhibit shear movement along the discontinuity surface. This restraint on movement is of two types. Small high-angle asperities are sheared off during shear displacement and effectively increase the peak shear strength of the fracture. Such asperities are termed roughness. Large, low-angle asperities cannot be sheared off and "ride" over one another during shear displacement, changing the initial direction of shear displacement. Such large asperities are termed waviness

B7

and cannot be reliably measured in core.

12. Roughness asperities usually have a base length and amplitude measured in terms of tenths of an inch and are readily apparent on a coresized exposure of a discontinuity. The applicable descriptive terms are defined below (state also if surfaces are stepped, undulating or planar):

- <u>a</u>. <u>Very rough</u>. Near vertical steps and ridges occur on the discontinuity surface.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Rough</u>. Some ridge and side-angle steps are evident; asperities are clearly visible; and discontinuity surface feels very abrasive.
- <u>c</u>. <u>Slightly rough</u>. Asperities on the discontinuity surfaces are distinguishable and can be felt.
- d. Smooth. Surface appears smooth and feels so to the touch.
- e. <u>Slickensided</u>. Visual evidence of polishing exists.

13. Separation, or the distance between the discontinuity surfaces, controls the extent to which the opposing surfaces can interlock as well as the amount of water that can flow through the discontinuity. In the absence of interlocking, the discontinuity filling (gouge) controls entirely the shear strength of the discontinuity. As the separation decreases, the asperities of the rock wall tend to become more interlocked, and both the filling and the rock material contribute to the discontinuity shear strength. The shear strength along a discontinuity is therefore dependent on the degree of separation, presence or absence of filling materials, roughness of the surface walls, and the nature of the filling material. The description of the separation of the discontinuity surfaces is given in millimetres as follows:

- <u>a</u>. Very tight: < 0.1 mm.
- <u>b</u>. Tight: 0.1-0.5 mm.
- c. Moderately open: 0.5-2.5 mm.
- <u>d</u>. Open: 2.5-10 mm.
- e. Very wide: 10-25 mm.

Note that where the separation is more than 25 mm, the discontinuity should be described as a <u>major</u> discontinuity.

- 14. The infilling (gouge) has a two-fold influence:
 - <u>a</u>. Depending on the thickness, the filling prevents the interlocking of the fracture asperities.
 - <u>b</u>. It possesses its own characteristic properties, i.e., shear strength, permeability, and deformational characteristics.

The following aspects should be described: type, thickness, continuity, and consistency.

15. Continuity of discontinuities influences the extent to which the rock material and the discontinuities separately affect the behavior of the rock mass. In the case of tunnels, a discontinuity is considered fully continuous if its length is greater than the width of the tunnel. Consequently, for continuity assessment, the length of the discontinuity should be determined.

Groundwater conditions

16. In the case of tunnels, the rate of inflow of groundwater in gallons per minute per 1,000 ft of the tunnel should be determined,⁵ or a general condition can be described as completely dry, damp, wet, dripping, and flowing. If actual water pressure data are available, these should be stated and expressed in terms of the ratio of the water pressure to the major principal stress. The latter can be either measured or determined from the depth below surface, i.e., the vertical stress increases with depth at 1.1 psi per foot of the depth below surface.

Rock Structure Rating - RSR Concept

17. The RSR Concept, developed in the United States in 1972 by Wickham, Tiedemann, and Skinner,^{5,6} is based on the following three parameters:

- a. Parameter A. General appraisal of rock structure is based on:
 - (1) Rock type origin.
 - (2) Rock hardness.
 - (3) Geological structure.
- <u>b</u>. <u>Parameter B</u>. Discontinuity pattern with respect to the direction of tunnel drive is based on:
 - (1) Joint spacing.

- (2) Joint orientation (strike and dip).
- (3) Direction of tunnel drive.
- c. <u>Parameter C</u>. Effect of groundwater inflow is based on:
 - (1) Overall quality of rock due to parameters A and B combined.
 - (2) Condition of joint surfaces.
 - (3) Amount of water inflow (in gallons per minute per foot of the tunnel).

Although the definitions of the above parameters were not explicitly stated by the proposers, most of the data needed are normally included in a standard joint survey. However, it is recognized that the lack of the definitions may lead to some confusion. An input data worksheet for the RSR Concept is shown in Figure B2.

Q-System for Tunnel Support

18. The Q-System, which was developed in Norway in 1974 by Barton, Lien, and Lunde,¹² determines the rock mass quality - termed Q - as a function of six parameters: (a) RQD, (b) number of joint sets, (c) roughness of the weakest joints, (d) degree of alteration or filling along the weakest joints, (e) water inflow or pressure, and (f) rock stress condition. These six parameters are grouped into three quotients.

19. The first two parameters represent the overall structure of the rock mass, and their quotient is claimed to be a crude measure of the relative block size. The quotient of the third and fourth parameters is said to be related to the shear strength of the joints. The fifth parameter is a measure of water pressure, while the sixth parameter is a measure of: (a) loosening load in the case of shear zones and clay-bearing rock, (b) rock stress in competent rock, and (c) squeezing and swelling loads in plastic incompetent rock. This sixth parameter is regarded as the "total stress" parameter. The quotient of the fifth and sixth parameters is regarded as describing the "active stress." An input data worksheet for the Q-System is shown in Figure B3.

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET; RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project Name:_____

Site of Survey:_____

Structural Region:_____

Sta	
Sta.	
Sta.	
Sta.	

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD	=	 9
Range =			 9

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

_

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly heale	d joint	S	
Unaltered, st	aining	only	
Slightly alte	red		
Silty or sand	ly coati	ings	
Clay coatings	; ;		
Sand or crush	ed rock	c filling	
Stiff clay	<5mm	>5mm	
Soft clay	<5mm	>5mm	
Swelling clay	<5mm	>5mm	

Conducted by:

late:_____

Rock Type:_____

JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	
No. of joint sets present	
Additional random joints exist	
Rock heavily fractured	
Crushed rock	

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow	
Medium inflow	
Large inflow, unfilled joints	
Large inflow, filling washed out	
Exceptional transient inflow	
Exceptional continuous inflow	
Approx. water pressure: 1b/sq	in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	
High stress: $\sigma_1/\sigma_1 = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	
Shear zones	
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
vert. d horz.	

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Tensile: _____psi

Compressive:_____psi

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Average strike _____ Average dip _____

Dip direction _____

Figure B3. Input data worksheet for the Q-System

APPENDIX C: CASE HISTORY DATA: PARK RIVER TUNNEL

Table Cl

Description of Rock Types

<u>Red Shale/Siltstone</u>: The dominant rock type is reddish-brown shale/ siltstone. The shale contains sandy phases and is interbedded with gray shales and thin sandstones. It is thin bedded and calcareous. Calcite fills the open-bedding planes, joints, and fractures. The shales are usually well cemented and moderately hard, but some zones are classified as soft and weak. The sandy phases are mostly competent and hard to very hard. Shale samples from near the intake exhibited a slaking-like action when submerged. This is attributed to stress relief by coring. Bedding strikes roughly north-south and generally dips 10 to 20 deg to the east but with local variations.

<u>Gray-Black Shales</u>: Gray and sometimes black shales are interbedded with the red shales. They are thin-bedded and similarly oriented. The beds are thinner than the red beds and were used as markers to correlate between boreholes. Gray shales are calcareous, moderately hard to soft and are similar in physical properties to the red shales.

<u>Sandstones</u>: Thin whitish to gray calcareous sandstone beds are common within the shales. Many sandy zones appear to correlate between boreholes and were used as markers. The beds are hard but sometimes show some solution activity and localized concentrated jointing. Variations include a coarse red sandstone (arkose) and a thin zone of interbedded volcanic sandstone and shale that were encountered in only two boreholes, but in no other borings.

<u>Basalts</u>: Basalt flows near the intake shaft are oriented consistent with the local stratigraphy although structural modifications are apparent. They are usually gray and olive gray (locally black), slightly vesicular and nonvesicular, calcareous, hard, and contain headed hairline fractures throughout. Localized broken and weathered zones occur.

Aphanite: This gray fine-grained to glassy rock type occurs in borehole FD-9T between the depths 137 and 188 feet. Its origin is uncertain and it occurs in zone with unresolved structural discontinuities. It is hard to very hard but also contains numerous irregular healed hairline fractures. Some zones may be slightly weathered and less dense. Table C2

Summary of Rock Properties

		Red	Gray			Red
Property		Shale	Shale	Besalt	Aphanite	Sandstone
Specific gravity	No. of tests	25	4	14	ε	5
(dry)	Range	2.58-2.72	2.61-2.73	2.68-2.87	2.46-2.62	2.58-2.73
	Average	2.66	2.66	2.74	2.54	2.66
Unit weight (pci)	No. of tests	25	ţ	14	£	N
	Range	161-169.7	162.9-170.4	167.2-175.3	153.5-163.5	161-170.4
	Average	166	166	172.2	158.5	165.7
Uniaxial compressive	No. of tests	19	Ħ	11	£	Q
strength (nsi)	Range	3,242-13,100	4,329-14,740	5,540-13,740	2,700-6,660	9,350-9,536
	Average	7,752	8,556	10,263	4,090	9,443
Modulus of elasticity	No. of tests	7	I	6	T	1
$E(psi \times 10^{0})$	Range	0.2-5.0	2.5	0.89-10.0	3.0	
	Average	2.1		4.62		

			-1-1		BORING NO.
	BOKE HOLE PHUD	u LUG (An exam	pie)		FD-8-T
NAME			LOCATION		
Park River Tu	nnel		Hartford, Conne	ctic	eut
DATE PHOTOGRA	PHED	IRIS SETTING	4	C01	DITION OF BORING
Nov 27-38, 19	975	5.6 and 4.0		God	bđ
DEPTH PHOTOGR	APHED	WATER DEPTH		WAT	TER CONDITION
35.0 to 220.0)'	Flowing at Su	rface	[C16	ear
FEET CASING	In Photo)	FEET CONCRETE	(In Photo)		FEET ROCK (In Photo)
35.0-39.0'		None			39.0-220.0'
DEPTH RANGE			DESCRIPTION		
45.5-46.2	Jt., Str. N 4 with white ma bottom	5 °E, dip 80 ° terial (smooth	NW, 1/8" at top), planar, termi	to] nate	1/32" at bottom, healed es at bedding Jt. at
45.2-46.3	Gray-green ro	ck			
46.2	Bedding Jt.,	Str. N-S, dip	15 °E, 1/16" par	tly	open, rough, planar
46.3-160.0	Dark gray roc At 51 feet ro	k containing n ck gradually c	umerous small ir: hanges to dark bi	regu lue-	llar white inclusions gray color
53.6	Jt. Str. N 70 planar	°E, dip 20 °S	E, 1/32-1/16" pa:	rtlj	open, stained, rough,
53.9-54.1	Jt., Str. N 2 rough, planar	0 °W, dip 30 °	NE, 1/32-1/16" pa	art]	Ly open, stained,
54.3-54.7	Jt., Str. N 3 material, rou	0 °W, dip 50 ° gh and irregul	NE, hairline-1/3 ar	2",	healed with white
56.2-56.3	Jt., Str. abo rough, irregu	ut N-S, dip 45 lar, discontin	°W, 1/32", heal uous	ed v	with white material,
56.7-57.9	Jt., Str. N 3 material, rou	0 °E, dip 80 ° gh, planar, di	NW, hairline-1/3 scontinuous	2",	healed with white
58.4-59.3	Jt., Str. N l rough, planar	0 °E, dip 75 °	W, 1/32-1/16" he	e.led	l with white material,
59.1	Jt., Str. N-S irregular	, díp 10 °E, 1	/16" healed with	whi	ite material, rough,
59.0-59.5	Jt., Str. N l rough, planar	0 °E, dip 75 ° , discontinuou	W, 1/16" healed s	with	white material,
60.7-61.5	3 Jts., Str. material	N 10 °E, dip 7	5 °W, 1/32-1/16"	hea	led with white

Figure C1. Typical drill log

CLASSIFICATION LAPAT DATA WONDREAT: GEOMECHANICS CLABSIFICATION OF NOCK NASSES

															-1										-
	Î			2 \$1. \$ 07. 5	07/740/7				······,								95+20 to	egion 3.)		Ĩ		hic choot	wmhole	24
VITTS	Gat 2	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			91/1-1/1			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							stveen sta	Ified as R			alter manual		×	uata lor u ailable do	which be conside
ON OF DISCORTIN	Bet 1	,		/ W. S. Ak.	0T/T-0/T			×		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			···N·/ A			OR FOLDS	is area be	are classi			Cutor that long		APPLICAAL DAT	1 from ave	ar information (
LICHON		1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 0		▲ 0.01	0.01-0.1 10.											HAJOR FAULTS	ne in th	faults			tone alte v		L REMARKS AND	present. s obtaine	s region.
	200111002	Yery Jou: Lou: Medåum: High:	SEPARATION	Tight Joints:	Moderately open joints:	Nunge in t	ROUGHINESS	Very rough surfaces	Slightly rough surfaces:	Smoolh surfaces: Slickcnsided surfaces:	LITTIN (CONCE)		Thickness:	CODDIA CEDEN:			One known feult 20					orientations.	1	Random joints are are average values	photo logs of this The geologist should sup
NOCK TYPE AND ORIGIN	Shale		CONTINUITIES	·····	·····	·····			T ROCK MATERIAL	al compressive ength, pei	Over 32,000	00 - 32,000 ,,	00 - 16,000 (B.S.S.Mmed	00 - 8.000	50 - 4.000		et 3					3 11,5	NW VW	0 N to NE	
ROIDEN TOWNER	noSubregion 1(8 sta. <u>98+10-95+2</u> 0	Sta. Sta.	WILL FOUR OF DIS	Unvesthered	Slightly weathered	Koinrately veathured	Michly weathered	Completely weathered	STRENGTH OF INTAC	Uniari	Very high:	Nigh: 16,0	Hedium: B.C	Lov: 4,0	Very Jou:]	SET MULTIPS	Set 2					9 1.2-5.2 9.	ORLENTATIONS		
-k River Tunnel	rtford, Conn. <u>A. Ni</u> cholson		PE GIALITI R.Q.D.	90 - 1005	15 - 905	50 - 755 . 22. AVE.	25 - 505	20-90%	Reither States	.17.0. ملع/يدي			sopletely dry, damp, wet, der low, medium or hich			SPACING OF DISC	Set 1	1: Over 10 ft	3-10 ft	: 1-3 ft	2 in1 ft	rt) *2 in. 0.2-8.	65E STRIKE WID DIP	TWING (room . E. W to	595 (rrom . M.A.72 to
Los of project: Far	Site of survey: Hal Contucted by: G.	Prte.	05 711-2	becellent.	Se X	Fulc.	1 oor :	Yer, Ioor: Faije B.		INFLO- Sar 1000 Ft. of turnel length		20	TELEVIL CONDITIONS (ex	fressure):	PON			Yery vide	W14e:	Woderate	Close:	Very clai France (Ž	Get 2 Strike:	ver 3 Strike: . 🕅
			L						L							L	_								_

Figure C2. Data input worksheets, Subregion 1(a) (Sheet 1 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

Project Name: Park River Tunnel Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted By: G. A. Nicholson Date:	Structural Region: Si Sta. 98+10-95+20 Sta. Sta. Sta.	bregion 1(a)	
brata wash time. Shale	Joint spacing		Set No.
<u>Basic rock uppe</u> Igneous // Metamorphic // Sedimentary ///	Very closely jointed Closely jointed:	: < 2 in. 2-6 in.	
Hardness	Moderately jointed: Moderate to blocky:	6 in 1 1-2 ft	וכוב וכוב וכוב
Hard // Medium /// Soit // Decomposed ///	Blocky to massive: Massive:	2-4 ft > 4 ft	
Geological structure	Range in ft:		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Massive // Slightly faulted or folded ///	<u>Joint orientation</u> Strike w.r.t. magnet	ic north	Set 1 Set 2 Set 3 N65F. F-W. N20F.
Moderately faulted or folded // Intensely faulted or folded //	Strike 1 to tunnel a Strike to tunnel	xis exis	<u>[]</u> Set No. <u>3</u> [] Set No. <u>1 & 2</u>
Water inflow per 1000 ft of tunnel 	Dip orientation <u>1</u> Dip: 0-20 deg <u>[]</u> 20-50 deg <u>[]</u>		
Tight or cemented $\Box \Box \Box \Box \Box \Delta \Box$ Slightly vesthered or altered $\Box \Box \Box \Box$ \Box \Box $t_{\rm hi}$ $t_{\rm hi}$ this for the severely vesthered, altered or open $\Box \Box \Box$ $t_{\rm hi}$ $t_{\rm hi}$	50-90 deg <u>//</u> Direction: <u>NW</u> Tunnel drive: with nnel part of agair is region.	L/ L/ N-NE-NE dip <u>k/</u> 1st dip <u>L/</u>	ith respect to prominent joint et No. 1 and also set No. 3

Figure C2 (Sheet 2 of 3)

C7

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project Name: Park River Tunnel

Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn.

Structural Region: Subregion 1(a)

Sta. 98+10-95+20

Sta._____

Sta.______

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD	Ħ	55	%
Range =			20-90	7

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

Rough or irregular	\boldsymbol{V}
Smooth	
Slickensided	
Undulating	
Planar	
Not continuous	T_
Wall rock contact	
No wall contact	T

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly heale	ed joint	s		
Unaltered, st	taining	onl	-Y	7
Slightly alte	ered	_		\mathbb{V}
Silty or sand	iy coati	ings	3	
Clay coatings	s			
Sand or crush	ned rock	(fi	lling	
Stiff clay	<5mm		>5mm	
Soft clay	∽mm .		>5mm	
Swelling clay	<5mm		>5mm	

Conducted by: G. A. Nicholson

Date:___

Rock Type: Shale

JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	
No. of joint sets present	3
Additional random joints exist	yes
Rock heavily fractured	Γ
Crushed rock	Γ_

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow	
Medium inflow	\mathbf{V}
Large inflow, unfilled joints	
Large inflow, filling washed out	
Exceptional transient inflow	
Exceptional continuous inflow	
Approx. water pressure: 40 lb/sq	in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	1
High stress: $\sigma_c / \sigma_1 = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	
Shear zones	
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
$v_{\text{vert. N/A}}$ $v_{\text{horz. 132}}$	psi

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Tensile: N/A psi

Compressive: <u>8000</u> psi

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Average strike <u>E-W</u> Average dip <u>40</u> Dip direction <u>N to NE</u>

+ Set No. 2 has largest joint openings.

Figure C2 (Sheet 3 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION LAPUT DATA VORGHELT: ORDNECHMICS CLASSIFICATION OF NOCK MASSES

DITION OF DISCONTINUITIES	3et 1 6et 2 Set 3		18K	^{16.} 1/32-1/16 <u>1/78-1</u> /μξ	·····			LITS OF FOLKS	le fault zones in this area.	sta 95+25 to 94+75 and 57+00 to ult is at sta 90+30 to 89+90+.	ssified as Region 3. weifying their locality, nature, and	AND ANDUTICAML PATA t are average values obtained photo logs of this region. Random dition to set 1 & 2. Set 1 is ther information value to consider
CHOD	CONTINUTT	Very low: 4 3 ft Lov: 3-10 f Medium: 10-30 f	HIGh: > 30 F	Tieht Jointe: < 0.01 Moierstely open jointe: 0.01-0.1 : Open jointe: 0.1-0.5 il Range in.:	ROUCHNESS Very Fough auffaces:	rough auracea. Sildhly rough auracea: Saoolh auracea: Silchenaided auracea:	FILLAG (COUCE) Type: Thteknees: Consistency:	MAJOR FAU	Two known and one possibl	The known faults are at s 56+50 <u>+</u> . The possible fau	All major faults are clas beeribe asjor faults and folds spe orientations.	Input data for this sheet from available downhole p joints are present in add the predominant set
ETHUCTURAL RELIGIE	sourceston 1(0) sue 91+70-90+25 Shale and/or	star. <u>89+85-88+3</u> d shale and sand- star. <u>82+50-57+1</u> d stone interbeds	VALL POTOL-SITILY	Unvesthered	Kighly weathered	STRENCT OF JUTACT ROCK MATFALL, Underlad compressive 14,700 elected, pai (max)	Very high: Over 32,000 Over 32,000 Nigh: 16,000 24,000 10,000 Medium: 8,000 16,000 320/01 32VE Low: 4,000 8,000 10,000 10,000	Scortwurths	1 Bat 2 Set 3		516-71.11 0 .112	е оптертитом <u>s</u> во . N5OE) рар:22
size of Fredect: Park River Tunnel	site of survey: <u>Hartiord</u> , Conn. contrete by: <u>G. A. Nic</u> holson	Date	ביונן כליב מאגונדר ח.פ.ם.	Excellent 90 - 1005	8001: 25 - 505 Ver, 1001: 235 Firze 8: 20-100%	CPPURERATES CPOURERATES CATACON CONTRACT CALLER CONTRACT CALLER C	er Timital Countions (completely dry, damp, vet, artiplis, or flouis: under low, medium or high pressure): inflow	spacing of Dis	1 385	Very vide: Over 10 m	Postanti 4-3 ft 1.1.1. Close: 2 ln1 ft 1.1.1. Terry close: 4 2 ln. 0.1121 Funce (ft) 0.1121	Set 3 Series
Eare of project: Parl	Site of europe. Har contucted by: G. A	bate	2-00 111-1	Kaselleet Good Fair:	Foor: Ver/ 20041	2702 + 1003 fb 21725+ per 1003 fb of 64204 langth	er 72.473.44 CD151712712 (compl arithing or floding under pressure): inflo			Very vide: Vide:	CLOSE CLOSE Tery close: Funde (ft	Cee 1 Strikes

Figure C3. Data input worksheets, Subregion 1(b) (Sheet 1 of 3)

C9

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

Structural Region: Subregion 1(b) Sta. 91+70-90+25 Sta. 89+85-58+30 Sta. 82+50-57+10 Sta. 56+60-31+10	Joint spacingSet No.Very closely jointed:< 2 in.Very closely jointed:< 2-6 in.Closely jointed:2-6 in.Moderately jointed:6 in 1 ftModerate to blocky:1-2 ftBlocky to massive:2-4 ft	Massive: > h ft $L L L L L L$ Range in ft: $0.1-1.4-$ Range in ft: 24.0 9.5 <u>Joint orientation</u> Set 1 Set 2 Set Strike L to tunnel axis L Set No. $\frac{1}{2}$ Strike to tunnel axis L Set No. $\frac{2}{2}$	Dip orientetion123Dip:0-20 deg $\overrightarrow{P'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ 20-50 deg $\overrightarrow{L'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ 50-90 deg $\overrightarrow{L'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ $\overrightarrow{L'}$ Direction:SE $\underline{M'}$ $\underline{-}$ Tunnel drive:vith dip $\underline{Z'}$ aggainst dip $\overline{A'}$
Project Name: Park River Tunrel Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted By: G. A. Nicholson Date:	Basic rock type:Shale Igneous // Metamorphic // Sedimentary // Hardness Hardness Hard // Medium // Soft //	Geological structure Geological structure Massive // Slightly faulted or folded // Moderately faulted or folded // Intensely faulted or folded //	Water inflow per 1000 ft of tunnel

Figure C3 (Sheet 2 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Tiejeee name. <u>Taik hiver Taimer</u>	Project	Name:	Park	River	Tunnel
--	---------	-------	------	-------	--------

Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn.

Structu	Region:Subregion 1(b)	

Sta.	91+70-90+25	
Sta.	89+85-88+30	
Sta.	82+50-57+10	
Sta.	56+60-31+10	

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD =	80	%
Range ≈		20-100	۶

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

IZ
IZ

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly healed joints							
Unaltered, staining only							
Slightly altered							
Silty or sand	ly coat:	ings	5				
Clay coatings	5						
Sand or crush	ned roch	(fi	illing				
Stiff clay	<5mm		>5mm				
Soft clay	<5mm		>5mm				
Swelling clay	<5mm		>5mm				

Conducted	by:_	G. A.	Nicholson	
-----------	------	-------	-----------	--

	Date:					
		shale	and/	or	shale	and
Rock	Type:	sandst	one	int	erbed:	S

JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	T
No. of joint sets present	2
Additional random joints exist	yes
Rock heavily fractured	\Box
Crushed rock	

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow	
Medium inflow	17
Large inflow, unfilled joints	1
Large inflow, filling washed out	
Exceptional transient inflow	Γ
Exceptional continuous inflow	
Approx. water pressure: 1b/sq	in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface		
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	1	In situ stress
High stress: $\sigma/\sigma_1 = 5-10$		measured
Weakness zones with clay		
Shear zones		
Squeezing rock		
Swelling rock		Í
Stress values if determined:	. _	
450 +		
Vert. 132 psi horz. N/A		

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Compressive: <u>8900</u> psi (avg)

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Aver	age	strike	<u>_N1OE</u>	Average	dip	22
Dip	dire	ction	SE			

Figure C3 (Sheet 3 of 3)

ULASSIFICATION LAPUT DATA NORRENTET . OLONDCHANICS CLASSIFICATION OF NOCK MASSES

CITIUNITY OF A CONTRUCT	CONTINUETT Set 1 Set 3	Very Jou: 4 3 ft	SEPARATION	Tight Jolate: 4 0.01 1/32-1/16 1/32-1/16	Range In.: Rouckings	Very rough nurfaces:	Slightly rough surfaces:	Gaeosth surfaces: Disckensided surfaces:	FILLING (COUCE) fractured	The: rock Thickness: 2": Consistency:		HALOR FALLAS OR FOLDS	Several small fracture zones were found in core lags.	Zones range from 2 in. to 1 ft thick & consist of frac-	range from N70E-N25W & 40NE to 40SE. Zones probably	occur between sta 16+00-13+50.	Describe endor faulte and folde specifying their locality, nature, act orientations	VIVI TYNOILIGIY GWY SNYMGY TYNGHID	Random joints are present.	The geologist should supply any further information which he considere retermin.
<u>k River Tunnel</u> <u>snucruku hyron</u> <u>mock Trpz AND ORIGIN</u> tford. Conn.	A. Nicholson sta. 23+10-7+10+ Shale with	sta interbedded sta sandstone	ALL ROCK OF DISCONTINUITIES	90 - 1005	50 - 756f.G. Ablerately verthered 25 - 505 Highly wethered 26 - 505 Completely verthered	30-100%	POJICEATER STRENCTH OF INTACT ROCK MATHALAL	gal ain .89D etc. uniarial compressive etc.	Very Migh: Drer 32,000	apletely <i>fry</i> . "anp. wet, Nigh: 16,000 - 32,000 der lov, medums 0,000 - 16,000 der lov. medums 0,000 - 16,000 Lov: 4,000 - 6,000 ?	Very low: 150 - 4,000	SPACING OF DISCONTINUITIES	Bet 1 Set 2 Set 3	: Orar 20 th	n e-t	2 In1 ft	rt) *2 44	N23E STRUCK AND DIP UNITATIONS 20 DIPETION	NHTE (rowNHQE. w. N60E)	(frem te) bip:
fisce of project: <u>Pa.</u> Site of eurey: Hal	Constructed by:	Pate:	10 111-2	Excellent Good	Fair: 500: Very : 001:	Ange S:		INFLOW FOR 1000 CE of burnel length	0r	SELEAL COUTTONS (C. CTTPING OF FLOVING W Frestre):				Yery vid.	Polerate:	Close:	Yery ciol Rade (Set 1 Strike:	Set 2 Strike:	Set 3 Strike:

Figure C4. Data input worksheets, Subregion 1(c) (Sheet 1 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

Structural Region: Subregion 1(c) Sta. 23+10-7+10+ Sta. Sta.	Joint spacing Set No. 1 2 3	Very closely jointed: < 2 in. $\Box \Box \Box \Box$ Closely jointed: 2-6 in. $\Box \Box \Box \Box$	Moderately jointed: 6 in 1 ft \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} Moderate to blocky: 1-2 ft \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} Blocky to massive: 2-4 ft \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D}	Massive: > 4 ft \overrightarrow{L} \overrightarrow{K} \overrightarrow{L} Range in ft: 1-2 2-13_	Joint orientationSet 1Set 2Set 3Strike w.r.t. magnetic northN??F.N!?FStrike 1 to tunnel axisStrike to tunnel axis	Dip orientation $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{2}$ $\frac{3}{2}$ Dip: 0-20 deg $\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{2}{1}$ $\frac{3}{1}$ 20-50 deg $\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{1}{1}$	20-90 geg レノレレレ Direction: SE SE Tunnel drive: with dip [] against dip []] & 2
Project Name: Park River Tunnel Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted By: G. A. Nicholson Date:	Basic rock type: bedded sandstone	Igneous <u>//</u> Metamorphic <u>//</u> Sedimentary <u>//</u>	<u>Hardness</u> Hard []/ Medium [] Soft []]	Decomposed <u>//</u> Geological structure	Massive $\angle /$ Slightly faulted or folded $\boxed{//}$ Moderately faulted or folded $\boxed{/}$ Intensely faulted or folded $\boxed{/}$	Water inflow per 1000 ft of tunnel 	Tight or cemented $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=1}^{2} \bigcup_{n=1}^{3} \bigcup_{n=1}^{3}$ Slightly weathered or altered $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_$

Figure C4 (Sheet 2 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project Name: Park River Tunnel_____ Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn._____

Structural Region: Subregion 1(c)

Sta. 23+10-7+10+

O +	
Sta	_
Sta.	
Sta.	-

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD	=	72	1
Range =			30-100	1

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

	_
Rough or irregular	\mathbf{V}
Smooth	
Slickensided	
Undulating	Γ.
Planar	17
Not continuous	
Wall rock contact	
No wall contact	

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly healed joints			7
Unaltered, st	aining	only	7
Slightly alte	red		
Silty or sand	y coati	ngs	
Clay coatings			
Sand or crush	ed rock	filling	
Stiff clay	<5mm	>5mm	
Soft clay	∽ <u>m</u>	>5mm	
Swelling clay	<5mm	>5mm	

Conducted by: G. A. Nicholson

Date:_____

Rock Type:_____

JOINT SETS

2
es

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow]
Medium inflow		\mathbf{V}
Large inflow, unfilled joint	s	
Large inflow, filling washed	out_	
Exceptional transient inflow		
Exceptional continuous inflo	w	
Approx. water pressure:	50 1b/sq	in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/q = 10-200$	1
High stress: $\sigma_c/\sigma_1 = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	
Shear zones	
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
450 +	Í
vert. 132 psi horz. N/A	

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Compressive: <u>4000-8000</u> psi (assumed)

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Avei	rage	strike .	N23E	Average	dip	20
Dip	dire	ection	SE			

Figure C4 (Sheet 3 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION LIPPT DATA VORUSHEET: "EDUECHANICS CLASSIFICATION OF NOCK MASSES

...... E 19 consists of a known major fault. All major faults The west end boundary (sta 94+70) of this region Describe major faults and folds specifying their locality, nature, and orientations. The geologist should supply any further information which he cousiders relevant. 1/32-1/16 / ***** Set 2 CONDITION OF DISCONTINUITIES * 0.01 0.01-0.1 10. (1/4-1/8) 0.1-0.5 10. (1/4-1/8) CENERAL REVANKS AND APPLITIONAL PATA ~,^ N/A Set 1 Random joints are present. are classified as Region 3. Yery rough surfaces: Rough surfaces: Slightly rough aurfaces: Saoth surfaces: Slickensided surfaces: Tight Jointe: Moderately open join.s: O Open jointe: Range in.: VILLING (DOUGE) Type: Thichness: Consistency: Very low: CONTINUETY Lov: Hedium: High: **SEPARATION** NOUCHNESS U-NW. ROCK TYPE AND ORIGIN .SV. 16,000 - 32,000 8,000 - 16,000 · · · · · · 4,000 - 8,000 Over 32,000 Slightly weatheredK.....K Moving the set of the Unveathered Highly wuthered Completely weathered Basalt STHENGTH OF INTACT ROCK MATERIAL Uniaxial compressive strength, pol WALL ROCK OF DISCONTINUITIES 150 - 4,000 ****** D1P:Á5.... w.p:70.... D1p: Set 3 **P0.** 2 sta.<u>94+70-91+7</u>0 sta.<u>88+30-82+5</u>0 STRUCTURM, RECION 0.3-8.2 / Set 2 Very high: (rrom . NLOW .. to . N30W ..) STRIKE AND DIP ONLERTATIONS (from . N-S.... to . N20E...) (from to) Yery Jou: SPACING OF DISCONTINUITIES Heddum: Lov: Sta. Kigh: Sta. , ' , 0.4-3.5 Set 1 90 - 1005 . 91. AYE. 15 - 905 60-100% 50 - 755 25 - 505 Jaural Collina (contretaly dry, damp, wet, drupte an flowing under low, medium an high pressure): Are of project: Park River Tunnel site of europy: Hartford, Conn. Contucted by: G. A. Nicholson Over 10 R 2 in.-1 ft DALL CORE COMMENT R.Q.D. 2-10 2 4 2 £n. 1-3 2 CPOJRID'ATER SURINE ... NLOF ... Stride: Frace (ft) Very close: fery vide: Voderate: Close: V1de: LIFL'S FER 1003 FC Yer/ : 001: Lacelleat Rucce S: Die: 3et 1 Set 2 Set 2 Falc Foor ž

Figure C5. Data input worksheets, Region 2 (Sheet 1 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

	Set No.	
Structural Region: 2 Sta. 94+70-91+70 Sta. 88+30-82+50 Sta. Sta.	Joint spacing Very closely jointed: < 2 in. Closely jointed: < 2 in. Moderately jointed: 6 in Moderate to blocky: 1-2 ft Blocky to massive: 2-4 ft Massive: 2-4 ft Strike [] to tunnel axis Strike [] to tunnel axis Strike [] to tunnel axis Strike [] to tunnel axis Dip orientation 20-50 deg [] [] [] [] [] [] Direction: W-MM SW Massive: 20-50 deg [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	
Project Name: Park River Tunnel Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted By: G. A. Nicholson Date:	Basic rock type:Basalt Igneous [] Metamorphic [] Igneous [] Metamorphic [] Sedimentary [] Basive [] Decomposed [] Decomposed [] Decomposed [] Decomposed [] Massive [] Slightly faulted or folded [] Moderately faulted or folded [] Moderately faulted or folded [] Intensely faulted or folded [] Moderately faulted or folded [] Intensely faulted or funnel Intented Inth condition Joint condition Set No. Set No.	

Figure C5 (Sheet 2 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project	Name:_	Park River	Tunnel	
		Hantford	Conn	

Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn.

Structural Region: 2

Sta.	24+70-91+70	
Sta.	88+30-82+50	
Sta.		
Sta.		

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD =	90	%
Range =		60-100	_%

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

Rough or irregular	7
Smooth	
Slickensided	
Undulating	
Planar	
Not continuous	
Wall rock contact	
No wall contact	

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly heale	d joint	S	
Unaltered, st	aining	only	\mathbf{I}
Slightly alte	red		
Silty or sand	ly coati	ings	
Clay coatings	5		
Sand or crush	ed roch	filling	
Stiff clay	<5mm	>5mm	
Soft clay	∽mm	>5mm	
Swelling clay	<5mm	>5mm	

Conducted	Ъу∶	G. A.	Nicholson
-----------	-----	-------	-----------

Date:_____ Rock Type:<u>Basalt</u>_____

JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	
No. of joint sets present	2
Additional random joints exist	yes
Rock heavily fractured	
Crushed rock	Ι

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow	
Medium inflow	
Large inflow, unfilled joints	
Large inflow, filling washed out	
Exceptional transient inflow	
Exceptional continuous inflow	
Approx. water pressure: 50 lt	/sq in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	1
High stress: $\sigma_c/\sigma_1 = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	Ι
Shear zones	
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
450 +	
gert 132 psi Gorz N/A	

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Tensile: N/A psi Compressive:10,000+ psi

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Average strike <u>N10E</u> Average dip <u>65</u>

Dip direction ________

Figure C5 (Sheet 3 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION LIPPUT DATA VONGATERI. ORONCOMMICS CLASSIFICATION OF NOCK MASSES

							_	-		<u> </u>			_			
INITIS	Set 2 Bet 3					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	rock. & black.material				selity, nature, eri		s.	which he considers
LION OF DISCORT	Bet 1	~							Crushed		S OR FOLDS		ifying their lo	D APPLITOWAL D	ault zone	her information
CONDI		2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014		 < 0.01 0.01-0.1 1s 0.1-0.5 1s. 							NAJOR FAULT		å folds spec	L REMARKS AN	ts of f	ITW Yan Via
	200171002	Yery Lov: Lov: Medium: Alegi	SEPARATION	Tight Jolate: Nouereely open Jolate: Oyun Jolate: Nange in.:	ROUCHRESS Very rough surfaces:	Rough surfaces: Blightly rough surfaces:	Sacoth surfaces: Slickensided surfaces:	LITTING (CONCE)	Type: Thickness: Consistency:				Describe pajor faults and orientations.	CENERAL	This region consis	The geologist should supp relevant.
NOCK TYPE AND ONIOIN	basalt-sh inter-	face and sh and/ or ss/sh inter- beds.	ISCONTINUTIES			ACT ROCK MATTRIAL	xial compressive trength, pui	Over 32,000	.000 - 32,000 .000 - 26,000 841.0K .000 - 8,000	150 - 4.000	Bet J			DITTENT		
STRUCTVIML, RECTOR	sta. <u>95+20-94+7</u> (sta. <u>50425-8948</u> 5 sta. <u>57+10-56+6</u> 6	AALL ROCK OF L	Unvesthered Silghily vesthered Molarstely vesthered Michts unstand	()* Completely weathered	DATE OF HE DESCRIPTION	, ez	Ve. / high:	Nagh: Naghun: Lov: to	Very Jow:	<u>scortaurties</u> 1 Set 2		eet.)	P ORIENTATIONS	1	
liver Tunnel	Nicholson		14.JTT R.Q.D.	0 - 1005 5 - 905 0 - 755	- 25% (ave	TEL	140.0 A.		tely dry, damp, wet, lov, medium or high		SPACING OF DI	Over 10 fs	2 In1 ft	STRIKE AND PI	2 J	
of project: Park F	Cted L/: G. A.		5 2:00 111:1	1861. 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	; our: 5: 1	WID45	h fer 1000 ft imel length	9L	AL CONTINUS (completing or flowing under	Heavy		Yery vide: Vite: Moderate:	Close: Yery close: Rançe	strive: Bando	Strike:	
3	Centur	Pte		Eacel Cood Fair: Fair:	Yery Kerg		CTTES of the		arter Uras					1 19	Set 2	

* Average for faults at sta 95+20+ to 94+70+ and 57+10 to 56+60+ (FD-9T and FD-22T); respectively.

Figure Co. Data input worksheets, Region 3 (Sheet 1 of 3)

- N/A /<u>3</u>(est.) Set 3 [] Set No. . [] Set No. . Set 2 ••••• Set No. N/N Set 1 .N/A. 6 in. - 1 ft U N/A 2-6 in. < 2 in. 2-4 ft against dip /// > 4 ft 1-2 ft Strike w.r.t. magnetic north Tunnel drive: with dip Strike || to tunnel axis 1 Strike L to tunnel axis Very closely jointed: m 90+25-89+85 Moderately jointed: Moderete to blocky: 95+20-94+70 57+10-56+60 Structural Region: Blocky to massive: Joint orientation 3) Closely jointed: Dip orientation Figure C6 (Sheet 2 of Joint spacing Range in ft: Direction: Massive: Dip: Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. чÜ 00 Set No. 2 Severely weathered, altered or open \overline{KJ} Basalt-shale interface with Basic rock type sh and/or ss/sh interbeds -1 \Box Water inflow per 1000 ft of tunnel Moderately faulted or folded $\overline{/\ /}$ Project Name: Park River Tunnel G. A. Nicholson Intensely faulted or folded $\sqrt{7}$ Site of Survey: Harford, Conn. Hard 🗾 Medium 🕖 Soft 🗾 Slightly faulted or folded 🗾 Slightly weathered or altered Igneous 🗾 Metamorphic 🗾 Geological structure Tight or cemented Conducted By: Joint condition Sedimentary 17 Decompcsed 🗾 Massive [] Hardness Date:

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

C19

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project Name: Park River Tunnel

Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn.

Structural Region: 3

 Sta.
 95+20-94+70

 Sta.
 90+25-89+85

 Sta.
 57+10-56+60

 Sta.
 57+10-56+60

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD	=	17-28
Range =			1-35%

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

Rough or irregular	Ι
Smooth	
Slickensided	1
Undulating	
Planar	1
Not continuous	[
Wall rock contact	
No wall contact	

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly healed joints				
Unaltered, st	aining	only		
Slightly alte	ered			
Silty or sand	ly coati	ings	\mathbf{V}	
Clay coatings				
Sand or crushed rock filling				
Stiff clay	<5mm	>5mm	Γ_	
Soft clay	∽mm	>5mm		
Swelling clay	<5mm	>5mm	Γ.	

Conducted by: G. A. Nicholson

Date:_____ Rock Type:<u>Basalt interface and sh</u>

and/or ss/sh interbeds JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	
No. of joint sets present	
Additional random joints exist	
Rock heavily fractured	∇
Crushed rock	

WATER CONDITIONS

Dry or minor inflow	
Medium inflow	
Large inflow, unfilled joints	
Large inflow, filling washed out	$[\mathbf{Z}]$
Exceptional transient inflow	
Exceptional continuous inflow	
Approx. water pressure: 55 lb/sq	in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	
High stress: $\sigma_c/\sigma_1 = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	
Shear zones (fault zone)	\checkmark
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
vert. d horz.	_

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Tensile: <u>N/A</u> psi Compressive: <u>8.4-10K</u> psi

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Average strike <u>N/A</u>. Average dip <u>N/A</u> Dip direction <u>N/A</u>

Figure C6 (Sheet 3 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION LAPAT DATA VORCENTET: ODDNECKATICS CLASSIFICATION OF NOCK MASSES

conditions presented in DM-9. Available borehole data does not support the severity of conditions reported. The secondate about auppy any further information which he considera This region is representive of the worst average rock * 0.01 0.01-0.1 in. 1/32=1/16 1/32=1/16..... 54.3 Describe major faults and folds specifying their locality, nature, and orientations. N/A Set 2 CONDITION OF DISCONTINUITIES OPTERAL ADVANCE AND APPLITIONAL PATA N/A Bet 1 MAJOR FAULTS OR FOLDS Very rough aurfagaa: Rough aurfagaa: Blightly rough aurfagas: Saobin aurfagas: Slickonaided aurfagas: Tight Joints: Moderately open joints: O Open joints: Range in.: FILLING (GOUCK) Type: Thickness: Consistency: Very lov: Medåum: Hågh: SEPARTION TIUNITHOS NOUCHNESS N/A ë NOCK TYPE AND CRICIN ••••• 16,000 - 32,000 . 8300 8,000 - 16,000 . 8300 10-207SE PLANTION 4,000 - 8,000 Over 32,000 interbedded Moderately vestiered Unveathered Slightly weathered Mighly weathered Completely wenthered Shale with sandstone. STRENGTH OF INTACT ROCK MATERIAL Uniaxial compressive strength, psi WALL ROCK OF DISCONTINUITIES 150 - 4,000 WN . 50-75. NW •••••• Dip: Set 3 86. 4 81a <u>31+10-23+1</u>0 STRUCTURAL RECION D1p: Bet 2 Very high: STRICE AND DIP ONIDITATIONS (real ... NJ. 2.E. to ... N. 3.2.E...) (real ... NGQE. to ... N. 9.5.E...) Yery lov: (from to) Hedium SPACING OF DISCONTINUTIES Sta. Sta. :HgtM ä Sta. N/A Set 1 25 - 305 40+DM.9 osupal Coloffons (completely dry, damp, web. dripping ar flovin; under low, medium or high presure}: 90 - 1005 < 255 Kase of project: Park River Tunnel 15 - 905 ------20-100% DOLL. ALM/LAD site of survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted by: G. A. Nicholson Over 10 ft 2 1--11 C PALL COPE QUALITY R. 9.D. 2 014 < 2 in. 1-1 C 50 - 755 GPOUNDUATER Surther ... NZ3E. Strike: Tery close: huse (ft) Very vide: Woderate: High Close: V14e: LITLC's per 1000 ft ö Yery peers Insilest. Aarije St йев 1 Бов 2 Бов 2 Бов 3 Foor: Dite Fate: X

Figure C7. Data input worksheets, Region 4 (Sheet 1 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WORKSHEET: RSR CONCEPT FOR TUNNEL SUPPORT

	set No. set No.	Set 1 Set 2 Set 3 N23E. N75W. N-5 // Set No. 2 // Set No. 2
Structural Region: 4 Sta. 31+10-23+10 Sta. Sta. Sta.	Joint spacing Very closely jointed: <2 in. Closely jointed: 2-6 in. Moderately jointed: 6 in Moderate to blocky: 1-2 ft Blocky to massive: 2-4 ft Massive: >4 ft Range in ft:	Joint orientationStrike w.r.t. magnetic northStrike to tunnel axisStrike to tunnel axisDip orientationDip: 0-20 deg \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} 20-50 deg \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} S0-90 deg \overrightarrow{D} \overrightarrow{D} Direction:SETunnel drive: with dipagainst dip
Project Name: Park River Tunnel Site of Survey: Hartford, Conn. Conducted By: G. A. Nicholson Date:	Basic rock type: shale w/interbedded sandstone Igneous // Metamorphic // Sedimentary // Hard // Medium // Soft // Decomposed //	Massive _/ Slightly faulted or folded _/ Intensely faulted or folded _/ Intensely faulted or folded _/ <u>Water inflow per 1000 ft of tunnel</u>

Figure C7 (Sheet 2 of 3)

CLASSIFICATION INPUT DATA WOPKSHEET

Q-SYSTEM

Project Name:	Park	River	Tunnel	
Site of Survey	: <u>Hart</u>	ford,	Conn.	
Structural Reg	ion:_	4		
Sta. <u>31+10-2</u>	3+10			
Sta				
Sta				
Sta				

ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION

Average	RQD	=	<u>40</u> %
Range =			20-100

ROUGHNESS OF JOINTS

Rough or irregular	$\overline{\mathbf{L}}$
Smooth	
Slickensided	
Undulating	
Planar	
Not continuous	
Wall rock contact	
No wall contact	

FILLING AND WALL ALTERATION

Tightly heale	d joint	s	∇
Unaltered, st	aining	only	V
Slightly alte	ered		1
Silty or sand	ly coati	ngs	I
Clay coating	3		
Sand or crush	ned rock	fillin	z İ
Stiff clay	<5mm	>5m	n
Soft clay	<5mm	>5m	n [
Swelling clay	<5mm	>5m	n

Conducted by: G. A. Nicholson

Date: _____

Rock Type: Shale with interbedded sandstone

JOINT SETS

Massive rock, no or few joints	
No. of joint sets present	2
Additional random joints exist	V.
Rock heavily fractured	
Crushed rock	Τ

WATER CONDITIONS

\mathbf{V}
Ι
in.

STRESS CONDITIONS

Low stress, near surface	
Med. stress: $\sigma/\sigma = 10-200$	1
High stress: $\sigma_c / \sigma_l = 5-10$	
Weakness zones with clay	
Shear zones	
Squeezing rock	
Swelling rock	
Stress values if determined:	
$vert.$ N/A σ $132 p$	si

GENERAL

Uniaxial strength of rock material

Strike and dip orientation of the weakest joints

Average strike <u>N23E</u> Average dip <u>15</u> Dip direction <u>SE</u>

Figure C7 (Sheet 3 of 3)

APPENDIX D: RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE USE OF ROCK MASS CLASSIFICATIONS FOR TUNNEL DESIGN (1979-1984) "Imagination is more important than knowledge." Albert Einstein

Introduction

1. In the last five years, rock mass classifications have established themselves as a valuable tool for engineers and geologists for assessing the quality of rock masses for engineering purposes^{1,2*}. They have received increasing attention in the field of civil engineering as well as in mining and have been applied in many countries to different engineering problems^{3,4,5}. In addition to providing guidelines for rock support requirements in tunnels and mines, rock mass classifications have been extended to estimate rock mass deformability as well as the strength of rock masses.^{6,7}

2. A significant recognition of the importance of rock classifications is found in Europe, where tunnel construction contracts in Austria incorporate a rock mass classification as a basis for payment in accordance with standard contract documents. Moreover, special committees were appointed to study rock mass classifications. On the international scene, the International Society for Rock Mechanics (ISRM) and the International Association of Engineering Geology (IAEG) have each established a commission on rock classification. In the United States, the Transportation Research Board (TRB) Committee on Exploration and Classification of Earth Materials has the responsibility of application, evaluation, and correlation of existing earth-materials classifications and the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Committee D-18 has been charged with developing a set of rock-classification standards.

3. The purpose of this appendix is to update the state of the art on rock mass classification systems as used for the design and construction of tunnels in rock. This appendix is accompanied by an up-to-date list of references.

^{*} See appropriate footnote reference number at end of Appendix D.

4. Two rock mass classifications systems have emerged as dominant in recent years, namely the Geomechanics Classification (RMR System) and the Q-System. Many papers have been written comparing these classifications and applying them to various areas of rock engineering⁸. Accordingly, much of the present review will be devoted to updating the developments concerning these two classification systems.

5. A logical approach to discussing the developments concerning rock mass classifications is to consider the following headings: (1) input data, (2) rock support requirements, (3) influence of stress field, (4) rock mass deformability, (5) strength of rock masses, and (6) emerging new applications.

Provision of Input Data

6. Reliable input data continue to be crucial to the successful use of any rock mass classification system. Special input data sheets such as those presented for each of the three classification systems in Appendix B of this report are particularly useful. This is so because even if a comprehensive geological report has been prepared for a construction site, use of the classification systems will be greatly facilitated if the geological input data is arranged in a convenient form compatible with a given rock classification system.

7. In this connection, special reference should also be made to US Army Corps of Engineers document ETL 1110-283 dated 31 May 1983 which gives guidance on the use of rock mass classifications for tunnel support and depicts the recommended input data sheets for use with the rock mass classification systems.

8. A trend has emerged to collect engineering geological parameters for rock mass classification purposes on the basis of borehole data alone without the need for investigations in adits or pilot tunnels. As a result of the availability of more advanced coring techniques such as directional drilling and oriented core sampling as well as both borehole and core logging procedures⁷, rock mass classifications can be performed on the basis of the input data from boreholes.

9. Figure Dl shows the results of a recent study by Cameron-Clarke and Budavari⁸ featuring a comparison of the RMR values obtained from borehole core and from in situ mapping. It was concluded that borehole data tend to underestimate somewhat the in situ values. In fact, using the RMR system or the Q-System there was an 82 percent probability of a borehole classification of a rock mass being correct.

10. In a recent paper, De Vallejo⁹ presented an approach to tunnel site characterization based on the RMR for determining rock mass rating values based on geological explorations from the surface. This research aimed to establish applicability of surface data to tunnel depths. Modifications to some RMR parameters have been introduced and applied to civil and mining underground excavations in Spain. The approach was recommended for preliminary investigations and some findings are depicted in Figure D2.

Support Guidelines

11. Recommendations for support measures to be used in connection with rock mass classification systems have not changed during the past five years and the support charts given in this report are still applicable.

12. A useful new development was presentation of simplified design guidelines by Hoek¹⁰ giving approximate relationship between excavation stability, maximum compressive boundary stress, and rock mass quality in terms of RMR and Q-values. This is depicted in Figure D3.

13. New comprehensive support guidelines have been prepared for use in metal mining featuring modified RMR values from the Geomechanics Classification. The interested reader is referred to a publication by Kendorski et $a1.^{11}$ (1983).



Figure D1. Comparison of Geomechanics Classification rock mass rating RMR obtained from borehole core (BC) and from in situ mapping (INS) (after Cameron Clark and Budavari⁸)



Figure D2. Differences in rock mass rating RMR predicted from surface exploration and encountered during tunnel construction (after De Vallejo⁹)



Figure D3. Approximate relationship between excavation stability rock mass quality and maximum compressive boundary stress (after Hoek¹⁰).

Influence of Stress Field

14. A considerable amount of research has been devoted to adapting rock mass classifications for use at greater depths and in changing stress conditions. This is particularly applicable in deep level mining and this research was directed to applications involving block caving mines¹¹. This research is relevant to tunneling featuring the influence of adjacent excavations as well as changing stress conditions such as may be encountered in civil engineering involving varying applied loads.

15. A simplified chart featuring additional adjustments appropriate to the Geomechanics Classification, is depicted in Figure D4. A more detailed rock mass classification procedure based on RMR values has been developed¹¹ which enables the planner or the mine operator to arrive at rock mass quality and support recommendations for production drifts in block caving mines. The



Figure D4. Adjustments to the Geomechanics Classification

procedure involves adjusting RMR values for mining purposes and then estimating support requirements for development and production drifts. The procedure is diagrammatically depicted in Figure D5. This system, known as the Modified Basic RMR system or MBR in short, is based on experience gained in an in-depth field study at several block caving mines in the United States.

Strength of Rock Masses

16. Rock mass classifications recently became useful for estimating the in situ strength of rock masses. Hoek and Brown¹² proposed an empirical failure criterion for the strength of rock masses as opposed to the strength of rock materials. Their criterion is as follows:

$$\frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_c} = \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_c} + \left(\frac{m\sigma_3}{\sigma_c} + s\right)^{1/2}$$

where σ_1 is the major principal stress at failure σ_3 is the minor principal stress σ_c is the uniaxial compressive strength of rock m and s are constants which depend upon the properties of the rock and the extent to which it has been fractured by being subjected to σ_1 and σ_3 .

17. For intact rock, $m = m_i$ which is determined from a fit of the above equation to triaxial test data from laboratory specimens, taking s = 1 for rock material. Using sandstone as an example, the Hoek-Brown criterion for s = 1 is depicted in Figure D6.

18. For rock masses, Hoek and Brown¹³ and Priest and Brown¹⁴ recommended relationships between m and s and the value of Bieniawski's RMR. These original relations between m and s and RMR were based on a small number of data points and were not well defined. Brown and Hoek¹⁵ have since determined that the original relationships gave low values of rock mass strength due to the fact that laboratory test specimens from which they were derived were disturbed. Thus, the original relationships were considered suitable for use








in estimating the peak strengths of disturbed rock masses such as these on the boundaries of slopes and underground excavations that have been loosened by poor blasting practice and those in embankments or waste dumps. Brown and Hoek¹⁵ suggest a slight modification to Priest and Brown's¹⁴ recommendations and, for disturbed rock mass, suggested the following expressions:

$$\frac{\mathbf{m}}{\mathbf{m}_{i}} = \exp \left(\frac{\mathbf{RMR} \cdot 100}{14}\right)$$
$$\mathbf{s} = \exp \left(\frac{\mathbf{RMR} \cdot 100}{6}\right)$$

19. When mechanical excavation, perimeter blasting techniques, or, in some cases, normal good blasting practice are used, the rock mass may be left essentially undisturbed. Back-calculation of the rock mass strengths developed in a number of these cases suggests that the m and s values corresponding to peak strengths of undisturbed or interlocked rock masses may be estimated by the following expressions:

$$\frac{m}{m_{i}} = \exp \left(\frac{RMR - 100}{28}\right)$$
$$s = \exp \left(\frac{RMR - 100}{9}\right)$$

Hoek and Brown¹⁶ has compiled a list of approxim**te** m and s values for both disturbed and undisturbed rock masses as reproduced in Table D1. The upper m and s values for each rock mass category refers to disturbed rock mass while the lower refers to undisturbed rock mass.

Shear Strength of Discontinuities

20. Serafim and Pereira¹⁷ utilized the Geomechanics Classification to estimate from RMR values both the shear strength of a rock material and the shear strength of discontinuities in rock. For this purpose, they used the ratings for point load strength and/or uniaxial compressive strength to estimate c and ϕ of the intact rock and utilized the "condition of discontinuities" together with the "groundwater" term to estimate the angle of friction of the discontinuities in rock masses. The roughest, unweathered joints in the dry state were given a ϕ value of 45°. Flowing water caused an effective reduction of 8° on ϕ and gouge-filled discontinuities had values of $\phi = 10^\circ$. In general, this approach was considered as realistic by Barton and as a useful addition to the RMR-System. 21. Estimates of the shear strength of rock material and of discontinuities, as presented by Serafim and Pereira¹⁷, are reproduced in Tables D2 and D3.

22. An alternative approach was also provided by Barton³ who mentioned that after the Q-System was developed, it was discovered by chance that the arctangent of (J_r/J_a) gave a surprisingly realistic estimate of the shear strength, namely:

friction angle =
$$\tan^{-1}(J_r/J_a)^\circ$$

It was suggested³ that one can base the design on peak shear strength in the case of unfilled rough joints but only on residual strength in the case of clay-filled discontinuities.

Deformability of Rock Masses

23. New research has been conducted into estimating rock mass deformability by means of rock mass classifications. Previous work⁴ featured a correlation between the modulus of deformation and the rock mass rating RMR from the Geomechanics Classification. The data presented included better quality rock masses, namely, having RMR > 50. Recently, Serafim and Pereira¹⁷ provided correlations between RMR and poorer quality rock masses having RMR < 50. The complete correlation is given in Figure D7. Serafim and Pereira also proposed a new correlation as follows:

$$E_{m} = \frac{RMR - 100}{10^{40}}$$

This equation is plotted in Figure D8 together with the experimental data collected by Serafim and Pereira¹⁷.

24. In a recent paper, Barton³ compared methods of estimating modulus of deformation values from rock mass classifications. The mean values of deformation modulus as well as the range of modulus values were analyzed in terms of RMR and Q-values. He suggested the following approximation for estimating mean deformation moduli:



Figure D7. Correlation between the in situ modulus of deformation and the Geomechanics Classification rock mass rating (RMR)



Figure D8. Representation by Serafim and Pereira¹⁷ of the relationship between $E_{\rm m}$ and RMR

$E_{mean} = 25 \log Q$

An upper-bound and lower-bound to the measured data were given by:

 $\begin{array}{rcl} E_{min} &=& 10 & \log & Q \\ E_{max} &=& 40 & \log & Q \end{array}$

Estimating Tunnel Convergence from Rock Mass Rating

25. Moreno-Tallon¹⁸ provided interesting information on the relationship between convergence deformations and rock mass rating RMR for tunnels, based on a case history in Spain. This concept is illustrated in Figure D9 which shows the tunnel deformations as a function of time and rock mass rating RMR, with support and depth being considered constant. A relationship was also shown to exist between rock-bolt behavior and RMR values. It has been suggested that development of a "general convergence equation" should be attempted, incorporating the four main variables: time, rock mass rating RMR, support and state of stress. This represents a new field of application for rock mass classifications.

26. In an independent study, Unal¹⁹ showed the RMR system to be applicable for estimating the actual convergence of coal mine tunnels as a function of time. In essence, he proposed an integrated approach to roof with roof span, support pressure, time, and deformation. This is diagrammatically presented in Figure D10.

General Remarks

27. One of the useful developments in the past five years was the selection of the ratings for the various classification parameters from graphs¹¹ giving the relationship between this parameter and its value as shown in Figure 211. Problems previously arose as to what rating should be selected if a given parameter value was on the borderline between two ranges of data.

28. It also became apparent that while the parameter RQD and the parameter discontinuity spacing were justified to appear separately in a classification system, there existed a correlation between the two. A number



Figure D9. Diagrammatical representation of tunnel convergence observations with RMR and time (after Moreno Tallon¹⁸)





Figure Dll. Ratings for intact rock strength and discontinuity density. The stippled area allows latitude in assigning ratings where biased test results from point-load testing are suspected (after Kendorski et al.¹¹)

of studies were conducted, notably by Priest and Hudson²⁰, in which a relationship between RQD and discontinuity spacing was derived. Based on this development, ratings were allocated for RQD and discontinuity spacing for use with the Geomechanics Classification as shown in Figure D12. This figure is particularly useful when one of the two parameters is not available and an estimate is needed of the corresponding parameter. There are situations when core is not available from boreholes yet discontinuity spacing is available from tunnel mapping. On the other hand, RQD values may be available from surface drilling and can be used to estimate discontinuity spacing at tunnel depth.

29. Finally, it became apparent that no matter which classification system is used, the very process of rock mass classification enables the designer to gain a better understanding of the influence of the various geologic parameters in the overall rock mass behavior and, hence, gain a better appreciation of all the factors involved in the engineering problem. This leads to better engineering judgment. Consequently, it does not really matter that there is no general agreement on which rock classification system is best; it is better to try two or more systems and, through a parametric study, obtain a better "feel" for the rock mass. It has emerged that the most popular rock mass classification systems are the RMR System (Geomechanics Classification) and the Q-System. These two systems should, as a minimum, be used on tunneling projects for comparison purposes.

<u>Conclusions</u>

30. There were substantial developments concerning rock mass classification systems in the past five years. These developments have pointed out the usefulness of rock mass classifications and the benefits that can be derived by their use. It is obvious that further benefit from rock mass classifications can only be derived if more case histories are available for assessing the value of the classification systems as well as the benefits in terms of engineering design. It is recommended that rock classification systems are systematically used on tunneling projects, that at least two

D19



Figure D12. Correlation between RQD and discontinuity spacing (after Priest and Hudson 20) and the corresponding ratings

D20

systems are always selected for comparative purposes and that careful record is kept of their application during the construction of a tunnel.

31. Rock mass classifications should always be applied judiciously as an aid in design but not as a replacement for engineering design. The main value is in quantifying engineering geological descriptions of rock masses and estimating support requirements in the planning stage. Rock mass classifications are also useful for estimating the in situ strength of rock masses, modulus of rock mass deformation as well as cohesion and friction of rock masses. The emerging applications include development of relationships between tunnel convergence and time as functions of rock mass class.

32. A measure of the interest in rock mass classification is the fact that special sessions on rock mass classifications were organized in 1983 at two major international conferences, namely, the International Symposium on Engineering Geology and Underground Construction held in Lisbon, Portugal, and the Fifth International Congress on Rock Mechanics held in Melbourne, Australia. Eleven papers on the subject were presented at the Lisbon Symposium while 15 papers were delivered at the Melbourne Congress. These and other recent papers on rock mass classifications are given in the list of references.

D21

REFERENCES

- Abad, J., Celada, B., Chacon, E., Gutierrez, V. and Hildago, E. Application of Geomechanics Classification to Predict the Convergence of Coal Mine Gallaeries and to Designer Supports. <u>Proceedings, 5th</u> <u>International Congress of Rock Mechanics</u>, International Society for Rock Mechanics, Melbourne, Australia, April, 1983, pp. E15-E19.
- Baczynski, N. Rock Mass Characterization and Its Application to Assessment of Unsupported Underground Openings, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Melbourne, 1980, 233 p.
- Barton, N. Application of Q-System and Index Tests to Estimate Shear Strength and Deformability of Rock Masses. <u>Proceedings. International</u> <u>Symposium on Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, Laboratorio Nacional de Engenharia Civil, Lisbon, Portugal, September 1983, Vol. II, pp. II-51-II-70.
- Bieniawski, Z. T. Determining rock mass deformability: experience from case histories. <u>International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining</u> <u>Sciences</u>, Vol. 15, 1978, pp. 237-248.
- Bieniawski, Z. T. The Geomechanics Classification in rock engineering applications. <u>Proceedings, 4th International Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, International Society for Rock Mechanics, Montreux, A. A. Balkema, Rotterdam, 1979, Vol. 2, pp. 51-58.
- Bieniawski, Z. T. Rock mass classifications state of the art and need for standardization. <u>Transportation Research Record</u>, No. 783, Washington, DC, 1981, pp. 2-9.
- 7. Bieniawski, Z. T. <u>Rock Mechanics Design in Mining and Tunneling</u>, A. A. Balkema Publishers, Rotterdam/Boston, 1984, 272 p.
- Cameron-Clarke, I. S. and Budavari, S. Correlation of rock mass classification parameters obtained from borecore and in situ observations. <u>Engineering Geology</u>., Vol. 17, 1981, pp. 19-53.
- 9. De Vallejo, L. I. A New Rock Classification System for Underground Assessment Using Surface Data. <u>Proceedings. International Symposium on</u> <u>Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, Laboratorio Nacional De Engenharia Civil, Lisbon, Portugal, September 1983, Vol. I, pp. II-85-II-94.
- Hoek, E. Geotechnical design of large openings at depth. <u>Proceedings</u>. <u>Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference</u>, American Institute of Mining, Metallurgical, and Petroleum Engineers, New York, 1981, Vol. 2, pp. 1167-1185.
- 11. Kendorski, F. S., Cummings, R. A., Bieniawski, Z. T., and Skinner, E. H. Rock mass classification for block caving mine drift support. <u>Proceedings. 15th International Congress on Rock Mechanics</u>, International Society for Rock Mechanics, Melbourne, 1983, pp. B101-113.

- Hoek, E. and Brown, E. T. Empirical strength criterion for rock masses. Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol. 106, NO. GT9, September 1980, pp. 1013-1035.
- 13. Hoek, E. and Brown, E. T. <u>Underground Excavations in Rock</u>, Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, 1980, 527 p.
- Priest, S. D. and Brown, E. T. Probabilistic stability analysis of variable rock slopes. <u>Transactions of the Institute of Mining and</u> <u>Metallurgy</u>, London, Section A, Vol. 92, 1983, pp. 1-12.
- 15. Brown, E. T. and Hoek, E. "Determination of Shear Failure Envelope in Rock Masses, Discussion." <u>Journal of Geotechnical Engineering</u>, <u>American</u> <u>Society of Civil Engineers</u>, 1988, Vol. 114, No. 3, pp. 371-373.
- 16. Hoek, E. and Brown, E. T. A 1988 Update of the Hoek and Brown Failure Criterion. 1988 Canadian Rock Mechanics Symposium, In Publication.
- 17. Serafim, J. L. and Pereira, J. P. Considerations of the Geomechanics Classification of Bieniawski. <u>Proceedings. International Symposium on</u> <u>Engineering Geology and Underground Construction</u>, Laboratorio Nacional De Engenharia Civil, Lisbon, Portugal, 1983, pp. II-33-II-42.
- Moreno-Tallon, E. Comparison and application of geomechanics classification schemes in tunnel construction. <u>Proceedings</u>. <u>Tunneling '83 Conference</u>, Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, 1982, pp. 241-146.
- Unal, E. Design Guidelines and Roof Control Standards for Coal Mine Roofs. Ph.D. Thesis, The Pennsylvania State University, 1983, 355 p.
- Priest, S. D. and Hudson, J. A. Discontinuity spacing in rock. <u>International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences</u>, Vol. 13, 1979, pp. 135-198.

Table Dl

Approximate Relationship Between Material Constants, Rock Mass Quality, and Rock Types (from Hoek and Brown¹⁶)

APPROXIMATE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ROCK MASS QUALITY AND MATERIAL CONSTANTS Disturbed rock mass m & s values					
Emprireal failure criterion $\sigma_1 = \sigma_3 + (m\sigma_c\sigma_3 + s\sigma_c^2)^{1/2}$ $\sigma_1 = major principal stress$ $\sigma_3 = minor principal stress$ $\sigma_c = uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock and m, s are empirical constants$	CARBONATE ROCKS WITH WELL DEVELOPED CRYSTAL CLEAVAGE doomite, limestone and markle	LITHIFIED ARGILLACEOUS ROCKS mudstone, suitstane, shale and Mate (normal to dearage)	ARENACEOUS ROCKS WITH STRONG CRYSTALS AND POORLY DEVELOPED CRYSTAL CLEAVAGE sandsione and quartite	FINE GRAINED POLYMINERALLIC IGNEOUS CRYSTALLINE ROCKS andesite, dolerie, dabase and myodie	CUARSE GRAINED POLYMINERALLIC CAREOUS AND METAMORPHIC CRYSTALLINE ROCKS amphibolice Labbro, gness, granite, nonte and quarts-dionice
INTACT ROCK SAMPLES Laboratory size specimens free from discontinuities RMR = 100 Q = 500	m = 700 $s \approx 100$ m = 700 $s \approx 100$	$m = 10\ 00$ s = 1.00 $m = 10\ 00$ s = 1.00	$m \approx 15.00$ s = 1.00 m = 15.00 s = 1.00	m = 17.00 s = 1.00 m = 17.00 s = 1.00	m = 2500 s = 1.00 m = 25.00 s = 1.00
VERY GOOD QUALITY ROCK MASS Tightly mterlocking undisturbed rock with unweathered joints at 1 to Jm RMR = 85 Q = 100	m = 2.40 $s \approx 0.082$ m = 4.10 s = 0.189	m = 3 43 s = 0 082 m = 5.85 s = 0.189	m = 514 s = 0.082 m = 8.78 s = 0.189	m = 5.82 s = 0.082 m = 9.95 s = 0.189	m = 8.56 s = 0.082 m = 14.63 s = 0.189
GOOD QUALITY ROCK MASS Fresh to slightly weathered rock, slightly disturbed with joints at 1 to 3 m RMR = 65 Q = 10	m = 0.575 s = 0.00293 m = 2.006 s = 0.0205	m = 0.821 s = 0.00293 m = 2.865 s = 0.0205	m = 1.231 s = 0.00293 m = 4.298 s = 0.0205	m = 1.395 s = 0 00293 m = 4 871 s = 0.0205	m = 2.052 s = 0.00293 m = 7.163 s = 0.0205
FAIR QUALITY ROCK MASS Several sets of moderately weathered joints spaced at 03 to 1 m RMR = 44 Q = 1	m = 0.128 s = 0.00009 m = 0.947 s = 0.00198	m = 0.183 s = 0.00009 m = 1.353 s = 0.00198	m = 0.275 s = 0.00009 m = 2.030 s = 0.00198	m = 0.311 s = 0.00009 m = 2.301 s = 0.00198	m = 0 458 s = 0 00009 m = 3 383 s = 0.00198
POOR QUALITY ROCK MASS Numerous weathered joints at 30 to 500mm with some gouge Clean compacted waste rock RMR = 23 Q = 01	m = 0 029 s=0 000003 m = 0.447 s = 0 00019	m = 0.041 s=0.000003 m = 0.639 s = 0.00019	m = 0.061 s=0.000003 m = 0.959 s ≈ 0.00019	m = 0 069 s=0 000003 m = 1.087 s = 0 00019	m = 0.102 s=0 000003 m = 1.598 s = 0.00019
VERY POOR QUALITY ROCK MASS Numerous heavily weathered joints spaced at less than 50mm with goinge Waste rock with fines RMR = 3 Q = 001	m = 0 007 s=0 0000001 m = 0 219 s = 0 00002	m = 0 010 s=0 0000001 m = 0 313 s = 0 00002	m = 0.015 s=0.0000001 m = 0.469 $s \approx 0.00002$	m = 0.017 s=0.0000001 m = 0.532 s = 0.00002	m = 0 024 s=0 0000001 m = 0.782 s = 0 00002